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Paul Axelrod - in-Ch.
(Ms. Merritt)

Q. And what can you tell us about the reform of
schooling that occurred after this period in the 1960's?

A. Well, there was -- was considerable reform in
education in the sixties. And Ontario was actually in the
leading edge of that -- of that change in Canada. Elementary
education became more child centered. And this is a philosophy
elaborated in a report of the Provincial Committee on Aims and
Objectives of Education in the schools of .Ontario known as "The
Hall Dennis Report" for short, in the name of its co-chairs.
That was published in 1968 and that report suggested that --
that rather than students being all taught in exactly the same
way, and they required to take all of the same subjects all of
the time, that education be more oriented towards the individual
student. His or her abilities, interests and —-- and that it was
really the role of school to try'and cultivate that student
educationally using a variety of teaching techniques. The
teacher would be not simply an authority figure, but a kind of
mentor, facilitator in the classroom. And what's also important
is that there would be no corporal punishment or physical
discipline, of any kind, that would -- would be part of the —-
the pedagogy or the school's practices.

Q. All right. We'll come back to that issue in
just a moment. How did the introduction of the credit system
relate to these beliefs, if at all?

A. Well, the -- the credit system was an example
of schools being more oriented towards an individual child's
interest and abilities. So, it used to be that if you failed
one or two subjects in high school, you'd fail the whole year.
The credit system allowed you to take individual courses. They
were counted as credits, and then you would graduate when you
accumulated sufficient credits, so it wasn't an all or nothing

kind of approach to passing through high school.
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(Ms. Merritt)

As it applies to individuals, it was a time when
there was an increasing acknowledgment of differences among
students in terms of their abilities, their interests, their
orientation and their rights. And that, as I mentioned earlier,
was part of the emerging culture and standards of school.

So, private schools did have the right to be

alternative educational wvenues.

Q. All right. 1I'd like to ask you some
questions now about the mission of Grenville Christian College.
I don't know if it -- it helps Your Honour, but this is at page
5 of Dr. Axelrod's report. What can you tell us about Grenville
Christian College's educational philosophy?

A. Well, I think that there's actually less
about the educational philosophy of Grenville than there is
about its moral, religious, values. There's an awful lot of
stress on those aspects, and less on a, kind of, well thought
out, well rounded kind of educational philosophy that one might
expect to find, and one could find in other school statements,

Q. All right. 1I'd like to if I can turn your
attention to the joint exhibit book, Volume 3. This is Exhibit
9.

A. Yes.

Q. Could you turn, Doctor, to Tab 135. This is
a document dated March 27th, 1981 and it's entitled "How Do We
Here at Grenville Nurture Christian Values." I'm going to read
you a passage and then ask you if you can provide some comment.
The first passage is approximately the middle of the page, Jjust

above the area marked with an asterisk on my copy and it says:

We structure schedules so

teenagers are not forced into

Page 3 of 600
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situations where they would be
tempted. Students are allowed
to express their feelings and
let off steam so things don't
build to the explosion point and
the point of discouragement and
depression. The rules are not
rigid in the sense that there is

care behind them.

Can you comment on these philosophies?

A. I read that several times. I find these
comments to be vague and, kind of, confusing, and very unclear
as to how the goals expressed in each of those statements would
be realized.

Q. All right. Well, let's -- let's move along,
then. Moving down to the second highlighted portion, which is
sort of the third paragraph from the bottom. It says:

We start with the basics and
start at the inside and work
out. We start with an absolute
and every aspect of life is
molded by that standard. Social
pressure used to keep people
from doing things that were
wrong. Now, it encourages and
forces people to go against what

they morally believe is right.

Can you comment on that passage?

A, Well, the last sentence especially, it's a
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. Merritt)

mere assertion. It's a —— it's a kind of wvast unproven,

unsophisticated generalization

degree of control indicated by

about human behaviour. And the

the frequent use of the term

"absolute" throughout this document suggests, in my view, a

repressive. environment in which individuality is contained by

the assertive authority of the
Q. All right.

school.

Turning over the page now. About

six paragraphs down on page two it says:

We not only state rules, we also

enforce them and follow through.

There is commitment and concern

to enforce

standards,

consistency. Nothing is hidden

or swept under the rug or

overlooked.

These things are

brought into the open.

Can you comment
A. It looks to

on that passage?

me based on other things that

Page 5 of 600

I've read that this is a kind of euphemistic rationalization for

light sessions.
Q. All right.

just the next passage.

And moving down a little bit,

Most of these things parents

want to enforce, but they aren't

always with the teenagers

(weekends)

when they're with

their friends at school, et

cetera. Parents are also

adulterous,

threatened and lack
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That policy has not changed since the 1970's.
So, anything other than looking at the curriculum would not
likely come up in -- in a school inspection.

Q. Would you expect these Ministry of Education
inspections to undercover abuse of students?

A. No, they would not. The guestions wouldn't
be asked. The information, I don't think would be volunteered.
There wouldn't be any real opportunity for that to become
evidence.

Q. All right.

ey i

If I can, then, turn to the

TR

issues of Your

Honour these are covered in page 6 of the report. Can you tell

us, Doctor, was corporal punishment legal in Canadian schools

during the Class period from 1973 to 19972

ut in 2004 in the case Canadian Foundation for

Children, Youth and the Law v. Canada Attorney General, the
Court no longer allowed corporal punishment to be used in

schools. And, well, yes, that's the answer to the question.

Q. So, what —-- so what was the situation before
20047

A. So, before 2004 the —-- the Criminal Code
would have —-- I think it was s. 43 ——- would protect teachers and

other school authorities from criminal prosecution for
assaulting students through the following prescription and I'm

reading this.

Every school teacher, parent, ér

person standing in the place of
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Q. ...lawyer. And what does he have to say
about where the line is in terms of reasonable and unreasonable?

A. That's right, yes. Yes, Jeffrey Wilson as
you mentioned is a child advocate lawyer and author. And he,
his opinion punishment having looked at the law and various

cases of child abuse.

Punishment would be held to be
unreasonable where (1)
Punishment is administered to
the wrong part of the anatomy.
(2) There is a clear risk of
permanent injury. (3) There is
no evidence of defiance and
force is unnecessary to promote
obedience. (4) Punishment is
excessive and negligently
administered.

Q. All right. And would a teacher's motivation
be a factor to be considered in determining whether or not
punishment is appropriate?

A. Yes. Any punishment motivated "by
arbitrariness, caprice, anger, or bad humour constitutes an
offence punishable like ordinary offences." And I'm quoting
there, Ogmoss v. The Queen and this in 1984, and this is cited
in "Marvin A. Zuker, The Legal Context of Education", which was
published in 1988 and the page reference is '76, '77.

Q. Is corporal punishment, specifically,
provided for in the Education Act?

A. No, corporal punishment is not mentioned in
the Education Act in Ontario, it wasn't at the time. The

language on discipline was delivered this way, that it -- it
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said that it was kind of an idealist expression of in loco
parentis, which is a construct that signed authority to the ,
teacher to "stand in the place of the parent". And in the words
of the Act:

To practice such discipline as
would be exercised by a kind,

firm, and judicious parent.

And the Act gave boards of education the
responsibility for developing disciplinary practices for the
schools in their jurisdictions on the understanding that such
practices would be permissible in the context of the Canadian
Criminal Code and consistent with the provincial education
regulations.

Q. And did schools typically have guidelines
concerning the administration of corporal punishment?

A. Yes, they did. Schools had protocols that
were in —— used in the administration of corporal punishment in
terms of who would do the administration of the -- of the
discipline. Some argued that it should be only a means of
discipline as a last resort. And in Toronto, in particular, and
I've —— I've looked at that case in detail.

The Toronto Board of Education had a whole list
of specific requirements that had to be followed when corporal
punishment was administered. It could only be administered on
the open hand of the student by —— and the -- the only
instrument that could be used was a strap approved by the -- by
the Board; and it could only be done in the presence of another
teacher or the principal. There had to be two adults present.
Usually it was the principal, but it could be —-- it could be a

designated teacher.
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A. Right.

0. ...formally...

A. So, in...

Q. ...so in the seventies through fhe nineties?
A. ...in -- in 1968 the Hall Dennis report,

which I mentioned before, called for the abolition of corporal
punishment on the grounds that there was no educational
advantage in pain, failure, threats of punishment, or appeals to
fear. And Recommendation 29, in particular, called for the end
of corporal punishment and "other degrading forms of punishment
as a means of discipline in the school.”

Q. And that was what year?

A. That was 1968.

Q. All right.

A. And that was followed by a statement by the
Minister of Education, William Davis at the time, in the
legislative assembly of Ontario in which he supported this
recommendation to abolish corporal punishment, called upon
schools to refrain from using corporal punishment and to use
alternative means. The Department of Education then followed
this up with a letter that went to —— this in 1969 -- that went
to every school board and the principals of all private schools
in Ontario reiterating the Minister's position.

So, it encouraged educators to interpret the
longstanding regulation that students would submit to such —-- or
—— or schools would deliver such discipline as would be
exercised by a kind, firm and judicious parent in such a way as
to foster "an atmosphere of respect and trust between students
and teachers with the cultivation of individual responsibility
as a major goal." That was the government's position in
Ontario.

MS. MERRITT: Your Honour, I notice it's now
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Davis called upon the principals and teachers to refrain from
using corporal punishment in, in the schools, and the Department
of Education then sent out a letter including the principals of
the private schools, reiterating the Minister's position; and
that all happened in 1969. When was corporal punishment banned
by the Toronto Board of Education?

A, That was 1972.

Q. All right. And do you know when corporal
punishment was banned in private schools?

A. It was banned in Upper Canada College in
1972, and most private schools in Ontario ended the use of
corporal punishment by 1980. Grenville was an exception.

Q. What about the Jewish schools?

A. According to former director of the Jewish
Board of Education, they Jewish day schools had never used
corporal punishment.

Q. And, and moving on then, what alternative
approaches to corporal punishment were being offered, once it
was abolished in, in those various places?

A. Well, by the early 80's educators and, and
psychologists in, in the main were promoting approaching to
behavioral correction and classroom management that were
entirely free of physical discipline. Teacher candidates in
faculties of education were now learning effective instructional
and corrective strategies drawn from, you know, a growing
professional literature.

The Ontario Ministry of Education published a
behavioral, a behavior resource guide in 1986, which outlined a
variety of techniques designed both to prevent disruptive
behavior and facilitate effective learning. The Ministry
published another book called, Adolescence Development, which

explored the psychological and social development of youth and
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spirit assemblies; and

Eight, taking advantage of the
support or backup provided by
prefects or student council
members.

Q. What, if anything, did the guide recommend in
cases where the disruptive behavior was very severe?

A. The guide recommended the sanctions that were
the ultimate ones, suspension or, or expulsion from the schools.

Q. And what role, if any did corporal punishment
have, according to the guide?

A, Corporal punishment played no role at any
stage of the disciplinary process. And from, you know, really
from the 1970s to the 90s, this was the emerging standard in
Ontario schools.

Q. All right. Dr. Axelrod, I'm, I'm going to
summarize some of the evidence we've heard in this case for you,
and then ask your opinion. So, we've heard that between 1973
and 1980, Grenville student were beaten with a wooden paddle,
sometimes up to 10, 10 to 20 strokes with their pants down. At
least one student was paddled until he bled, and another until
he could no longer stand up. A couple of them said they had
welts or bruises for about one to two weeks., And we heard one
evidence from one student that after he was hit the first time,
the headmaster said to the teacher paddling him words to the
effect, common, Bob, you've got a bigger arm than that. v
Suggesting he hit the student harder. He got another six to
eight paddles after that, and the headmaster was looking
directly into his face and smiling, and appeared to be happy.
The student said that that teacher hitting him certainly didn'ﬁ
hold back. He had limping pain for the rest of the day and

bruises for a week or so after that.
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He also saw another student limping and inquired
about what had happened, and the student lowered his pants and,
and showed him yellow, purple, and dark blue bruises across his
buttocks. 1In your opinion, in those instances, did Grenville
meet the standard of care with réspect to corporal punishment?

A, I don't think it did. The, the act of simply
using a paddle would, would have been allowed. The act of using
a paddle and leading to the kinds of results that you've
described would be below the standard, given in light of, of
other, other experiences.

Q. All right. What if anything do Grenville's
publications say about corporal punishment?

A. I did not find any reference to corporal
punishment specifically. The code of behavior contended,
"Grenville College is not a school for young people who need
many rules backed by harsh sanctions." And in numerous
documents such as school handbooks related to rules, codes of
honour, behavioral regulations, there is no reference at all
specifically to the type of misconduct that lead to the use of
physical discipline for punishment.

Q. As far as you could see, doctor, were there
any formal administrative records kept about the administration
of corporal punishment?

A. Not that I could find.

Q. .All right. And why is record keeping
important with respect to corporal punishment?

A. Well, as I think I noted earlier, the normal
practice was for schools that used corporal punishment to keep
record books and it was about accountability in case questions
were raised, accusations were made about what actually happened,
the schools would at least be able to point to the incidents and

the punishments that students received. So, I, it was primarily

Page 12 of 600
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about accountability.

Q. All right. And what if students were slapped
or dragged out of bed or dragged into a room for a light session
or pushed up against a wall?

A, Well, these are forms of physical discipline
that could be categorized as assault, in, in, in my view, or at
least those kinds of questions and concerns could be raised, and
in a public sector, that could lead to either charges or, or
discipline the Ontario Teachers Federation.

Q. So leaving aside for a moment the question of
whether the conduct is criminal in nature and whether charges
could be laid, if teachers at Grenville dragged a child out of
bed or dragged him into a room physically or pushed him against
a wall or slapped them, would those various actions be meet the
standard of care?

\ A. No.

Q0. All right. And I'm, I'm just — this is a
little bit off topic here, but I wanted.to ask you, we've heard
some evidence or we'll hear some evidence in this case about
students being disciplined for conduct that occurred when they
were not at the school. In, in one case, a student had a
relationship with a girl in, in Europe while he was on a leave
of absence from the school, he had taken a semester off to live
with his parents abroad, and, and he was, he was disciplined for
his relationship with the girl during that time. What can you
tell us about the practice or whether that was a, a something
that you've seen before in terms of students being disciplined
for things that did not happen at school?

A, TIt's conceivable if a student were in the
community and being really disruptive and engaging in, you know,
violent activities, they might well be called to account in

schools. But the kind of incident you've described certainly
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would have exceeded the, the school's authority, and it would be
considered and intervention, and illegitimate intervention into
the private life of a, of a student.

Q. All right. And, and we've heard some
evidence about the practice of Father Charles Farnsworth taking
children to the boiler room to show them the boiler flames and,
and some reference to them going to hell. Would, would that
meet the standard of care?

A. No, it would not.

Q. All right. Overall, doctor, what can you
tell us with respect to your opinion with regard to the
disciplinary practices that I have described so far?

A. Well, it's, it's my opinion that even in the
context when corporal punishment was still legal in Ontario,
the, the manner in which paddling and other forms of physical
punishment were alleged meted out, would, would not have been
acceptable in, in normal educational venues. And in many cases,
would have been led to disciplinary treatment of teachers by the
discipline committee of the Ontario Teachers Federation. Even
if they were not ultimately found responsible, they, they, they
would likely have been called to account for those practices.

Q. All right. And I'd like to turn your
attention now, if I may, to manual work assignments. In, in
Exhibit 8, if we could have that, this is the 1994, 1995
information booklet. Do you have that?

A. Yes.

Q. All right. And if I could turn your
attention to - oh, I haven't got my page number, I apologize,
just a moment. Yes, page 5, the work program, would you just
read the first two paragraphs there.

A. Yes.
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Q. And what about the practice of when they were

put on discipline - and, and just so I can clarify what that
entail, the evidence - actually I'm going to come back to that,
I'm gonna come back to that in, in a moment, the, the
circumstances of science —- I want to turn first to healthcare.

A. All right.

Q. What was the obligation of schools with
respect to the physical health and emotional health and
well-being of students during the class period?

A. Well, to answer that question, I want to read
bit of a paper, a presentation delivered in 1990 by Professor
W.F. Foster, who defined child abuse, and this, this paper is
cited in a book by Wayne McKay and Lyle I. Sutherland called,
Teachers and the Law, a Practical Guide for Educators, published
in 1992, pages 107 to 108. And, and you can find similar
descriptions in other, other places. Child abuse fell into four

major categories:

First, physical abuse [and I am
quoting] which included any
physical force or action which
results in or'may petentially
result in a non-accidental

injury to a child and which
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then ask your opinion. We've heard evidence that a Father

Farnsworth taught that i

we're going to hear some evidence of one student who had a cold
and was told to pray and not go to the infirmary, and I expect
that we're going to hear some evidence from another student who
had an asthmatic reaction to chemical used in cleaning in the
kitchen and was told to, to wear a mask, and, and a fan was
brought in, but basically told to soldier on. What is your
opinion with respect to whether these teachings and approaches
regarding healthcare meet the standard of care?

A, I don't - I think that they did not meet the
standard of, of care. It appears from the evidence students
physical and other health needs in many cases were not only
unreported and untreated, their injuries were compounded by the
actions or inactions of, of school authorities, who, who
appeared to follow a code that made a virtue out of pain and,
and suffering. And you know, responsible teachers and
administrator in other private and public schools would not have
permitted such extreme practices and would have called to
account any staff responsible for such treatment. So, in my
opinion, Grenville's standards of care for the children in its
custody were outside the norms of Ontario and other places.

Q. All right. And I'd like now, if I can, turn
your attention to evidence we've heard, of, of what I would call

sexual harassment. We've heard evidence from former students

that they were teachings to the effect that boys were innocent
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and 80s, and, and maybe beyond, but we're concerned with, with,

you know, 70s, 80s, 90s, to teach that homosexuality is wrong?

A, I would, I would say no. Well, I could, I, I
think I could answer the question better by referring to the
Education on Sex and Health that was provided in Ontario
schools.

Q. Thank you. That would be helpful.

A. Okay. 8o, two texts were, were used in
Ontario classrooms for students in grades 7, 8, and 9 in, in the
1980s, and these gave illustrated the approach to sex and health
education. It was being used in the, in the public schools.
They stressed the importance of, of biological knowledge, health
promotion, and respect for individual autonomy, gender
stereotyping of the kinds of things that you've mentioned was
considered, "damaging" to both men and women, boys and girls.

And T can give you the specific references of the books, if you,
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if you need that.

Masturbation and homosexuality were described in,
in these books, but without moral judgment. So that is more
specific answer to the question, in terms of what, what would be
discussed in the public schools. And you know, I think it was
possible for other religious schools to have particular views on
homosexuality that might have been similar to those at, at
Grenville, but what's different, I think is the, the hostile in
which the student were alleged homosexual were, were, were
treated. From what I've read in the evidence, the, the, the
abusive language that was used frequently, the vilification of
people and let, let alone, the, the explanation, as you pointed
out for what caused homosexuality. This, this was, this was out
of the ordinary, no matter what your own private or religious
views were on the topic.

Q. All right. Thank you. We've also in this
case heard that there were some evidence that Father Farnsworth
taught that AIDS was a plague that had been released on the
earth to cleanse the earth of sin and also that all homosexual
men will contact AIDS and die, and it was Gods weapon to
eradicate homosexuals to, to rid the world of his plague, as a
result of this sin. Would that teaching meet the standard of
care?

A. No, it would. Not. There was concern about
AIDS in Ontario and elsewhere the end of the 1980s, and the
Ministry of Education responded with a resource document as to
how schools shoﬁld address this subject. They recommended using
a health promotion focus. And....

Q. What's that, what's the...

A. What they meant by that was focusing on
education, information, equipping students with knowledge about

HIV AIDS, and, and encouraging them to be responsible in terms
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was put on discipline or "D" we've heard that they were put on
silence. They were not to be spoken to or speak unless it was
somebody giving them instructions about what to do; their,
their, the teacher or prefect supervising them. They were not
allowed to wear the school uniform, which was unusual because
everybody else would be in the uniform.

They would be doing work duties all day and not
allowed to go to class. Sometimes they'd be separated from
their peers at meals or compelled sleep in a, in a different
area of the school, sometimes referred to as "Hotel D," the
annex above the gym. And there was also an incident which has
been referred to as "cold grits," where a whole group of
students were deemed to have bad attitudes or be sinning in
their minds and were subjected to these public light sessions
and put on discipline for weeks or even longer doing not only
the work assignments, but also extreme exercise. Do these light
sessions, first of all, the light sessions, as I've described
them, meet the standard of care?

A. No, they do not. The, the, the practice of
public humiliating students in the ways that you've described
for behavioral transgressions, let alone for what seem to be
simple attitudinal issues with which the school took issue, this
was unheard of in other educational venues, and, and would've, I
believe, constituted emotional maltreatment, which I referred to
earlier. It's one of the elements of abuse.

Q. All right. And does he punishment of being
put on discipline with that whole list of things that separated
no school, no uniforms, sleeping apart, et cetera, silence,
would that meet the standard of care?

A, I don't believe it would. I mean, silence,
for example, -you know, in classes, students are expected to be

silent, you know, when, when class is being conducted or in
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detentions, they are expected to be silent and for 30 or 45
minutes or whenever detentions were held usually at the end of
the day. The, the Grenville approach of, of students being
silent, forcibly silent for hours, days, weeks, just unheard of,
and the, the shunning that went along with that. And I also
believe that, that their absence from classes was extremely
questionable. Students are supposed to by law be in school.
They are not supposed to be out of school for that long a period
cf time, unless they are good reasons, and these weren't.

‘ Q. And doctor, can you tell us, what, if
anything is the problem with discipline that is arbitrary or
random, for example, you know, you've sinned in your mind or you
have a bad attitude or, or things like that?

A. Well, if, if you look at the standards that I
cited before in this environment in which I, I also referred to,
in which, you know, there is greater sensitivity to how children
should be treated and, and disciplined, the, the approach, it,
it wasn't called that at the time, but it became known as
progressive discipline. And that was really what I had read out
before, it's that that kind of approach where, where you, you
certainly aren't random in, in the way in which you treat
students, if there are problems, you address them. Students
need to know what they are being disciplined for, they, they
need to be able to have the right to respond, and the
punishments have to be reasonable. And I think what, what
you've described are punishments that were excessive and
certainly not reasonable.

Q. All right. If we can then, doctor, turn to
the issue of privacy rights. We've heard some evidence of, of
either some kind of censorship or opening of private mail of
students, would that meet the standard of care?

A. No, it, it wouldn't. The, there, this issue
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had been addressed. There were cases even in the, in a, in a
post—-Charter of Freedom Rights and Freedoms era. So schools did
and do have the right to search student lockers, for example,
without student permission, if there is good reason to believe
that illegal substances are being hidden or if some, something
criminal has, has happened, lockers can be searched, and, and
the contents can be investigated. But have been referred to as
fishing expeditions dragnet searches were not allowed. And in
terms of correspondence, private schools did not sensor
students' correspondence, that was not the standard, and so, I
would say that those standards fell below the standard of care.

Q. And what about dorm searches for things like
cassette tapes, records, or bikini underwear, or things like
that?

A. That would violate students' privacy rights.

Q. All right. So overall then, doctor, what is
your opinion regarding the disciplinary and informal teaching
practices that, that we've talked about that Grenville engaged
in between the class period of 1973 to 199772

A. I would conclude that the disciplinary and,
and informal teaching practices were abusive and at odds with
those practiced in public and private schools in Ontario. These
practices apparently were permitted by Grenville School
authorities, who themselves were accused of being active
participants in these, in these practices. And the perpetrators
were evidently not held accountable for their actions, though,
they most certainly would have been in scheool systems that were
meeting their legal, professional, and custodial obligations,
particularly in a period when attention to human rights,
children's rights, child abuse was ascended. Grenville appears
not to have been a, a normal educational milieu from the 1970s

to the 1990s, and its, its disciplinary practices arising from a
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elaborated even more since.
Q. Right It's been elaborated on and changed
since... |
Yes. Yeah.
...since, nineteen...
Evolved.
...since 1973, right?
Yes.

Wasn't the dominant approach in 1973.

»or o PO

Well, that's interesting. It, it wouldn't
have been - the term wouldn't have been used, but by, you know,
in the wake of the Minister's speech and, and the letter that
went to the Boards, they were - in fact, I can quote, this maybe
a restatement, but I think it's worth, it's worth saying. I
have to find it. Yes, in, in the Minister's - in the létter
that went out to the Boards including the Boards of the private
schools, these educators were "...encouraged to interpret the
law in Ontario that which said discipline would be exercised by
a kind firm and judicious parent..." and it added, "...in such a
way as to foster and atmosphere of respect and trust between
students and teachers with the cultivation of individual
responsibility as a major goal." And so, the documents that the
Ministry subsequently produced, the recommendation that it was
giving was designed to develop methods of discipline that, that
was consistent with those, with those principles. And that was
the emerging standard in the Province as I, as I said earlier.

Q. So, do I understand it then that that letter
in those publications that you just referred to were designed to
encourage schools to adopt that kind of standard. It wasn't the
applicable standard at that time?

A. It, it wasn't the law, but it, it in terms of

the ways in which schools behaved. I, I, I am not sure if it's
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appropriate. Since I completed this report, I had access to a
document that I didn't have when I prepared the report, and it
actually is a, a detailed discussion of the, the use of the
strap in Canada, and it talks in, in some detail about the
disciplinary practises that were prevalent in the period that
you are describing. I brought it with me, I am wondering if, if
it would be appropriate. I have two copies, I am wondering if
it would be appropriate to cite it....

Q. Well, I was - I was asking...

THE COURT: Have counsel seen it?

MR. READ-ELLIS: No.

A. No. No.

Q. And I, I was asking you about letters and,
and publications relating to that Minister's letter you were
talking about, what year was that?

A. The, the Minister's letter was 1969.

Q. So, let's start....

A. And the publications that I cited earlier
were in the 80s.

Q. Okay. So, let's start with the Minister's
letter.

Okay.

Q. That was not an expression of the applicable
standard at the time of that letter.

A. It, it was the, it was a statement that the
standard should change, yes.

Q. Right. Okay. Let's turn to a, another
topic, yesterday, you were asked your opinion about a number of
statements that were contained in a document titled, "How do
here at Grenville Nurture Christian Values." Do you remember

that?
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A. Well, I guess, I'm not sure. I, I, I think
it's, it's - I am not taking issue with, with anything you're
saying about the legality or use of, of corporal punishment in,
in this period. I don't think that's, the, the point. The
point about Grenville is, is the way in which corporal punish
was, was used.

Right. And I'm not asking about that now.
Okay.

I will later.

All right.

Then we can talk about that.

That's fine.

(O Ol A Ol o &)

But we're not talking about that now. So, in
19789, corporal punishment had only been banned in British
Columbia. It was still legislatively acceptable in all
provinces in Canada, isn't that right?

A. I believe that i1s accurate. It's after '89
that the, the number of provinces that abolish it increased
significantly. I'm just looking for my notes on that, which I
don't seem to have in front of me. But I'll, yes, I'll agree
with that.

Q. And the practise of corporal punishment only
became illegal in Ontario schools following the 2004 decision of
the Supreme Court of Canada that you mentioned yesterday,
correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And it wasn't until that decision in 2004,
that corporal punishment lost its legitimacy in Canadian schools
as a corrective behavioral policy of last resort.

A. It lost its legal legitimacy. It had lost
its legitimacy in practise I think well before that.

Q. So, are you disagreeing with the statement
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much. So, we'll take a 1l5-minute morning break.
RECESS
UPON RESUMING:

THE COURT: All right. Let's continue.

MR. READ-ELLIS: Just bear with me for 30

seconds. I, I think I can shorten this

considerabiy.

THE COURT: Okay. You can definitely have a

minute, if you want.

MR. READ-ELLIS: That's very kind.

MR. ADAIR: A penny saved.

MR. READ-ELLIS: Your Honour, could I, please,

approach her a question?

THE COURT: Of course.

MR. READ-ELLIS: Q. Dr. Axelrod, do you, do you
recall earlier this morning, my friend gave you examples of
physical discipline and asked for your opinion about whether
that met the applicable standard of care, do you remember those
questions?

A. Yes.

Q. And you gave an answer, I didn't write it
down verbatim, but I think it tracks pretty closely the opinion
that's set out in your report, so if, if you want to turn that
up. It's on page 13. Sorry, I've got the wrong page reference
here. Yes, sorry, page 13, in the, in the final paragraph
there. You say, "It's my opinion that even in a context in
which corporal punishment was still legal in Ontario Schools,
the manner in which it was handed out at Grenville would not

have been acceptable in normal educational venues."
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A. Yes.

Q. 1Is that right? And that's more or less the
opinion you gave in response to my friend's questions, right?

A. Yes.

Q. Now, in arriving at this conclusion in your
report, you relied on some different facts, and I just want to
take you through some of those. So, if you look on page 10, for
example in the fourth line, you say, "Students claim that they
were slapped force...."

A. That's not page 10, I don't think.

Q Sorry, page 12, you're right, page 12.

A. Yes, I have it.

Q "Students claim that they were slapped," do

you see that?

>

Yes.

Q. "...forcibly dragged out of bed in the middle
in the night."™ And about four lines below that, it says, "One
student asserted that he was hit in the face by a teacher who
broke his nose and continued to punch him.

A. Uh-huh.

Q. You see that? And the next line:

"A student says that he was tackled by a teacher
who attempted to forcibly remove his ear stud."

Q. Do you see that?

A. I do.

Q. And the next paragraph in the third line, you
refer to a student being hit with the paddle in his testicles.

A. Yes.

Q. Then on the next page in the first paragraph,
similar sort of claim. "He was woken up to a punch to the groin
area by one of the staff members."

Q. See that?
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So, we got to the room and -— so when we first
went to the dorm and went around, my bags weren't
there and we back to the room, my bags arrived
and I opened them and someone had clearly gone
through all of my bags.. And this to me was, as
someone who valued my privacy growing up, my -—-—
my parents never went through my bags, so this
was a surprise to me. I noticed all my jeans
were missing, my blue jeans, and my clock radio,
electric clock radio, my tape recorder and my
cassette tapes. I used to listen to classical
music on my tape recorder. I play the viola and
I was in All City Music camp and I was in a very

accomplished orchestra.

So, so those things were taken from me. And then
when a teacher staff member, an adult came in T
said, "Some of my things are missing." And she
said, like just matter of factly, "Yes, well we
don't allow schools that -- Jjeans at the school,
they're a sign of the devil, as 1s rock music.

So you're not allowed to have radios and that's
why we took your tape recorder and your cassette

tapes."

And I said, "I only had classical music on those

tapes."

She said, "It doesn’'t matter." I never saw them

again.
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attitudinal expectations that are required of students?

A. It was -— in a way it was baptism by fire.
You know trial without a jury. You would just do something --
like I never -— I don't believe I ever broke a rule that I was
aware of. But the rules weren't told to you. Again, like a lot
of the students were either from the Community of Jesus, or they
had been there before, so they knew all the rules. So, for me
as a new student I had to learn as I went. So, it would be, you
know when we got there we were told, you know, women at all time
~— all times have to wear a padded bra, a camisole, a shirt and
a sweater or a blazer. And your skirt length has to be below
your knees, like, there was a —— like well below your knees,
which again was also weird to me, because all my friends who
went to private school they had miniskirts, but that's fine I
had no problem with that.

But what they would do ~- so some of the rules
were I would be walking down the hall —-- I remember walking down
the hall with my books one day and I get tapped on the back of
the shoulder by Mrs. Ordolani, who says "Stop swaying your hips;
it makes you temptress." You know, I'm in four layers of
clothing.

Every morning when I put on my uniform I was
reminded that I should cover up my body, that I should be
ashamed of my body, and that if anybody looked at me it was my
fault. So, those are the rules, so I had to really —-— I am not
a hip swayer, but I had to consciously think of putting one foot
in front of the other, so I wouldn't be singled out for that.

The -- I mean there's so many —- there's so many
instances I can tell you of. You know I guess they were told —-
the women were told -- well we weren't told anything. But one
day I was sitting in the Study Hall -- in the blue room studying

after hours, because I was catching up, because a lot -- all of
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my spares were done on work jobs. So, I was catching —— I was
trying to get my homework done and Ms. Vermet came over and
said, "Why did you flush pads down the toilet?" And I —- I
said, "Excuse me, like who would do that?" She said the -- the
plumbing is backed up and I know you're an agent of Satan. You
put those things down the toilet didn't you? I just start
thinking, what do you say to that?

So, I said, "No, I didn't. I don't use feminine
hygiene pads. I did not flush any down the toilet."

S0, it was, you know, I mean the rules were
shaped around -- like again like I have to say I'm not a rule
breaker. I didn't walk around swearing. I didn't -- I -- I did
everything I was asked to do. If I was told to get up at a
certain time, I got up at a certain time. If I was told to go
to bed at a certain time, I would go to bed at a certain time.

But it's not that —-- it was not even just the
rules, it's just that this random singling out of you for doing
nothing. Like just walking to your room, all of sudden someone
comes out of a broom closet, or a, like a supply closet and
pulls you in. And has -- there's a light shining on a chair and
you're in pitch black and they tell you to sit down. And then
you sit down and then they shine a light in your face, and you
know there's someone in front of you -- one on each side of you,
behind you and they're just yelling at you. Yelling at you
calling you a temptress, a jezebel. You should be ashamed of
yourself. Oh my god, these things happen and I -—- to this today
I don't even know who the people were who did things like that.

Q. Did that happen to you, were you pulled into
a room and...

Yes.
Q. ...those things were said to you?

A. Yes, randomly. Having —— this is like -Fust
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people on my hand, maybe maximum ten.

But I mean I look at -- I can look at pictures of
my graduating year and I don't know the names of most of the
people.

Q. 8o, that you said that you and Deb, the one
that you connected with, were not allowed to talk or look at
each other. Can you just talk to me how that came about?

A. Yes. That was the most bizarre experience of

my entire life. I was in study hall one night and again we —— I
didn't know where her room was or anything, but I —-— we were at
the same table, same dining room table. So, we had -—- after

dinner you would have study hall, and you'd have a little cookie
and milk break in between, and during the cookie and milk break
in the first —— it was within the first two weeks. We were, we,
you know we were Jjust getting cookies and milk together and she
-— oh, she cracked me right up. So, she did her shirt buttons
all the way up and said, "Oh I'm so posh; I'm at private school.
I'm going to do my buttons all the way up." And -- and then I
started channeling my English grandmother, whose very uppity and

that was like, "Oh yes, we're at private school. Oh, we're

going to go all the way." And so we were having this funny
exchange.

And I remember there was this youngish —— he
seemed like a younger student —-- actually he seemed very young

compared to the high school. He may have been Grade 8, I don't
know. I believe it was Robert Farmsberg (sic). Anyway he kind
of looked at us and then he went off and then this young —-
young student -- a young woman —- sorry she was in our grade.
Her name was Katey Keenan. I didn't now at the time. This
young —-- she was shorter than us. She marched over and she
locked at us and she said, "Undo your shirt buttons." And I had

never met this -— I'd never noticed her in my life. And so this
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was my first introduction to what I now know to be prefects and
prefects in training. I didn't, you know, I didn't appreciate
what prefects were at all. Again, this is like so what are the
rules? I didn't know what prefect was, no one told me. So,
Katey Keenan says, "Undo your shirt buttons." And it was just
so rude. I -~ again like I -- it's Jjust not my world if how you
would approach someone or talk to someone the first time you
meet them.

So, I said, "Why should we undo our shirt
buttons?"

And she said, "Because it's not a part of the
uniform."

And I said, "Well, the buttons came with my shirt
when I bought them at Halpern so they very -- they are very much
a part of the uniform."

And Deborah said, "Yes, mine too." And we were
being cheeky girls, no question about it.

And then -- so she said —- she looked up at me
and she said, "Do you know who you're talking to?" And she had
a name tag on her blazer and it said -- or blazer/sweater. I
can't remember, but it was, you know the navy blue. But a name
tag and it said "Katey Keenan prefect in training." So, when
she said, "Do you know who you're talking to?" I looked at it
and I read it and I said, "Yes, Katey Keenan, prefect in
training." She went "ah" and she storms off and that was the
end of that. So, Deborah and I are like, that's weird.

The bell rings, we go back and we're studying.
And I was studying at a table that was, ironically, very close
to that wall banner, so I would have been facing north studying
with my back to the dining room. And I'm just sitting there at
my books and all of a sudden someone grabs my left ear,

forcefully, and said "Get up". And I could tell by the voice it
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was phys ed teacher Judy James. And I'm -- so it just again it
was so shocking and out of the blue and behind me. I didn't see
it coming at all. She pulls me up by my ear and I'm —— we're
just séooting across like this, looking at -- my head was tilted
and I'm being dragged and I'm staring at that "Humiliation is a
place of entire dependency upon God" as I'm being humiliated,
dragged across the dining room and not knowing why, context,
what, didn't see it coming. Pushes me into the kitchen, like
opens the door, I'm being pulled behind her, pulled into a
kitchen and with all these, like, industrial prep shelves and
stuff. And there's Katey Keenan sitting there, red faced,
swollen eyes, crying and I'm like —-- this to me is like an
experience, an out of, you know it was just a bizarre
experience.

So, one of the teachers -- again like I didn't
know all the teachers this early on. I just knew Judy James,
she was my gym teacher and I had that experience with Father

Haig at that point. So, anyway one of them said, "Look at what

you've done." And -- and I looked over and I was like, I felt
bad, like I was —— I was —-- as I said I was a nice kid. I'm
not, you know, I was never a mean girl. I never tried to hurt

anyone's feelings and I actually felt really bad. I would never
have said any of those things I said. I would not have been
cheeky to her if I'd known she was sensitive, but in my world we
were just having fun. And you know —-- anyway so I apologized
profusely and I said, "I'm really sorry. I didn't mean to hurt
your feelings."

And, so, then I got -- this is like I broke a
rule and I didn't listen to a prefect, or a prefect in training.
S0, then they schooled me on the rules around obeying prefects
in training. And they said, you know, "Do you understand?" And

I said, "Yes, it won't happen again. I apologize." And I went
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kicked up and it hit the panel above my bed. And
so that's when I discovered the panels were
removable and I use that as a safe place to —-
for an escape thing later on. But -- so I

convulsed and hit that and then I felt asleep.

And then I was woken up again. It was still dark
out and it was someone else. I didn't know who
this person was. 1I'd never seen her before, and
she said, "Get dressed and not in your uniform."

So, I put on my civilian clothes and I said "What

time is it" when we left the room, and she said

"Five o'clock." And she said, "You had -— you

had to start your work duties for discipline."

So, she took me down to a laundry room and she
said, "You have to clean the laundry room." And
kind of showed me what I needed to do. I've got
to say it was spotless. It was pretty clean. It
was like clean the lint out of the dryer. Use
the bleach here, wash the floors, pull the washer
and dryer out. So, I did that and she said "And
—— and I'll come and get you." And so, I guess
she came a get me —-- came and got me shortly
after six o'clock, because when we went back to
the dormitory everybody was hustling and bustling
and —— and I think we were woken up shortly after
six, like 6:15 or something. It was when we were
woken every morning, so everybody was up and

bustling.

And so, they got me to do, like dusting or
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something. But anyway they —— I had to bide my
time until it was breakfast. And then they took
me back after everybody had left my room, they
took me back in and I was introduce to a prefect
named, Jeannie. And I believe she was in a Grade
higher, in Grade 13. And Jeannie then told me
how it was going to work while I was on
discipline. And that was that she was going --
she was my prefect. I was not allowed to go
anywhere without her. She would be taking me
everywhere, and I couldn’'t leave my room until
she came to get me. That I wasn't allowed to go
anywhere without her, except into the bathroom
stall. I said, "Okay."

So, then now you have to imagine this is where
people were now having breakfast, so they would
have all been in dining hall. Everyone would
have been in the dining hall. So, she took me
down and she walked me into the doors of the
dining hall where everybody would see you,
because everybody was seated. And -- and so it
was a signal to everyone. I was walking with a

prefect in my civilian clothes.

I could only imagine what —-— how people would
have felt if they were —— had been at the school
and knew -- knew what was going on. For me, it
was a moment —-— it was my Hester Pyrnne moment.
It was my, I walk tall, I walk proud, I kept my
head held high, because I had done nothing wrong.

And so that "humiliation is a place of entire
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and then they find out about what you did on the weekend on your
week off and they'll take you in and make you confess again an
swear to Jesus and do all the stuff.

You know I saw this type of confessional once.
They had a six inch rule. Again, you don't know the rules until
you've broken them. So, there's a male and female student in a
library and I was unaware of the six inch rule, until this point
in time. Father Haig got up to the microphone and said there
has been a transgression; you know, a sinning, whatever Jezebel,
the whole thing. And, of course, now everybody's looking up.
This was a regular occurrence, but this one really stuck out --
stood out to me, because of the six inch rule.

So, he said, someone had witnessed —- and he
named two students touched hands when they passed an eraser in
the library. Stand up on your chairs. So, the girl had to
stand up on her chair and the guy had to stand up on their
chair, in a dining room and they were admonished by everyone at
the head table. She was called a Jezebel, a temptress, a hussy.
And, again, like you're watching it and you're seeing this
person. "Humiliation is a place of entire dependence upon God."
Humiliation upon humiliation upon humiliation and not
everybody's strong. Not everybody's the same. We all respond
to things in our own way, in the moment. You can respond one
way at one point in your life and one point in another, while
you get a bunch of teenagers in the room, trying to figure out
who you are in this world, and the next thing you know you're up
on a chair, because you grazed the boy's hand. And who knows?
Maybe they had a crush on each other. I have no idea, but the
humiliation. And this went on, and on, and on, and on, and on.

What do you do? I'm just like looking at this
girl standing on a chair crying in front of a few hundred

people, wishing I could go and help her. You know, like I
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didn't -- like you don't know what the rules are until you break
them and they humiliate you and they try to break your spirit.
And part of breaking your spirit, is showing how they can break
your spirit by humiliating you.

And I just think again, I'm just like going, you
know June, just make it to June —- make it June. You know, and
I looked around and I think they are a lot of good people there
who Jjust lost their way. And nobody, like you know I think
these are the people that my parents entrusted to hold me —-
responsibility for me and they're watching this happen too, and
they're not saying anything. They're not doing anything.
They're not protecting the students.

I mean there was —— there was just one other
incident for me that was utterly humiliating. That again, you
know shortly after that episode where we had the 24 hour
discipline, I think I was so stressed out and so inwardly
anXious, I didn't show my anxiety, but I was clearly freaking
out. In the longs hours, you know just having to get up early
in the morning and then working, doing my homework then late at
night, I was sleep deprived. I mean that's how I characterized
the entire year. I didn't get enough sleep. And I woke —— 1
was walking down the hallway one day in the morning, and I

looked at the person coming towards me and I saw half of their

face.

And again, I kept going back to that same place.
Like they're —- I just was —— I think I became super concerned
that -- that the behaviour of this place was so similar to what

I had read about in the newspaper about the Jim Jones cults, The
People's temple and knowing, or hearing things about the —-- the
Moonies in Toronto, I just did not trust that I was safe there.
50, when I was walking down the hall and saw half of a person's

face, the only logical conclusion I could reach was that they
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Vincent Peale but maybe that's the wrong name. We saw an actor
and we went to a viewing of "Wok with Yan" and the guest was
Margaret Trudeau. That was one outing.

And then the other outing was at the end of the
year, there was a - like, a graduation trip. We went to
Muskoka, and one of the students, I believe her name was Sandy,
her mother went to St. Clements with Mary Haig and they had an
island in Muskoka. It may have been Lake Joseph or something, I
don't know. It was an island and we all went to that...

Okay.

...for a weekend.

And was that for a weekend or....
Yes.

And then, were there also ski trips?
Never went on a ski trip.

All right. Were there ski trips or....

= Ol - Ol ol R @

I don't know. I don't know.

Q. All right. So - and - and I'm going to
suggest to you that there was ample opportunity while you were
there to make friends.

A. I would say that you had an opportunity for
very superficial encounters with people. Given the rigours of
the schedule, for me, first term, five a.m. to midnight. And
then after that, you know, depending on what you were involved
with, I certainly had association with people. I don't think
you really make friendships on a team when‘you're just - you
know, there wasn't a whole lot of practice. So, I imagine on
the bus rides - I just remember looking out the window a lot and
seeing the signs 'cause I didn't know the area.

But, I - you know, I'm sure people did make
friends and I - I did have encounters were I made, you know, I

guess three friends that I stayed in touch with after. But I
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would say in contrast to my experience at public school, night
and day. And you weren't allowed to really talk to the boys, so
you weren't allowed to have male friends. That was kind of
forbidden.

Q. Well, isn't it a fact that you were allowed
to talk tc the boys?

A. Of course.

Q. You just couldn't form dating relationships?

A. Yeah, you could sit at the - when you were at
the same table having your meals you talked to them. I didn't
go any — I didn't venture beyond that anywhere else because it
was trouble.

Q. All right. ©Now, you mentioned one incident
that I had not heard of and wasn't clear on, and that's this
business of the Katie's gold watch.

A. Yes.

Q. And I thought I heard you said that you said
to one of the adults that you thought that had been dealt with.
Did I misunderstand your evidence?

A. Perhaps.

Q. Okay.

A. Oh, I may have been saying after I sworn on
the Bible, I thought that had been dealt with. Like...

Q. All right.

A. ...they had - they were going to let that go
because God be the judge.

Q. I may have misunderstood. And you also used
an expression when you were talking about the incident where you
were in your room for several hours and it was approaching dark
and people...

A. Mm-hmm.

Q. ...weren't coming back to your room.
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for us?

A. The -- my overview is that Grenville
Christian College was clearly an institutional setting whose
primary purpose was to foster child and adolescent development
through educatioh and boarding experiences. The school provided
instruction for students who were all children or adolescents.
The students who were residing at the school had ongoing contact
with the staff for long periods of time, for months or years.

As a result of this arrangement, the students were reliant on —-
completely reliant during the time that they lived at the school
on the staff -— the school's staff for care, protection,
guidance, instruction and discipline.

The —-- because of this arrangement, the —- the
staff who acted inappropriately with students had an opportunity
to do so on a number of occasions. Many -- many of the class
members -- many of the students at the school experienced
instance of maltreatment or trauma while attending Grenville
Christian College, including physical abuse, sexualized abuse,
cruel or inappropriate treatment, neglect of physical or mental
health needs, and emotional abuse, including such forms of abuse

as spurning, terrorizing, isolating or exploiting.

The —— to —— to the extent that individual
students were —— or former students were subject to such
maltreatment or trauma, these individuals are -- were at later

risk for an increased likelihood of developing multiple
psychological difficulties that might include problems in
relational attachment, problems in psychological development, a
variety of mental health conditions and negative changes in
their life trajectories. The Grenville Christian College also
functioned to a large degree as a total institution, where the
—— the staff subjected many of the class members to coercive

control.
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students by instilling new rules, skills or values, using
practices that included breaking down the barriers that
ordinarily separate the work, play and sleep. And they —- they
noted that in total institutions, and I'm quoting now from the

Law Commission report:

Those in charge hold all formal
power. Rules govern almost all
aspects of daily life and
residents have little to say
about how these rules are
administered. More dangerously,
life inside institutions may at
times be governed by more by
arbitrary and unpredictable
orders than by established
rules. 1In such a situétion, the
possibility of effective
protests or appeals is
inhibited. '

Q. And what are the conditions experienced by
children in a total institution?

A. Well, the Law Commission report noted that in
—-— in the total institutions that they investigated that they
these institutions all tended to impose cqnditions of
disconnection, degradation and powerlessness on the children in
their care.

Q. All right. And I'd like to ask you now some
questions about how all of this applies to our situation here at
Grenville. Was Grenville Christian College a single authority?

A. Yes. Now, from the documents that I
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reviewed, the —-- Grenville Christian College functioned as —- as
a single authority in relation to the students' lives.

Q. All right. And were the students isolated?

A. Yes, the students who resided at Grenville
Christian College were living separated from their parents and
families for extended periods of time.

Q. And were the students re-socialized?

A. Yes, the —— all of the students were expected
to conform to the Grenville Christian College rules and staff
direction. They ——- the —-- the documents that I reviewed
indicated that the students described the staff as very closely
involved with every aspect of their day and night time routines.
Several of the former staff described -- also described the
staff as closely involved with students and the students . and
staff together as forming a close-knit community. Both the
former students and staff describe the staff as having high
expectations for good behaviour and employing strict discipline
for the purpose of socializing the children to adhere to the
Grenville Christian College staff views concerning values and
behaviour. And several of the -- several of the individuals
mentioned the -- that the school staff encouraged the students
to submit to God's will as interpreted to them through the -- by
the staff.

Q. Thank you. And can you tell us, what is the
significance, if any, of the physical location of the school?

A. The school was in a rural location which made
it very difficult for students to leave the school or have
contact with other adult authorities outside of -- their
families or adult authorities outside of the school withoﬁt the
assistance of school staff.

Q. And to what extent, if any, did Grenville

Christian College impose conditions of either disconnection,
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degradation or powerlessness on the students?

A. The -- the reports that I read indicated that
many former students described living in a state of constant
fear while they lived at Grenville Christian College. They
expérienced the staff as administering punishment that was
arbitrary, unpredictable, unjustified or excessively harsh. And
as a result of these experiences, many of the students felt very
—— extremely disconnected, degraded and powerless.

Q. And what, if any, psychological barriers were
there to the students either leaving or communicating with
parents or other adult authorities when they were either at or
away from Grenville?

A. The -- well, many —— many of the former
students reported very significant barriers the —— to
communicating with their parents either while they were at the
school or while they were even -- when they were visiting with
their parents during summer breaks. The -— many former students
reported that staff had told them that they were sinful and they
deserved the punishment that they had received at the school,
that they were not to tell their parents about the school
punishments, and the school —-- school staff —-— some former
students reported that school staff had threatened them with
severe consequences, for example, an inability to attend
university, occupational failure, homelessness, or burning in
hell if they returned -- if they failed to return to the school
or to comply with staff directions.

The plaintiffs —- the former students were also
aware that Grenville Christian College was visited by the
Anglican bishop and other respected authorities and they may
have likely perceived these visits as a public endorsement for
the Grenville Christian College staff practices. Another reason

was that several of the former students report being quite aware
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A. Okay. Well, the —— whether either by design
or by happenstance, institution can —-- institutions can operate
in ways that subject the children in their care to what are, in
effect, conditions of captivity and coercive control.
Correctional facilities are clearly designed to —— to hold the
residents within the correctional facility and designed and
operated to confine and control the residents.

However, children or adolescents who are residing
in other types of institutions are often unable to leave or
communicate concerns due to their immaturity and dependence, and
sometimes due to the physical location of the facility. And in
this kind of total institutional setting, the children and
adolescents who reside in the setting are, in this sense,
captive and thus easily subject to coercive control for the
period of their stay.

Q. Has coercive control been studied?

A. Yes, the -- coercive control has been studied
in a variety of situations of captivity, including prisons,
concentration camps, families where a spouse or parent is highly
controlling and abusive, and religious cults.

Q. And what are the —— the psychological
implications of coercive control?

A. Well, the —— the psychological interactions
between the perpetrator and the victim are broadly similar
across these various kinds of situations of captivity and
coercive control. The —- for the individual who's in captivity,
the perpetrator becomes the most powerful person in the victim's
life and heavily influences the victim's psychological
functioning. The perpetrators typically establish coercive
control over the victims by —— by means of repeated infliction
of psychological maltreatment or trauma for the purpose of

instilling terror and helplessness and destroying the victim's
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sense of self in relation to others.

Q. And how, if at all, does this apply to
Grenville Christian College?

A. Well, the —- the Grenville, as I —— the
Grenville Christian College staff practices subjected many of
their students at the school to this form of coercive control by
subjecting them to maltreatment or trauma, including physical
abuse, cruel or inappropriate treatment, neglect of physical or
mental health needs, sexualized abuse, and multiple forms of
emotional harm.

Q. Are rewards ever part of coercive control?

A. Yes, in —- that's another feature of these
situations of captivity and coercive control. The perpetrator
may use intermittent, unpredictable rewards to persuade the
victim to maintain a connection to the perpetrator in spite of
the maltreatment and trauma -- trauma and degradation inflicted
by the perpetrator. And specifically at Grenville Christian
College, the ~- the staff —-- several of the former students
mentioned that the staff occasionally showered students with an
outpouring of gifts and affection that one —-- one person
described as a love bomb. And this -- at Grenville Christian
College this practice may have helped the staff to maintain the
appearance of providing affectionate care and also encouraged
the staff members to -- sorry, the students to -- to view the
staff as sources of both affection and care as well as fear and
punishment.

Q. You understand, Doctor, that there were no
fences or they weren't actually held captive there?

A. VNo, I'm using captivity in the sense that I
understand that there were no fences, that it was not a prison
situation, there were no guards. But I'm -- I'm saying that the

students were in effect captive because of the geographical
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location of the institution and their own immaturity and
dependence on staff care.

Q. Okay. Thank you. We've heard evidence that
students were required to disclose the misbehaviour or misdeeds
of their peers or that students joined with staff in disparaging
other students. What would be the effect of these sorts of
practices?

A. Well, these sorts of practices are typical of
another third aspect of conditions of captivity and coercive
control. The -— in these kinds of situations, the perpetrator
might heighten his or her domination and control by forcing the
victim to behave in ways that violate the victim's moral values
or significant human attachments. So when —— when exposed to
coercive control for extended periods, the victim often submits
to such violations of their values and relational attachments
and often experiences a high degree of shame and self-loathing
for doing so, and these kinds of circumstances can leave the
victim feeling completely broken by the perpetrator.

So the practices that you were mentioning at
Grenville Christian College where the staff required students,
and especially the student prefects, to participate in practices
that at least some of the students found to be a violation of
their own values or relationships that were important to them,
these kinds of staff expectations of the students were
distressing to the students and —— and was —— is an example of
this -~ this kind of forcing the student -— or forcing the
victim to violate their own moral codes or relational -— behave
poorly in relation to significant people in their lives.

Q. I'd like to now ask you some questions about

‘childhood abuse and neglect and its consequences and -- and

we'll start maybe with some definitions first. Your Honour, I'm

now, for your reference, at page 24 to 25 of the report.. Dr.
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Barnes, what is child maltreatment?

A. Child maltreatment is generally identified as
sort of broadly the four different categories of —- of abuse.
Physical -- physical abuse, sexualized abuse, neglect and
psychological maltreatment or emotional maltreatment.

Q. Does the Ontario Children's Aid Society
definitions contain anything other than those four?

A. They also mention -- the Ontario Children's

aid Society definitions also list cruel or inappropriate
treatment as a form of maltreatment and they use some —-— they
use the term emotional harm rather than psychological
maltreatment.

Q. All right. And what is the recognized
difference, if any, in the impact of physical abuse, sexualized
abuse, neglect or psychological maltreatment?

A. Well, the —— the current research indicates
that really all of these forms of maltreatment are generally
equivalent in terms of their impact so there's not any one form
of maltreatment in -- in a general sense that's more likely to
be harmful than any other. They're all equally harmful.

Q. And -—-

A. Or equally likely to be harmful.

Q. Thank you. And what, if anything, makes
emotional harm unique?

A. Well, emoticnal harm is sometimes overlooked
or minimized as a distinct and serious form of maltreatment.
It's -— unlike physical abuse or neglect, it doesn't cause
physical injury, and unlike sexualized abuse, it doesn't break a
social taboo. It can be covert and difficult to detect.
However, despite all of —- despite these differences, the
research currently available indicates that emotional harm is

likely equivalent to physical abuse, sexualized abuse or neglect
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in the extent to which it increases risk for later psychologidal
difficulties.

Q. I notice, Doctor, that you corrected yourself
or —-— or clarified something you said about increasing the risk
of difficulties, as opposed to causing difficulties. Can you
just take us through that distinction?

A. Yes. I'm talking about increasing the risk
because the -- for any one individual there are many different
factors that will influence the -- the presence or absence and
the severity of psychological difficulties that they experience
as a result of being subject to maltreatment or trauma.

Q. Thank you. And so then what is the impact of
more frequent, more severe, more prolonged maltreatment, as
opposed to lesser forms of those things?

A. Well, the —— among individuals who have been
exposed to maltreatment, the more —— the more frequent their
exposures have been, the more severe the incidents or the more
prolonged -— the longer the period of time over which the
individual was exposed to maltreatment, the greater the risk
that the individual will experience later psychological
difficulties. ,

Q. Thank you. And what, if any, is the impact
of a child experiencing different forms of maltreatment, as
opposed to just one?

A. The -- the studies of adults who report
having experienced maltreatment in childhood indicate that the
more different forms of maltreatment that an individual has
experienced, the more likely they are to develop psychological
difficulties and the more severe those psychological
difficulties are likely to be. And it's a broad range of
possible —— when I talk about psychological difficulties,

there's a very broad range of difficulties that can develop.
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and not a virgin and that her life was therefore ruined and
would be completely different as a result of this experience.
That would be an example of the meaning that would be highly
disturbing and would increase the risk of later psychoclogical
difficulties.

Q. And —

A. And then finally, the last thing that I
wanted to mention is if there's —-

Q. Sorry.

A. —— a lack of supportvfrom others in relation
to the trauma, that lack of support is associated with a greater
risk for later psychological difficulties.

Q. All right. Thank you. 1I'd like to now turn
to some of the abuses that the former students at Grenville
Christian College say that they have endured, and this, Your
Honour, is at page 26 of Dr. Barnes' report. Let's start first,
Dr. Barnes, if we can, with physical abuse. What is physical
abuse?

A. Physical abuse involves —— well, and I'm
going closely with the —— the definitions that have been given
by the —— the Ontario Children's Aid Societies. It involves the
use of either generally acceptable -- a generally acceptable
mode of physical punishment, but in a way that's overdone,
prolonged unduly or involves excessive force. Or it can be —-
involve —-— physical abuse can involve the use of generally
unacceptable or inappropriate modes of physical punishment, such
as a continual or lengthy beating, shaking, slapping, flipping
or hitting with a fist.

Q. We've heard evidence that some students were
hit with a paddle, a wooden instrument. Would that constitute
physical abuse of a child?

A. Yes, that —— a paddle that was hard enough to
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—— yes, that would constitute physical abuse.

Q. All right. And I'd like to ask you then
about cruel or inappropriate treatment. And I guess my first
question is what is cruel or inappropriate treatment?

A. Well, the —- the —-- the Children's Aid
Society document gives a number of examples of cruel or
inappropriate treatment. The ones that I focused on in
particular because they seemed most relevant to the information
that I had to review was -- involved the child labour and also
students being required to —-- to exercise to the point of being
physically exhausted, ill or in physical pain.

Q. We've heard some evidence about being
required to pull rocks from the ground with bare hands or
scrubbing a dumpster with a toothbrush or cutting grass with
scissors or picking up leaves one by one. Would you consider
that cruel or inappropriate treatment?

A. Yes,

Q. All right. And you've said a -- a few times
now the term sexualized abuse. Can you tell us why you use the
term sexualized abuse?

A. Well, I've used the term sexualized because I
-~ T realized when I was doing this work that —-- that people ——
and also from reading in the -— in the literature that —— that
often people described what had taken place in the context of
this sexualized assault using the language that is used in
consehsual adult sexual relations, so they would talk about
hugging or kissing or that. sort of thing. And what I —— from
what I read and was thinking about I realized that such language
creates the impression that what —-— what's happening is
consensual and mutually gratifying in -- in the way that sexual
relations between consenting -- willing and consenting adults is

mutually gratifying. So what I've -- I've tried to change my
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own language to reflect the fact that a child's experience is
often -~ 1s —- when an adult initiates sexual behaviour with
them is quite a bit different from the experiences of an adult
entering into a consentihg sexual involvement. And I've —-- so
—— and one way of trying to change the language that I've used,
I've decided to use the term sexualized assault to emphasize the
fact that this is not a sexual interaction in the way that
sexual interactions occur between willing and consenting adults
and are mutually satisfying and gratifying.

Q. Thank you. I understand the distinction now.
We either have heard or may hear -— and when I say may hear, I'm
putting this now to you as a hypothetical subject to be proven
by facts not yet proven, evidence to be called in the —— by
future witnesses. But I'd like to give you a list and then ask
you if, in your opinion, this would constitute sexualized abuse.
Requiring children to make confessions about sexual -- children
or adolescents, of course -- confessions about sexual thoughts
or activities, comments to the effect that women or girls are
sexual temptresses and responsible if they are assaulted,
punishing appropriate interest in the opposite sex in the age of
adolescence, for example, or —— or questioning children or
adolescents in detail/about their sexual activity?

A. Yeé, those would be instances of sexual
abuse. |

Q. Thank you.

A. Sexualized abuse, ves.

Q. Now, I'd like to turn, if I may —-- or unless
Your Honour intends an afternoon break, this is a slightly new
topic. Or I could ——

THE COURT: Perhaps we'll take a —— a five-minute

health break just to give everyone a chance to

stretch.
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difficult type of harm to define
and clinical concern maj precede
legal intervention. A repeated
pattern or extreme incidents of
the conditions described below
cénstitute psychological

maltreatment.

Q. All right. Can we then go through each of
those headings, the first one being spurning (hostile
rejecting/degrading). Can you tell us what that is?

A. Spurning includes —— well, I'm just
continuing to -- to read here [indiscernible]. In the —-- in the
CAS documents, spurning includes verbal and non-verbal cafegiver
acts that reject and degrade a child. I've —— in my report have
gone a little bit further. I describe this a bit further,
including —-- spurning includes the.caregivers belittling,
degrading or other forms of overtly hostile or rejecting
treatment; caregivers shaming or ridiculing the child for
showing normal emotions, such as affection, grief or sorrow; the
caregiver consistently singling out one child to criticize and
punish, to perform most of the household chores or to receive
fewer rewards; or the caregiver exposing the child to public
humiliation.

Q. And we've heard evidence in this case so far
that there were public light sessions or assemblies where a
child wduld be stood up and made an example of for breaking
rules or having a bad attitude or, in one case, for wetting the
bed. Would that be an example of spurning?

A. Yes.

_ Q. All right. And we've heard also that
students were typically disciplined by being denied the
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privilege of wearing the school uniform, being not allowed to
attend classes, having to sleep in separate guarters, not being
allowed to communicate openly, talk to their -- their peers and
such, and would those practices of being placed on discipline in
that matter be an example of spurning?

A. Yes.

Q. And there were examples or we've heard
evidence of a practice of —-- of putting people on silence, some
or many. Would that be a —— so they're not allowed to speak or
be spoken to. Would that be an example of spurning?

A. Yes.

Q. All right. Thank you. Just a moment, if I
may. Sorry about that. The —- the next heading here, Dr.
Barnes, is —- is terrorizing. Can you read that for us?

A. (Reading):

Terrorizing includes caregiver
behaviour that threatens or is
likely to be —- to physically
hurt, kill, abandon or place the
child or the child's loved ones
or objects in recognizably

dangerous situations.

And I talked about terrorizing in my report as
including placing a child in unpredictable or chaotic
circumstances; setting rigid or unrealistic expectations with
the threat of loss, harm or danger if they are not met; and
threatening or perpetrating violence against a child.

Q. Now, we've heard some evidence in this case
that there were private light sessions where -- where children

were taken out of bed or at least one child was taken out of bed
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—— I think we'll hear more of them -- and confronted in a in
an aggressive manner about their wrongdoings or sins. Children
were taken down to the boiler room and -- and shown the —-- the
flames in the boiler and told that those were the flames of hell
and talked to about Satanism and required to watch a Geraldo
Rivera television show on Satanism. Would those be examples of
terrorizing children?
‘ A. Yes.

Q. Okay, and the next heading here, isolating.
Can you tell us what isolating is? Can you just read that for
us?

A. (Reading) :

Isolating includes caregiver
acts that consistently deny the
child opportunities to meet
needs for interacting or
communicating with peers or
adults inside or outside the

home.

Q. And we've heard evidence in this case of
students frequently changing their dorm rooms or their —— or
their -- not the dorm room —— their rooms within the dorms,
different roommates all the time, every —— frequent —— frequent
room changes. We've heard of the children, as I told you
before, being put on silence. We've also heard that students
were encouraged to inform on or tell on —-— report the misdeeds
or behaviours of other students and I expect we're going to hear
some evidence about the censoring of mail or menitoring of phone
calls. And we've heard about students when they're on

discipline being required to sleep in —— in what was referred to
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as Hotel D, which were some rooms above the —— the gymnasium and
as well being required to eat separately from their peers.
Would these be examples of isclating?

A. Yes, these would all be examples of
isolating.

Q. Thank you. And if I can have you turn over
to page 59 in the eligibility spectrum and if you could please
read the —- the paragraph on exploiting there?

A. (Reading):

Exploiting or corrupting
includes carégiver acts that
encourage the child to develop
inappropriate behaviours, for
example, self-destructive or
antisocial behaviours,
criminally -- criminal
behaviours, deviant or other

maladaptive behaviours,

Q. Now, we've heard some examples in this case
that there were instances where —- where friendships were
strictly controlled or certainly opposite-sex relationships were
—— were prohibited. There was evidence of dorm searches for
non—-regulation underwear or contraband such as rock music
t-shirts. And we've heard about the imposition of some pretty
strong views on sexuality, gender and sexual orientation which I
think it's fair to characterize as —-- as inappropriate views.
Would those be examples of exploitation?

A. Yes.

Q. All right.

A. And I should add to -- just to expand a bit

Page 56 of 600
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on the —-- or summarize some of the information in the Children's
Aid Society document, the exploiting includes encouraging or
coercing the -- the abandonment of developmentally appropriate
autonomy through extreme over-inveolvement, intrusiveness and/or
dominance, and the -- for example, allowing little or no
opportunity for support for the child's views, feelings or
wishes, or micromanaging the child's life.

Q. Thank you.

A. So I have that in mind when I'm responding to
your questions about particular examples.

Q. Thank you. I'd like to ask you some
questions now about sustained abuse and the characteristics of
the class members as a group and -- and in the context of —- in
which the abuse occurred over time. This, Your Honour, is at
page 37 to 40 of Dr. Barnes' report. Dr. Barnes, can you
explain the relevant characteristics of the class members és a
group?

A. Well, the -—- the class members as a group all
attended and resided at Grenville Christian College during their
years of primary and/or secondary school, and some were also the
children of parents who were emploYed at Grenville Christian
College and lived on the school property. All of these
individuals were thus subject to and reliant upon the authority,
beliefs and practices of the GCC staff during their childhood
and/or adolescent years. This is particularly important because
these years are critical to psychological development,
relational attachment and thus to the individual's developmental
trajectory in later life.

Q. What is psychological development?

A. Psychological development is —— refers to the
maturation process that's understood as a progression through a

series of stages that begin at birth, progress hierarchically
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A. Well, it's not the totality that's the
criteria for the definition. These are examples. So, the —-
the examples are just to give an idea of the scope of the
definition but it's not necessary for all of the aspects that
are cited in the examples to be present in a particular instance
of exploiting.

Q. And I'm suggesting to you that mass preaching
on views regarding sexuality and sexual orientation is hardly
exploitive of any particular student, is it?

A. Mass preaching on sexuality or sexual
orientation..:.

Q. Right. It's hardly exploitive, I'm
suggesting, of any particular student.

A. Well, again, it depends on what was said, on

the context in which it was said. It's -- I mean, that's kind

of a —— it's kind of a general statement that —-— that you've

made and I'm not sure how to respond to it.

Q. I'm asking you if you agree or not that mass
lectures or preaches, sermons on views regarding sexuality and

sexual orientation is not exploitive under this definition, in

fairness.

A. Whether it's exploitive or not would depend
on what was said, the timing, the —-- who said it, what was —-—
yeah. So, without knowing those details, it's hard to —— it's

hard to say.

Q. And prohibiting relations between the
opposite sex is hardly -- hardly fits fairly within the overall
definition of exploiting, does it?

A, It fits within the definition of

micromanaging or interfering with developmentally important

kinds of tasks or activities, so in my view, it does fit with

the definition of exploiting, depending of course always on the
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would say are still fairly common in my industry.

Q. How were the rules enforced?

A. T think the first level of intervention would
have been reminders. You know the average classroom had its
share of paper airplanes and messages, or students talking, or
whatnot and so the first level of intervention would have been
just please stop that, or whatever else. There is a means to
remove students from class if they were being highly disruptive.
There was a high school office. There's a principal to deal
with things academic, behaviour or otherwise. There was running
in the morning if you were —- if you were frequently late for
example at getting out of bed, or at getting out of the dorm, or
if you were —- if your room was continuously messy, it's
possible that the dean would assign you running in the morning
at 5:30 or something like that.

Q. And did you ever have to run in the morning?

A. T did.

Q. Okay.

A Why, I think only —-- only a few times in
grade 11 before I got the message to wake up.

Q. Okay. And was it your sense that there was a
policy of progressive discipline at Grenville?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And was it similar to the kind of
progressive discipline that you see in your school board today?

A. There -- there are absolutely conditions that
were nothing like the modern education system of the Ministry of
Education for Ontario. There's no —— I wouldn't say they were
alike, in a sense that they —-- there was a —— what be called a
pyramid on intervention. We still absolutely have those.
However, what those interventions are, give a recording to

student need and also modern understandings and values.
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Q. But Her Honour doesn't, so I have to ask the
question.

A. Okay.

Q. Was there -- was there -—- were you at a
chapel assembly at which Mr. Hale-Byrne would have also been in
attendance where you claimed to be'possessed or infected by the
devil and were sick to your stomach, and Father Farnsworth
performed an exorcism on you to cast out the demons? Did that
happen?

A. I think that's a little bit of
mischaracterization of that event and even a reversal of the
order of things. I remember Andrew there, but that said there
were a bunch of people in that room. I know Kevin Gordon was in
there with me, who's another classmate. There's no question
that that -- that night when we went to the chapel, we were
asked to go to the chapel. I wasn't sure why. We got in there
and there was —-— there were prayers to sort of rid ourselves of
evil, as it were and there's no questicn that I had some type of
physiological effect. I remember Kevin telling me afterwards
that he saw my whole back break out in sweat and I -— I was —— I

was definitely faint and fell down.

Q. Mm—hmm.

A. And it was -—- it freaked me out frankly. It
was not -- it was a really uncanny thing that took place. I...

Q. Did —-- had Father Farnsworth come over and —-—

and direct any of his activities to you specifically at any time
during that chapel session?

A. Certainly the event in question was not
directed at me. When I began to feel faint and burst out in
sweat, I seem to remember Farnsworth coming over and saying, you
know leave him, he's —-— he's dealing with his demons and stuff

like that, but I don't —— I was —— I was never struck on the
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head, ox something like that, no. I — I was -—- so something
took place. I still am at odds to explain it. I have...

Q. Wait a minute. I'm not...

A. ...looked into that.

Q. ...some -- sorry go ahead.

A. Well, when I got to Grenville I had an awful
lot of insecurities. I was bearing a lot of guilt. I was
bearing a lot of anger, a lot of resentment. I had a lot going
on and I was holding onto a lot of it and I think that -- that
session served for me —- and I want to be clear. I don't think
a demon was cast out of me whatsoever. I think that that
provided, intentionally, or not a rite of passage for me at a
time when I needed to let go of a lot of things. And I think
letting go of that became physiological. I have no other
explanation for his...

Q. My question is, did father Farnsworth direct
any of his prayers or other activities that were part of that
session at your specifically that day?

A. After I had'begun to sweat and feel faint, I

. think he asked the others to pray for me.

Q. And that was it?
A. Yeah, it was definitely after the fact.

...Discussions about scheduling
RECESS
UPON RESUMTING:
MR. BOGHOSIAN: Q. Mr. Bergeron, were you ever

disciplined at Grenville for looking too happy or smiling too

much?
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people behind doors that were none of my concern.

Q. Okay. So, do you ever remember him talking
about bad attitude? '

A. Yes.

Q. Being haughty, H-A-U-G...

A. Oh yes. '

Q. ... H-T=Y?

A. Oh yes.

Q. That —— that was a big one was it?

A. Haughty was a big word.

Q. Okay. And rebellious?

A. Yes.

Q. And -- and sins they'd committed?

A. Yes.

Q. And sometimes even sins they in their mind or
their spirit?

A. Yes.

Q. Not actual real sins they did, but thinking
about sins I'm taking it? '

A. Yes, that might fall under attitude, yes.

Q. Attitude okay. And I take it when this
happened the people that were stood up they looked

uncomfortable?

A. Oh yes, you would not want to be in the
spotlight.

Q. Right. And I was just going to ask you, that
was my next question. You —-- you -- you watching them, I take

you felt sorry for them?

A. On a few occasions I did. As I said I had —-
I had -- I have the relations with Beth and I've lost touch with
Beth Bushnell, but I was —— I considered her a friend. We had a

good relationship and whenever she was called out, I did not
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dining room people to address issues of discipline or attitude
or behaviour?

A. No, definitely nothing more serious than what
I would I regard as table manners in front of the entire school.

Q. Okay. And were there occasions when the
whole student body would be éummons to the chapel, aside from
regular prayer or religious services?

A. I don't recall that being a regular activity.
I can't eliminate that that happened at some point during the 14
years that I was there but I would say that would be unusual.

Q. Okay. Any thought on how often that might
have happened in your high school years per year?

A. I mean I don't recall any specific incidents
like that at all from my high school career.

Q. Okay. Now, what can you tell me about the
rules at Grenville? '

A. The -- I'm sorry the?

Q. The rules.

A. The rules at Grenville?

Q. Aside from comportment and manners that we've
talked about, what were the rules?

A. Grenville had rules. There were rules about
what you're allowed to wear. About how to comport yourself.
About how to dress. There were rules that said that there was
no exclusive dating relationships between boys and girls. There
were rules about what sort of music you could listen to. Now
the internet didn't'really exist back then but there were
probably rﬁles about the content consumption, one can say, about
what was sort of fit to be consumed of popular culture.

Q. And what about —-- rules regarding things like
smoking, drinking or drugs?

A. That's true. There were rules against the
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prohibited to smoke or to drink or to use drugs.

Q. And where the rules made known?

A. Yes. |

Q. And what -- can you help me as to what the
system was, if any, regarding addressing breaches of the rules?

A. So I'd say the rules were there and known and
not enforced arbitrarily, so if you broke one of the rules then
you would probably be —-- you know that would be brought to your
attention and there would be a potentially escalating level of
discipline that would be applied. For example, getting a
talking to about -- ébout what you were or were not supposed to
do, to being placed on discipline and I use that as like a
formal noun, Discipline with a capital D, to a suspension or
expulsion, I suppose.

Q. And what -- what did discipline consist of?

A. So discipline was the mechanism where you
would -- you know, if you broke a rule, would be taken out of
classes and wear casual clothes as opposed to the school
uniform, which you would wear, and you would be assigned to some
sort of chore, let's call it, for the period of time that you
were on discipline.

Q. And what was the -— what if any restrictions
were there in terms of who you could speak to when you were on
discipline? ‘

A. Well, you were -— if you were a boarding
student you often slept in a different area, I think, I'm trying
to remember that. And so you certainly weren't in contact with
the regular student body because you weren't in classes, you ate
separately and in some cases I think you slept in a separate
area as well.

0. And the uniform, would the —— would the

uniform be worn at any time when you were on D or was it all
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student and paid the school fees as stated below. And just look
at the line, September 1986 to June 1987 and you'll see that the
amount prescribed there is $3,400. Do you see that?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. Yeah. And that is less than what we just
looked at tab 397

A. It appears to be.

MS. LOMBARDI: If I could just have thisAexhibit

marked for identification persons only. I

believe we had the author of the document, who

will be a witness later on?

THE COURT: Any issue with this?

MR. ADAIR: No, Your Honour.

THE COURT: So we'll make it Exhibit A.

EXHIBIT NUMBER A: Letter September 1986 to June

1987 — produced and marked.

MS. LOMBARDI: Q. You said in your testimony
earlier today that‘Grenville was a school of strict rules and
behaviour, correct?

A. I would say it was more strict than the
average school, correct.

Q. Did you attend any other school?

A. I did attend another school for a few months
in grade nine.

Q. And what school was that?

A. B.C.C. Like probably Brockville —— I don't
know -- Collegiate, High School. I'm not sure what....

Q. And so you said for a few months? Was it for
a full semester or....

A. No, it wasn't even for a full semester. It
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was on the order of about a month.

Q. A month. And why did you attend B.C.C.I.?

A. It was because —-- I think at the time there
was controversy about whether or not it would be possible to be
a day student, versus a boarding student.

Q. In grade nine?

A. Right.  Right.

Q. And then that presumably got worked out after
a month and you went back to Grenville as a day student for many
more years before you boarded?

A. For, I think three more years because I
boarded. '

Q. Right. Okay.

A. Yeah.

Q. And so compared to those, I guess, few weeks
that you had at B.C.C.I. did Grenville seem like it was more
strict than B.C.C.I.? Is that fair?

A. I didn't wear a uniform and there appeared to
be less restrictions on interactions between boys and girls,
yes.

Q. Less interactions between boys and girls?

A. Less restrictions on interactions.

Q. Less restrictions, I see. And that was —--
that was definitely something that was restricted at Grenville.
Boys and girls were not allowed....

A. Exclusive dating relationships, correct.

Q. Were they allowed unexclusive dating
relationship?

A. You were allowed to be friends with girls, of
course.

Q. But were you allowed to date girls?

A. No, no, you weren't allowed to date girls,
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that's correct.

Q. No dating at all? Right. And you talked a
little bit about discipline about the fact that students were
removed from class. They wouldn't be wearing their school
uniform, pardon me, for the time that they were on D?

A. Correct, D with a -- discipline with a
capital D, correct.

Q. Discipline with a capital D, exactly. And
they'd be assigned various Work duties around the school?

A. Yes. That did happen to me.

Q. And we'll get to that in a minute but in
terms of what happened to others, would you sometimes see as
you're walking from class to class or walking through campus,
some’ fellow student on discipline maybe doing something outside?

A. Yes, definitely.

Q. Yes. And you wouldn't go up and approach

that individual to strike up a conversation?

No.
Q. It was —-— it was a rule, you left those kids
on D alone?
A. Yeah, I think -— I don't -— I can't —— I

don't know it's like if you say it was an explicit rule or just
that it was the general practice but it seemed to be that
everybody understood that you didn't interact with the kids who
were on D.

Q0. It wasn't a written rule, it was Jjust, as you
said, something that everyone understcod to be the case?

A. Yeah, I'm not sure if it was in the handbook
or not but I think people understood it.

Q. Okay. And there were more rules than just
those that were in a handbook, that's fair to say as well, isn't

it?
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being disciplined for lusting after women?

A. Again, so we're talking about discipline with
a capital D or what are we talking about just....

Q. Well, let's start with discipline with a
capital D. Were you ever disciplined with a capital D for the
crime of lusting after a woman?

A. No.

Q. Were you ever disciplined with a small cap D
for lusting after women? |

A. No.

Q. No. Were you ever disciplined, we'll say
both Ds here, small and large, for being rebellious?

A. Uhmm -- no, I don't think so.

Q. We spoke a little bit ago now about the fact
that dating wasn't allowed at Grenville.

A. Sure.

Q. So I take it you didn't have a girlfriend
while you were at Grenville, is that correct?

A. To my deep regret, I did not.

Q. You did not. Did you have any special
relationships with girls at Grenville?

No.

Do you know an Elizabeth'Sheppard?

Yes.

Was she just a friend of yours at Grenville?
She is a friend of mine, yes.

. It wasn't a special relationship?

No.

o ® O » KO » O

So there was no discipline that would have
resulted to you from that relationship with Elizabeth?
A. No, we were friends but there weren't rules

against being friends.
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going to be the husband and wife of the Snures, the Farnsworths
and the Haigs. So, the Snures, the Farnsworths and the Haigs,
the men were pastors and they each had a wife and so those were
to be our authorities. They said not...

THE CQURT: Sorry, I can't - you said. The

names, the Snures?

THE WITNESS: Snures?

THE COURT: Snures.

THE WITNESS: S—-N-U-R-E-S.

THE COURT: Thank you.

THE WITNESS: But they didn't stay very long.

THE COURT: Okay, thank you.

THE WITNESS: The Farnsworths and the Haigs.

THE COURT: Sorry to interrupt, thank you.

MS. LOMBARDI: That's okay.

A. They said that we'd not just needed
authorities, but we had to commit to being completely, totally
obedient to those authorities. They told us they didn't think
our way of worship was good. We were kind of a charismatic free
worship group. They told us we needed to be - they were
Episcopalian, so that would be Anglican in Canada and we needed
to change our worship. The biggest thing that they told us is
that we had to learn to live honestly and openly with each
other. So, there was a...

MR. ADAIR: Pardon? 7

MS. LOMBARDI: Honestly and openly.

A. Honestly and openly.

MR. ADAIR: Thank you.

THE WITNESS: There was a lot of unhappiness and

when you're unhappy, you talk about each other,

so there was a lot of back biting and talking so

they said that has to stop. You have to learn to
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confront each other and you have to learn to live
in the light, which was basically share what you
felt with each other. And they taught us about
how to live in the light which was through light
sessions which was confronting each other with
our faults and our sins and our weaknesses. And
then, you know, they went on to explain what that
meant that, that's how you grow in Christ. That
you see yourself as a sinner, you confess your
sin, you repent and that forces you or pushes you
into a state with God that is good.
MS. LOMBARDI: Q. So, can you describe for us
what one of these light sessions was like?
A. Sure. Well, the earlier ones when the
Mothers first came, we just had a lot of feelings about each
other, so we just sat down and shared them. I would say how I
felt about somebody. They'd say how they felt about me, clear
the air. Even by before the time they left, we had learned that
I would say to somebody, I think you're haughty. I think you're
full of yourself. I think you are jealous. I think you're an
adulteress with your children and in a light session, which we
learned at that retreat, everybody would then jump in and say
yes. And we would even be taught that one person would be kind
of in the hot seat and everybody in the room would tell them
their sin. And it would be - it wouldn't be the same sin from
everybody. They'd cover the whole - everything that you can be
and do wrong. Light sessions often ended in the person being
sent away to try to see their sin because they didn't see it in
when they were in the group. So, they'd be sent away to pray
and try to come to the end of themselves and be sorry and
repent.

Q. And about how many - how often did these
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light sessions happen? ,

A. There was official light sessions every -
once or twice a week with small groups. There were big group
light sessions with all the staff. There were daily light
sessions with anybody who wanted to say something to somebody
else, they'd grab a friend and they'd pull you in a room and
tell you what they thought about you.

Q. And so, I'm just going to show you another
document now and this also come from Exhibit 1 to the motion,
tab 18. If we could have the copies of those? Do you recognize
this document?

A. Mm-hmm.

Q. Can you tell us what it is?

A. It was — I don't know what year. It says it
right here, '85. It was the light sessions that we were
assigned to during the period of time in that year and the times
that we were supposed to meet.

Q. I'd like to mark this as the next exhibit.

COURT REGISTRAR: Exhibit Number 7.

THE COURT: Okay. '

EXHIBIT NUMBER 7: Light Group assignment - -

produced and marked.

THE COURT: Also, I wonder if this would be an
opporfune to take a short health break?

MS. LOMBARDI: Sure, that would be fine, thank
you.

THE COURT: All right, so we'll take five to ten

minutes.

RECESS
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help us understand. I'll just keep asking questions because I
can't seem to find the document quite yet. If I do, I'll put it
to you, but I'm just trying to understand, when you say you
liVed - it was attached to the school?

A. So, there was a main building.

Q. Yes.

A. Which was administration and classrooms. To
the left of the building, attached to it, was a gymnasium and an
auditorium. To the right of that building attached to it was a
girls' dormitory and then staff apartments. So, they were all
attached. You didn't have to go outside.

' Q. And so, you could travel from your — your
staff residences right through to where the students were living
as well?

A. Yes, yes.

Q. Okay, thank'you. So, we've reviewed the
various tools of the community. We talked about admonishment,
chastising. You described some light groups and how they work.
Can you - one of the underlying or something that's repeated
anyways 1is obedience. How - how was obedience enforced or given
at Grenville? To whom did you owe obedience as a - as a member
of this community while living at Grenville? Your vows say
Mother Cay and Judy.

A. So, we were obedient to the pastors, the -
the group of six and then later the group of four and then
later, the two. Everything they told you to do, you did.

Q. Can you give me an example?

A. I can give lots of examples. What kind of
examples do you want? I mean one that stands out to me that
I've always struggled with is we had two seventh grade girls
living with us for reasons that they had struggles in the dorm.

One was a bed wetter, the other one I'm not sure what her issues
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were, but she just wasn't going well and Charles Farnsworth was
just tired of the fact that they weren't changing and so he
calls me up and he says, Joan send them to middle school, which

would have been a normal high school uniform. Send them in an

.elementary uniform in their - in their smock or jumper and put a

sign on them that says "I refuse to grow up." So, that would be
obedience. I said no, and he said yes and I ended up in
trouble, but I also ended up being obedient because I was vowed
to be obedient. So, I sent these two little girls to eidhth
grade in an elementary school uniform with a sign that said "I
refuse to grow up."

Q. And just to be clear, the other students in
the eighth grade are wearing a different uniform?

A. They're wearing a high school uniform which
would have been a kilt and a blouse. It was - it was complete
obedience and, you know, whatever they told you to do, you did.

Q. And what would happen if you didn't obey?

A. I was the one who often fought it. It would
always end up in me being put on some sort of discipline.

Q; You yourself were disciplined?

A. Oh, yes.

Q. 8o, can you give me an example of discipline
that you would have received?

A. I mean, there were lots of ways that staff
were disciplined. You might immediately be moved to a different
house. So, if I did something that seemed very wrong or was,
you know, I'm not submissive as I should be, I would be told to
go home and pack my bags and everything I have. Not your

furniture, you had to leave that where you were, and go live

‘with somebody else who would then be in light sessions with you

every spare minute until you changed. Or a staff member might

be disciplined by having their salary cut even though it had



10

15

20

25

30

Page 91 of 600

121.

Joan Childs - in-Ch.
(Ms. Lombardi)

nothing to do with their ability as - in their job. It would
just be a way to discipline them. You might be disciplined by
being put on silence. There was a time, again, I did something
where I wasn't submissive quickly enough and I wasn't allowed to
speak to my husband unless there was somebody else around. So,
in our bedroom, in our house, we couldn't talk to each other.
And we had to report on each other if we did talk. And the...

Q. And who were you reporting to in this

instance?

A. To the Haigs and the Farnsworths.
_ Q. I see and they were the ones that implemented
this... '

A. Yes.

Q. ...punishment.

A. And we'd be obedient because we honestly
thought this was a good way to live as much as it was hard and
impbssible, we still thought it was the way we were supposed to
live.

Q. Okay. Can I take yoﬁ to another document?
This would be Exhibit 1 in the joint book of exhibits. And that
would be tab 36. Do you recognize this document? Do you know
what it is? "

A. That's a newsletter that we put out
periodically.

Q. OCkay. And can you read the title of the
first article in this newsletter that's dated December 19797

A. "Obedience Changes Attitudes.”

0 And who is that...

A. By Reverend J. Alastair Haig, headmaster.

Q Haig. And the - the story is - starts on
this first page of the newsletter, but it continues on the

fourth page. So, if I could ask you to just turn to the very



10

15

20

25

30

124.

Joan Childs - in-Ch.
(Ms. Lombardi)

the reasons why we thought this ‘life must be good. We got out
of debt. We got lots ¢f students. The place cleaned up. We
got a good - had a good reputation, so all of that - all of that
was different. I mean especially getting out of debt because we
were deep in debt when the Méthers came and then suddenly, we're
making money. We thought the students were happy. They seemed
to be happy. It was a completely different atmosphere. The
staff - the staff, we - you know we live this hard life, but we
thought it was a good hard life. We thought that this living in
the light was good and so we felt that that everything had
changed for the better.

Q. And that's - was this something that you were
— you were doing with the students as well...

A. Yes.

Q. ...living in the light and - and these
approaches?

.. .OBJECTION BY MR. ADAIR

MS. LOMBARDI: TI'll rephrase the question.

Q. In this document, Mr. Haig in this article
says, as a result, "the whole school changed its direction, its
philosophy; its discipline; its spirit and atmosphere.™ Can you
give us any examples about the - in the ways in which discipline
changed from the Berean days?

A. Yes. We were — we did the same things with
the students that we did with ourselves. It was direct
confrontation. So, if we felt a student had a bad spirit, if we
felt that they were doing the same sins that we were learning to
look at like, you know, being haﬁghty, being jealous, trying to
be the centre of attention. We would - we would speak to them
about it. We would use those terms. We would say, you know,

you're full of yourself. You're - you're making this - yourself

Page 92 of 600
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the centre and you shouldn't be. That's not good. That's not
the way you're supposed to live. So, we incorporated that sense
into our discipline with them. We - you know, I don't know that
we would call it a light session, but we would -~ if there was a
bad attitude in the student body, we'd call all the students
together and we'd speak to that attitude and say there's
something wrong here. You all need to look at yourselves and
see how you're a part of the problem.

Q. Okay. I would like to show you another
document and it also comes from Exhibit 1 of the motion. Tab 3,

if I could have these copies and then my friend can follow

along.
THE COURT: And counsel wanted to raise a matter
with me, so this I think shéuld be our last
document for this witness for the afternoon and
then we'll....
MS. LOMBARDI: Thénk you, Your Honour.
THE COURT: We'll - we'll deal with this
document.
MR. ADAIR: 1I'm sorry, which document are we at
now? Apologies.
MS. LOMBARDI: Three.
MR. ADAIR: Three.
MS. LOMBARDI: Q. Do you recognize this
document?

A.' I recognize the name Geshri Talerham and I
recognize that we put together about students.

Q. Okay. 1I'd like to mark this as the next
exhibit if I may.

COURT REGISTRAR: Exhibit Number 8.

THE COURT: Just, any objection?

MR. BOGHOSIAN: Well, Your Honour, she's not the
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report to?

A. Charles. v

Q. Was anyone reporting to you in any of the
roles that -- that you had?

A. Yes. So, as Director of Studies, the
teachers would all report to me. As a guidance counsellor, they
wouldn't report to me, but I would get reports from them about,
you know, student needs and things like that. As
vice-principal, again teachers would report to me.

THE COURT: Sorry. Would you repeat that? I

couldn't hear it.

THE WITNESS: As vice-principal, teachers would

report to me. But there would be -—- have to take

this further, as one of the A-team administrator,

a lot of staff would report to me. They —— they

would have to write reports or call in reports on

every light session, every issue that they were

dealing with with another -- another staff
member.
So, Charles was very —— he wanted to know details

about everything. So, if there was something

going on with a staff member, he would expect me

to get a report about them either from their
spouse or their -- even their older kids, from

friends, from who they lived with, and then I

would pass those reports on to Charles.

MS. LOMBARDI: Q. And so, just so that we
understand, this —-- this reporting on staff, was it reporting in
regards to that staff members roles and responsibilities at
the... ‘

A. No.
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report to?

A. Charles. A

Q. Was anyone reporting to you in any of the
roles that —- that you had?

A. Yes. BSo, as Director of Studies, the
teachers would all report to me. As a guidance counsellor, they
wouldn't report to me, but I would get reports from them about,
you know, student needs and things like that. As
vice-principal, again teachers would report to me.

THE COURT: Sorry. Would you repeat that? I

couldn't hear it.

THE WITNESS: As vice-principal, teachers would

report to me. But there would be -- have to take

this further, as one of the A-team administrator,

a lot of staff would report to me. They —-— they

would have to write reports or call in reports on

every light session, every issue that they were

dealing with with another -- another staff
member.
So, Charles was very —— he wanted to know details

about everything. So, if there was something

going on with a staff member, he would expect me

to get a report about them either from their
spouse or their —-— even their older kids, from

friends, from who they lived with, and then I

would pass those reports on to Charles.

MS. LOMBARDI: Q. And so, just so that we
understand, this —- this reporting on staff, was it reporting in
regards to that staff members roles and responsibilities at
the...

A. No.



10

15

20

25

30

Page 96 of 600

152,

Joan Childs - in-Ch.
(Ms. Lombardi)

Yes, I do.

Q. How is it that you recognize this document?

A. All of the staff would have been given this
document, but I don't know a date on it. 1In my role, I would
have been part of looking at this document and adding to it or
subtracting from it because that's one of the things we did in
administration.

I'm not sure in terms of the process if I should
make this the next exhibit, if that's sufficient, or....

THE COURT: 1It's an exhibit, so you're fine, and

Mr. Adair's not on his feet so you can keep

going.

MS. LOMBARDI: Okay, perfect.

Q. So, going back to the qguestion, what is bad
attitudes referring to?

A. It would be this...

MR. ADAIR: Excuse me. The objection was does

the witness have any idea.

MS. LOMBARDI: Q. Do you know what bad attitudes
were, Ms. Childs?

MR. ADAIR: Well, that's a different question.

MS. LOMBARDI: Thank you.

THE COURT: 1It's fine, continue.

THE WITNESS: Bad attitudes with students would

be the same as bad attitudes with staff. It

would be a haughtiness, a full of yourself, a

thinking you're the best at something, lack of

submissiveness or a lack of submissive attitude

towards a staff member, anything that looked like

you weren't just happily obeying the spirit of

what it was like to be at Grenville. It could be

putting on a little tinge of lipstick and
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somebody noticing it. It could be not wearing

your uniform properly. It would be anything that

just didn't look perfect. '

MS. LOMBARDI: Q. And how were those things
determined to be bad attitudes, or, sorry, bad behaviours?

A. Ask again, please.

Q. Sorry. How were those things determined to
be —— to be bad, to use the term in the document? Who
determined that those were bad?

A. They were the rules that students were
expected to follow. There were handbooks that told rules.

There were unwritten rules that we just all knew. This is the
way it was supposed to be.

Q. Sorry, what were the unwritten rules? Can
you give examples?

A. Sure. Kids weren't supposed to develop close
friendships with either girls or boys and if it looked like they
were getting too close, that was supposed to be unhealthy or it
felt it was unhealthy and so they would get in trouble for that.
Prefects were expected to be perfect. Staff kids were expected
to be perfect, perfect meaning that they would always wear their
uniform properly. They would be expected to report on anything
they saw in a student or in a student body that didn't quite
feel right. They -—- an unwritten rule was don't be too good at
something. If you're too good at something, you're going to end
up being pulled from it.

An example of that would be a student would be
chosen to be the lead in a Gilbert and Sullivan performance and
a month or two weeks before it was time for it to be performed,
after months of practice, they would be pulled out of it because
it wasn't good for them to be doing so well, and so somebody

else, usually a staff member, was put in their place for the
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each student will conform to the
spirit of the school family.
Where behaviour or attitude is
seen to place the spirit in
jeopardy, appropriate
disciplinary action will be

taken.

Q. What can you tell us about the spirit of the
school family? What is that?

A. That would be following all the rules that
are outlined in the -- in the handbooks and the unwritten rules
that I mentioned earlier. Fitting in, looking good, acting
appropriately.

Q. And so, what were the behaviours considered
to jeopardize that spirit?

A. Well, behaviours that were latent would be
things like sneaking away to smoke, bringing alcohol on campus,
drinking off of campus, wearing a uniform improperly, being
caught without the proper uniform on, having a boy/girl
relationship, getting caught in a sexual encounter, those would
be the big things.

Q0. And what were the attitudes that were
considered to jeopardize the spirit?

A. Those would be ones I've spoken of before.
Haughtiness, not being —- looking or acting submissive to
somebody in authority over you, just having an air of being
important, things like that.

Q. And what the appropriate disciplinary action
to be taken if the attitudes or behaviours occur?

A. So, there were degrees of discipline. A

student, for instance, who would be stealing or —— or smoking or
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something like that, they often would be suspended and sent
home. If that happened more than once, they might be expelled.
If they had what was called internal discipline, the typical
thing would be that they were taken out of uniform. They would
eat separately. They'd be put -- they'd be taken out of
classes. They would be given work assignments. They would be
-~ they would sleep separately in the dormitory with a staff
supervisor or in a special room in the dorm. That would be your
typical thing. And that discipline might be three days,
typically three days, but I know there were students who were on
discipline for weeks sometimes.

MR. ADAIR: For what?.

THE WITNESS: For what.

MR. ADAIR: Weeks?

MS. LOMBARDI: Q. Weeks?

A. Yes.

Q. So, maybe before we leave that document, if
you can just turn to the very last page of the document. It's a
diagram. Does this diagram reasonably reflect the layout of the
campus of Grenville Christian College?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay, thank you. So, keeping that document
up, yesterday you mentioned, or you told us rather, that prior
to the staff residences being built, if we can see on this
document, at the far right of the document, it's a staff
apartment, where were the trailers located on the campus when
you were living in the trailers?

A. They would be to the left of the tennis
courts.

Q. Thank you. 1I'd like to take you now to
Exhibit 1, Tab 71 of the Joint Exhibit Book.

A. Can you say again where is in this book I
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A. Bathing suits are to be lined, preferably
with cuffs and be modest in appearance. No high cut legs or
Speedo type suits are acceptable. Dressier clothing for Sundays
and special occasions must be below the knee and not longer than
mid-calf. They should not have slits or open pleats above the
knee and be neither too tight not too loose with no low-cut
necklines front or back. A full slip or camisole and half-slip
must be worn with dresses and skirts. Briefs must be regular
waist style with no hip cover or bikiﬁi types. Bras must be
supportive. The thin tri-cut types are not acceptable since
they are inadequate during sports such as basketball,
volleyball, et cetera. Nightwear may be knee or full-length
gowns or pajamas. T-shirts, undershirts, boxer shorts, or track
suits are not acceptable sleepwear.

Q. And, sorry, the final paragraph as well.

A. Oh, I'm sorry. "No makeup is worn with a
school uniform but tastefully applied light makeup is permitted
with other outfits. No heavy makeup or gaudy Jjewellery -—-—
jewellery is permitted..." That last line is....

A. Clear enough.

Q. Okay. Who created these rules around dress
code, girls' dress and appearance?

A. Charles.

Q. Why are girls' briefs being prescribed?

A. Because Charles was obsessed with girls and
women and everything about them. As parents, we were not
allowed to buy our children anything —-— you know, we could buy
no bikini underwear or anything like that. It was just i have
to call it an obsession with him. |

Q. And how were these dress regulations
enforced?

A. It was in the dress code and periodically at
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MR. ADAIR: Exhibit 1 on the motion.

MS. LOMBARDI: No, the Joint Exhibit Book.

MR. ADAIR: Okay. Tab 237

MS. LOMBARDI: Yes. If I could just have a

moment, Your Honour. We can actually close that.

THE COURT: O©h, all right.

MS. LOMBARDI: I'm going to move on from that

question.

Q. What types of discipline were employed at
Grenville during your time there?

A. Suspension, expulsion, internal discipline
where you were taken out of uniform, did not get to go to
classes, did not get to eat with the other students, slept
separately, did menial tasks, paddles, silence. A lot of
silence discipline. Student would not be allowed to talk to
anybody unless they were spoken to first. That could go on for
days.

Q. So, you mentioned the paddle. Who -- in what
instances would the paddle be used for discipline?

A. You know, it was -- Charles was in charge of
the paddle. He had it under his desk. He loved his paddle. He
would take it out and he'd hand it to the Dean of Men and say
this calls for a paddling, and it could be anything. It could
be a major thing, or it could be just an attitude nothing.

Q. Was there a policy in place respecting the
use of corporal punishment at Grenville?

A. No.

Q. Was there a policy in place respecting the
implementation of the other forms discipline that you've just
told us about?

A. I don't know that you could say that there
was a policy because it changed. It changed depending upon how
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Charles felt about that student.

Q. Do you have any knowledge about how parents
would have responded or reacted fo the discipline imposed at
Grenville?

A, Yes. At —— every once in a while a parent
would come and ask to talk to us about a discipline that was
done with their child and there was a period of time where we
did a parental survey where we sent a survey home to parents
which covered many things, and discipline was one of them, and
we received comments back from them.

Q. Okay. Well, why don't we turn up that
survey, which is at Exhibit 1, the Joint Exhibit Book, Tabs 47
and 49. So, ‘first let's start with 47. Is this what you were
referring to when you said survey?

A. Yes.

Q. And it's dated April, 1987, titled
Questionnaire for Parents. And at Tab 49, if we could just turn
that up also at the same time. Do you recognize this document?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. And what is this document?

A. This is a summary of the criticisms from
parents' questionnaire.

Q. Okay. And can I ask you to read the
highlighted portions on that first page?

A. Under Christian Teaching, "Feel the children
should be able to share their feelings without being told they
are rebellious when they get sick of rules."

Another one, Don't understand reasoning behind
having children tattle. Under Discipline, More acknowledgment
for positive behaviour rather than punishment for negative
behaviour.

Here more from children than from the school.
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Children feel discipline is too strict.

Feels there is not communication re discipline.

When a student or group of students do something
wrong, the student body as a whole should not be chastised or
made to feel they are to blame.

Heard staff children exiled to community as
disciplinary measure.

Feels that if they don't conform, they are exiled
and feels this is appalling.

Feels it will stump their adult lives.

Agree with discipline but have not been advised
adequately of the measures and approach adopted.

Feel children should be prompted by the Holy
Spirit to confess things and not have any external pressure to
do this. Creates anxiety.

Q. Thank you. And if we could turn to the third
rage of this document, and if you would -- if you would read the
first highlighted section there.

A. ™"Don't think groups should be punished for
misdemeanours of a few. Don't approve of one student informing
on- another. No mercy."

Q. Maybe just so you don't have to keep reading,
I'1l read you some other passages.

This is attributed to Morris
(Adrian). I wonder if the
application of a system of rules
mitigates against development of
initiative. Do Grenville grads
go on to be independent minded
people who know what they

believe and why.
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Q. In what ways were these assemblies differént
or the same to the light sessions that the Grenville community,
the Grenville staff members participated in?

A. Grenville's light sessions major ones were a
little bit more intense. You know, I remember somebody having a
glass of water thrown in their face. Another person actually
was told to stand on their head, which I can't remember why.
People —— I was going to say I remember somebody being slapped
across the face, but that was me, and I don't know that that was
a —— a light session that was —— I questioned the student's
schedule. I was fighting for the staff to be able to -— no, the
staff schedule. I was fighting for the staff to be able to have
study time during the summer and instead we were told they had
to work all day, all summer, and study at night, and I said can
we please change that and I was called to the front and slapped
across the face by Mary Haig for not being submissive and
questioning her in public.

So, I —— I don't remember in kind of regular
staff sessions, big group staff sessions, people being hit. So,
we didn't -— we didn't hit anybody in those school ones. We
didn't throw things in their face. We just yelled at them and
humiliated them.

Q. What can you tell us, if anything, about
Grenville's view on illness? _

A. 1Illness? I think we learned this in the
Community of Jesus right from the start is illness is sick —— 1is
sin. |

Q. Can you give me an example?

A. I can only give personal examples. One of my
daughters was sick for months, throwing up, coughing, coughing,
throwing up, and it was deemed to be sin, and they would talk to

her, I think she was probably seventh or eighth grade, tell her
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testing?

A. There was a period of time, I guess it says
'87, that the aids issue was hitting the news and I expect it
came from the Community of Jesus but I know it came from Charles
that, you know, we should not allow students into the school
unless they have a aids test. And so, we set a policy that said
every student had to be tested and have a negative test in order
for them to be admitted to the school.

MS. LOMBARDI: Thank you. This is a convenient

time for the court to take a break.

THE COURT: Sure. So, we'll take the lunch break

until 2:30.

RECEZSS
UPON RESUMING:

MS. LOMBARDI: Thank you. Q. Before we left for the
break, we were looking at Exhibit Book 1, Tab 52. And you told
us before the break that you knew this was the policy on testing
aids, and so I just want to continue on with some questions
there. Do you know when or how long this policy was in place at
Grenville?

A. I don't remember the year. Well, it says '87
on here, so I guess it was '87, and I think it was a couple of
years or a few years, but I don't know for sure and I don't know
why we stopped.

Q. Okay. Also, earlier this morning, you told
us that one of the expectations of the student was that they had
to report on other students' behaviours from time to time. And
80, what kinds of things were supposed to be reported?

A. What kind of things?
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Q. Yeah.

A. Anything that didn't fit in the spirit of
Grenville. 8o, it would be attitude. It would be....

Q. Well, what types of attitudes?

A. Again, not =-- not seeming submissive to a
prefect or a staff member, having a -- talking about a staff
member or about the administration or about school policy in a
negative way. I think negativity was a big one, Jjust not having
a positive way of talking about things. Complaining about food.
Complaining about some staff members who's running an activity.
Complaining that they didn't get their —-— the role they wanted
in a —- in a production. Just anything that wasn't just plain
positive and good.

Q. And so, what would —— what would happen?

What wag the impact of —— of not reporting on other students?

A. Oh, if you didn't report and it was found out
you knew, you could be —— it would be guilt by aésociation. You
would have the same discipline that they had. They would be put
on discipline and you'd be put on discipline too because it was
your responsibility to report it.

Q. One other matter that we spoke of this
morning, you told us about assemblies could last all day, and
possibly multiple days, and you gave us an estimation of five to
six of these happening.

A. So, I would take that back. I would say in a
year.

Q. In a year?

A. Yeah, they were a yearly occurrence.

Q. And just to clarify, the example that you
gave about the bed wetter, how long did that particular session
last?

A. ©Oh, that just happened in the dining room in
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hear that.
THE COURT: Exhibit 2, Tab 105.
MS. LOMBARDI: One-zero—-five.
MR. ADAIR: Okay. ‘
MS. LOMBARDI: Q. Do you have the document in
front of you?
Yes.
Do you know what this document is?
Yes.
And what is this document?
A, It was a letter that Ken MacNeil and I sent

LS L T

to alumni in 2000.

Q. And why did you write this letter?

A. We had been talking about and struggling with
the fact that we knew that we had gotten off track at Grenville
and we wanted the students to know that we were sorry.

Q. And when you say off track, what do you mean
by that?

A. That we were —— well, at that time, Ken and I
were both part of a community council which was the -- the group
that took over after Charles left, and for at least a year we
were studying books on abuse of churches and cults and we felt
after learning all about abusive organizations that we had been
an abusive organization. We had been meeting with staff members
and some alumni, especially staff kids' alumni, and hearing them
talk about things that had happened to them and we were
convicted [sic] that we had really done a lot of harm, a lot of
hurt over the years, and so we wanted to open that up to the
students and tell them we were sorry.

Q. Okay. I'm going to turn you to my file
documents and that is also found at Exhibit 2, Volume 2, Tab

Number 117. Are you familiar with document?
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Q. All right. And the - the - I guess what I'm
trying to get at is, when you talk about daily conversions, are
you talking about the same thing as "light sessions" or
"confrontations" among the group, where people would be subject
to criticism and have to - urged to do better and things like
that?

A. 8o the light sessions were a means to help
you to have a daily conversion...

Q. All right.

A. ...or numerous daily conversions.

Q. All right. And the - the - the people in the
community, I gather, having listened to this way of life and
come to understand it a little better - I gather that the
Mothers were there for a couple of weeks, right?

A. Two weeks.

Q0. And the people in the community decided that
they would embrace the principles?

A. Some did.

Q. Some of them.

A. Some left.

Q. Some left. Okay. But the ones that stayed
said "this sounds good," and ended up embracing the principles
put forward by Mothers Cay and Judy?

A. Basically. Some of us, at least I remember
for myself and our friends, we said "let's give it a year."

Q. Yes.

A. So we kind of did it - decided to do a test

year. ,

Q. All right. Without demeaning it in any way,
it was "sounds good" or "sounds appropriate," "let's give it a
try"?

A. Absolutely.
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Q. And from that day forward, I understand that
the community, as a whole, lived by and embraced those
principles in - in substance that had been put forward in 1973
and they did so right up until 1997 and after?

A. Yes.

Q. And as you indicated, this was an intense
lifestyle?

A. Yes.

Q. And it wouldn't take you long to figure that
out, right?

A. No, we knew that right away.

Q. Sure. And it was marked by a lot of hard
work, doing everything in the community, running the school,
focussing on religion, focussing on better - bettering yourself.
The daily life involved a lot of hard work, right?

A. Correct.

And it involved a lot of sacrifice?

Correct.

° o

And for example, the pay scale was pretty
minimal?

I earned $15 every week.

You got 15 a week?

I think it was 15, yes.

So you were well paid?

Definitely.

All right. And it involved strict obedience,

°© P oo

or the concept of strict obedience to your pastoral leaders?
A. Yes. ‘
Q. And you required pretty much permission for
everything?
A. Yes.
And you had to be modest in dress and

O
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appearance?
Very much so.

And conduct yourself with a good attitude?

?’OD’

Yes.

Q. And you were subject to these daily
conversions, light sessions, critical sessions where you'd be -
all your flaws as others saw them would be exposed and you'd be
urged to change?

A. Yes.

Q. And you could be subject to punishment?

A. Yes.

Q. And that punishment could be, what sounds to
me, could be appalling on occasion?

A. Yes.

Q. It would - it might include sending an adult
to live with another family?

A. Yes.

Q. It might include ripping the children away
from their own family? |

A. Always included that.

Q. Beg your pardon?

A. It always included that. ' Our children were
taken away from us at basically a young age.

Q. At a young age?

. A. Mm-hmm.

Q. All right. And they could be, for example,
children could be compelled to go and live with others in the
community?

A. Or sent to the Community of Jesus.

Q. Or sent to the Community of Jesus. So that
was the - a picture of the lifestyle?

A. Yes.

Page 110 of 600
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Correct.

But the kids, they didn't have a chance, did

1O

they?
Well they didn't choose it.
They what?

= 0 >

They didn't choose it.

Q. But what I'm saying is, here they are put in
a lifestyle, a very hard lifestyle, without any free will of
their own, right?

A. Correct.

Q. And this involved for them all the things
that you've talked about as a lifestyle...

A. Yes.

Q. ...right? I mean they'd be subject to
reqgular and frequent confrontation, right?

A. Yes. i

Q. And they'd be subject to light sessions where
they'd see their own parents ripped apart?

A. Yes.

Q. And it's hard to imagine anything more
traumatic than being separated from your parents for a child,
right?

A. Right.

Q. 1In fact, your own daughter, having been
pulled away from you - you related somewhere where you'd even
pass her in the hall and couldn't even look you in the eye?

A That's right.

Q Devastating to her, right?

A, Right.

Q. And those were community and parental
decisions, right?

Yes, they were.
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got a school code, page 17.

Students are expected to uphold
the academic and social
standards of the school at all
times when they are under the
jurisdiction of the school.
They're expected to conduct
themselves in such a way that in
matters of behaviour, judgment
and appearance they bring credit
to the Lord and to the Berean

Christian School.

Then they give principles to guide students into

responsible and honourable actions. And they describe serious

infractions, or the book does, like lying to those in authority,

stealing,

cheating or plagiarizing, smoking or drinking,

possession or use of drugs. And they go on to say:

If any student knows of any
unreported serious infraction of
the school's social and academic
standards, it is his
responsibility to ask or
encourage the offender to turn
himself in, and if the safety,
honour, reputation and/or morale
of the school are at stake,.and
if the guilty one has not turned
himself in, it is the

responsibility of the student to
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the Lord and credit to the

Berean Christian School.

And another social standard was no - no - no
smoking, drinking or drugs. And then you go to 19, another

standard was relationships between boys and girls.

Students must maintain the
utmost care in their behaviour
with the opposite sex. Any
action that is not consistent
with good Christian character
will result in discipline.
Undue familiarity between boys
and girls is to be avoided.
Handholding is not accepted.

And then it has a dress code, which you can see
there on page 19, and a personal appearance code. So I'm going
to suggest to you that if indeed this was prepared after - or
sorry, before the Mother Cay, Mother Judy visit, which I
understand was in the summer of '73...

A. Spring. School was still on.

Q. ...this sure sounds an awful lot like the

Community of Jesus...

A. Well...
Q. ...doesn't it?
A. ...I'm looking at the dress code and it's

interesting. It says, "your skirt can be two inches above the
knee." Yes, this is some of the basics that the community
believed in, but they went a lot deeper after the Community

came. For instance, the dress code was suddenly below the
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Q. All right.
A. ...and much more detailed.

Q. And if we want to get an idea of where things
went, we can look at the Joint Bock Volume 1, Tab 43. This is a
student handbook from about 13 or 14 years later, correct?

A. Yes, Sir.

Q. And when you look at this handbook, you'll
see, 1if you go over to page 16, under the heading

"Co—education":

Special relationships are not
allowed at GCC We desire [a
friend]l a spirit of friendship
to exist among all students,
free of the exclusive and
competitive demands which
special relationships impose.
Holding hands and other physical
displays and passing of notes
not permitted. Courtesy in
action and speech to be used at
all time. Bad language,
swearing, off-colour talk are
not to be part of our

conversation.

And then over on page 19, it talks about

discipline. And in the second paragraph, it says:

A healthy respect for

authorities, faculty staff,
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" handbook and all those rules, and the emphasis on discipline,
and serious offences, and a dress code, and using the telephone,
and a work program and discipline, those things were the written
rules for years, right?

A. Correct. )
Q. And the thing about these written rules, 1if
you will for a moment, I'm going to suggest is, number one, not

everybody's going to agree with all of them, but there was a

- reason behind each one and they were not capricious, do you

agree, the written rules?

A. You need to define “"capricious" for me.

Q. Capricious is without any thought or basis or
done on a whim. There was reasons for these rules.

A. I would say there was good reason for some of
them and almost capricious reason for others.
. QOkay. Well, what was a capricious...

Well, um...

© ¥ O

...rule?

A. I think having been in guidance at our school
and visiting a lot of other private schools, we went overboard
in the amount of rules that we had that other schools didn't
have. That's why we fought for allowing chewing gum at certain
times in the day, because other schools were allowing chewing
gum and we weren't. And other schools were allowing the kids to
have music when they weren't in class, or you know in the dorms,
or I - I mean in classes. So I think we went overboard in our
rules.

Q. All right. I didn't hear anybody ever
complain in this case about abuse by deprivation of chewing gum.

A. Yes, how about Walkmans and things like that?

Q. Or Walkmans.

A. Oh, yes.
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Q. I see. Well, I'm going to suggest to you
that in important respects, there was a reason for these rules.

A. Yes. Yes, definitely.

Q. For example, close relationships were
discouraged among boys and girls because you had a bunch of
teenagers running around there that were under your care, right?

A. Correct.

Q. And close relationships were discouraged
among all students because the school didn't want cliques to
form, right?

A. Yes and no.

Q. Yes and no. And the dress code, the school
thought it appropriate to have a dress code and to insist that
things be neat and tidy?

A. The dress code was very, very different from
any other private schools...

Q. Yes, well...

A. ...in Ontario or Canada.

Q. ...Grenville was a strict place with strict
rules, right?

A. Very strict rules.

Q. Right. And these rules were not hidden in
any way, shape or form, were they? ’

A. Except for the ones that were unwritten.

Q. .Okay, we'll come to those. The written rules
you learned, right?

A. Correct.

Q. The parents knew all about them. All they
had to do was read the handbook, right?

A. Yes.

Q. And the students sure knew about the rules,

because the rules were given a prominent play, weren't they?
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A. They were.
Q. And the -students entering the schools would

know. They'd get'a copy of the prospectus or handbook, right?

came so...

written rules,

A. Yes.

Q. And they...

A. They'd...

Q. ...they'd....

A. ...get that - they'd get that that after they

Q Yes.

A ...they didn't know coming...

Q. Okay.

A ...into the school.

Q And they knew from day one, these are the
these are important, these will be enforced.
A. Yes.

Q. And all of the rules, written and unwritten,

all of them, added up, I suggest, to the following package.

Listen carefully. I want to make sure I got a fair, accurate

portrayal. Students were expected to exhibit good behaviour and

a good attitude, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. They didn't want problems or people being a

negative force at Grenville, right?

A. Right.

Q. Students had to dress according to a strict

code that covered dress, makeup, jewellery and the like, right?

right?

A. Correct.

Q. Students had to follow the six-inch rule,

A. Right.
Q. And there was to be no outside the lights at
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night, there's - outside the zone that is lighted, right?
A. Right.
Q. And students had to be obedient and

respectful to teachers and staff, right?

A. Right.
Q. And they had to work hard.-and do their best?
A. Right.

Q. Does that fairly cover the highlights of the
rules at Grenville, written or unwritten?

A. Doesn't cover the discipline but it covers
the rules, yes.

Q We'll come to...

A Okay.

Q . ..enforcement of the rules...
A. Okay.

Q ...but have I covered the rules?
A Yes.

Q. So these are the rules. There may have been
a different discipline, but these are the rules. The staff and
administration said, "these are going to be the rules for our
school," right?

A. Right.

Q. And let's talk about enforcement then. Let's
go to enforcement of the rules. And I recognize, I'm sure you
do too, that there's a difference between rules and their
enforcement, right?

A. Yes.

Q. And the methods of enforcement, let's start
with those. The methods of enforcement were these. One, a
student, for a discipline offence, might be spoken to by a
teacher or perhaps taken into a separate room and spoken to by

two or three teachers in a hard, frank manner?
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A. Yes.
Q. And moving up from there, a student might be

placed on discipline, right?

A. Right.
Q. And that was usually three days of kitchen
chores?
Yes.
And....

S O R

And - and being taken out of classes.

Q. Yes. Well if you're working in the kitchen,
you're out of class.

A. Correct.

Q. Three days of kitchen chores. And in
addition to that, a student could lose privileges?

A. Correct.

Q. One was the privilege of their uniform,
right?

A. Right.

Q. And the idea behind that was the uniform is a
symbol of pride, and it's important to respect your school, and
you haven't done it so we're taking that privilege away, right?

A. Right.

Q. And they might be put on silence, right?

A. Right.

Q. And then moving up from there, occasionally
there would be group light sessions, right?

A.  Right.

Q. And these light sessions were situations
generally that were subjects of concern on a school-wide basis,
right?

A. Not necessarily.

Q. Well, let me give you a couple of examples.
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The school was having a problem with disobedience and dating
girls in the person of Al Haig's son, Tim, at one point. So he
had a light session in the chapel where he was stood up, made an
example of, and that the theory was, "this has got to stop" was
the message, right? You remember that?

A. I do.

Q. And then young Don Farnsworth had a light
session. Do you remember that, with a few other boys?

A. For burning something down?

Q. They burnt down a building, a small old shack
or something, right?

A. Yes.

Q. And this was a serious incident of concern to
the authorities, to bring it to the attention of students, this
can't be tolerated, right? |

A. Right.

Q. So, they were all over them, about this. And
they humiliated them in front of the group of students, right?
Correct.

Did you ever go to a régular high school?

Yes.

(ORI O

. Do you remember having assemblies where the
principal would say to some kid, "You threw a snowball on the
car - crossing guard's face," and go on and on about how
terrible this is, and 'you got to respect the crossing guard and
you got to - you can't do this, and you've got to apologize,'
that type of thing. You never saw that?

A. Actually no, and I taught in a school and we
never...

Q. Wow.

A. ...did anything like...

THE COURT: Wait.
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A. ...that.

THE COURT: I want to hear the whole answer.

Q. You might have gone to a....

THE COURT: Hang on. I want to hear the whole

answer.

MR. ADAIR: Sorry, Your Honour.

THE COURT: Please don't cut off the witness.

THE WITNESS: I said, "actually no." I don't

remember that when I was in high school. And I

taught in a high school and we never did anything

like that.

MR. ADAIR: Q. Yes. You must have gone to a
different school than I did. |

A. Maybe so.

Q. And moving up from that, there could be

paddling?

A. Yes.

Q. And the ultimate was suspension or expulsion?

A. Yes.

Q. And those were the methods of discipline,
right?

A. Some of them.

Q. Yes.

A. There's one that stands out to me. May I
share it? '

Q. Sure.

A. Taking the students to the boiler room and
showing them the - the fire and telling them that if they didn't
wise up, they would go to hell.

Q. Okay. All right. So that - that was another
form of bringing the flames of hell to their attention?

A. Yes.



10

15

20

25

30

Page 122 of 600

250.
Joan Childs - Cr-Ex.
(Mr. Adair)

obvious from this letter that you didn't think of this as a

school of abuse at all by the time you wrote this letter, did

you?

A.
Q.
CA.

school of abuse?

Q.

Yes, we did.
You what?

You're saying we didn't think of it as a

"You," not "we." You didn't think of it as a

school of abuse by the time you wrote this letter.

A.

I had a struggle with whether it was a cult

or a school of abuse.

Q.
A.

Sorry?
I had a....

THE COURT: Can we please finish...
THE WITNESS: I'm sorry.
THE COURT: ...sorry, you're both talking at the

same time, so finish...

MR. ADAIR: My apologies.

THE COURT: ...the question please, wait, and

then Ms. Childs if you could answer into the

silence, that would be good.

THE WITNESS: I apologize, Ma'am.
THE COURT: Thank you.
MR. ADAIR: Q. Well, it's my fault, Ms. Childs.

Go ahead please.

A.

I not only saw it as a school of abuse, I

struggled with whether it was a cult or a school of abuse, and

we spent a [sic] entire year reading books and speaking with

outside support to try to help us to determine what category we

were in and what we could do about it.

Q.

And then you go on in the letter to say:
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To those of you [this is the top
of the third page] for whom this
was the case, we want to
apologize. 1In reviewing the
last 30 years, we recognize that
even though our intentions were
good, we may not have always
used the best approach, and we
are sorry that we have not made
attempts to resolve these issues
long ago. How you feel is very

important to us.

Page 123 of 600

Now there's a couple of other paragraphs about

welcome back and maybe you could send a donation in.

the sum and substance of your apology,

A.

isn't it?

But that'sA

It was the beginning of what we hoped would

be a much bigger deal.

Q.

Let me explain this clearly so I can get your best answer.

Well,

see here's what I have trouble with.

You

have repeatedly testified under oath that by the time you wrote

this letter,
A.
Q.

thing, right?
A.
Q.
agreed?
A.
Q.

we're

apology,

except 'oh,

you knew this was a school of abuse,

Absolutely.

right?

And a school of abuse is a very, very bad

Absolutely.

And a school of abuse deserves a simple major

Agreed.

And nowhere do you suggest anything in here

had negative experiences.'

A,

So you need to take into account,

sir,

sorry if a couple of you, or a few of you have

that
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this is a group of staff and community member - well community
members who were vowed to the Community of Jesus still at this
time, who were breaking away from our connection to them, very -
it was a very difficult time in our lives. We knew we had major
work to do. We knew that before we could even begin to help the
students, we had to get help. We knew that we had to help our
staff kids. We had a long road ahead of us and this was the
best we could do at the time. It is not a very good apology, I
wish it were better, had been better.

Q. It's not only not a very good apology, it
infers that the school for years was a loving and caring place.
We tried to be.

Yes, no, it infers it was.

PP

Well, then we didn't write it well.

Q. Yes, you sure didn't. And the reason you
didn't is because you're simply not being honest...

A. Oh, my dear, sir....

Q.. ...about why you - why you wrote this letter
and what your view of Grenville was at the time, are you?
You're just not being honest about it.

A. Can you tell me what it is you think that I'm
- that I really felt?

| - Q. You don't get this letter and the problem
with it?
Yes.
Well....
It wasn't well written.

All right.

| @R @R

A. We were struggling. We had a hard time
knowing how to say it, to open it up to...

Q. Okay.

A. ...to people.
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THE COURT: What's the year, please?

MR. ADAIR: Sorry?

THE COURT: You said May 15th. What year is the

letter?

MR. ADAIR: 2001.

THE COURT: Thank you.

MR. ADAIR: Sorry, Your Honour, I'll - I'll try

to slow down a little. I keep forgetting you

don't have the letter right in front of you

SO....

THE COURT: You don't have to slow down. You

just have to tell me what the numbers are.

MR. ADAIR: All right.

Q. You — in the - the - the - the meat of that
letter at least, at the outset is in the third paragraph.
You're - you're concerned about "a very painful journey for them
and us, concerning a family who left the community," right?

A. Yes.

Q. And you indicate a little bit, several lines
down, that it's been the source of much hurt surrounding the
community?

A. Yes.

Q. And you indicate at the top of the second
page, the last three lines:

I have personally since that
time made several apologies to
them for the hurts I and the

community have caused them.

MS. MERRITT: Sorry, I'm lost.
THE WITNESS: I - I've lost you.
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and at first we were having too much fun back there, and so they
came and said you need to be quiet, please, no talking. So we

did that. And the rest of our day, we weren't out of uniform or
anything, we went about our day, we were functioning, but we had

to eat meals back there and remain quiet.

Q. Were you going to class during that —— those
four days?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay.

A. Yeah. And then, actually, what —-
interesting things I guess, I remembered a bunch of things last
night while I was sleeping, I'd say one of the —— we didn't do
the one thing that came out of that - that became a thing
henceforth after that, since Farnsworth came and asked us why,
you know, what were you thinking guys, that was, you know, you
shouldn't be going down there at two in the morning stealing -
stealing food [indiscernible], and we said we were hungry, we
were up studying [indiscernible], and they started snack after
that. So every night at study hall they would roll out fruit
and cookies and stuff, and that remained the whole time I was
there after that, in my — my senior year and the next year. So
that's when that started, because we snuck down and made
ourselves a meal.

Q. Okay. And tell me, you briefly mentioned
speaking while you were on discipline. Is there any rule about
silence when you're on discipline?

A. Yeah, in general —— I mean it varied, I
guess, just —— I think varied, but I ~— there were —— when I
went on the [indiscernible] after the few days of the ski trip
and the note-thing, yeah, I wasn't talking —— I was talking to
the prefect who was, you know, studying with me, I was, like, I

was in study hall studying indefinitely, and with Luke Rehime
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{(ph) my prefect, and —— but I wasn't - I wasn't -—— I believe I
was on —— I wasn't supposed to talk to other students during

that time; I believe it was the silent treatment at that time.

Q. All right. And did you —— was there
something called "Hotel D" when you were there?

A, I don't know what that is.

Q. A separate room where if you were on
discipline you had to sleep alone?

A. I - I'm not familiar with Hotel D, I never --
and I never had to sleep alone.

Q. Okay. And tell me, the practice of
discipline, like for example if a student broke the rules and
was put on discipline, generally speaking, how long would it

last for? :
A. Well, I think that year when I did two plus

four days, I remember feeling like I had set a record that year
at six days. I don't really remember. I mean I was —— I'm
trying to think if I had another experience, so I was speaking
of that and the kitchen raid, I - I - I don't really remember
how long, I -- it wasn't -- I think it was a day, you know, a
day, two days, three days, four days, like that, in my
recollection.

Okay. Can you give us an....
[Indiscernible].

Sorry. Go ahead.

&0 PO

No, I'm doéne.

Q. All right. Can you give us any sense of how
cften students would be put on discipline, whether per semester
or week, or month or year, whatever?

A. I - I don't know if I can remember that
accurately, I mean it wasn't -- there wasn't someone on

discipline all the time, there were, you know, certainly you
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felt bad because there were some people who were on discipline
more than others, I mean I was on discipline and I remember
feeling like this is insane, I remember saying to a staff member
who was very [indiscernible] having to do it, I said,
"Listen..." and I remember saying it's ridiculous. Like,
putting me on discipline, you know, I had a conversation saying
"The punishment does not fit the crime here," I wrote a note.
And at the time in the note I was very frustrated at the time,
for sure. But I remember coming out the other end of it and,
you know, and - and moving on from thét, and I felt like when it
was over it was over, you know, there was no lingering sort of
feeling, you know, the fact I thought that it was ridiculous
initially.

Q. All right. And - and eventually did —— were
you able to get your student leader pin back?

A. Yes. I was - I was a student leader, not a
student leader, and eventually leader again. I was a prefect,
and then not a prefect, and then a prefect again. I lost both
of those things in each year for, you know, various reasons.

Q. All right.

A. The ski trip one, yeah, and - and the kitchen
raid.

Q. Okay. ,

A. Interestingly, I was thankful for the kitchen
raid I -- but I -- there were other things that I did there that
were responded to in sort of -~ for example we had-a big contest
coming, a chocolate bar or something, there was a 10 pound
chocolate bar on the mantle, and I removed it one night after
study hall and sent a ransom note that I left up on the mantle
the next morning, and ransomed it back to the staff for cookies
for the entire student body. Everybody took that well, and you

know, it was a prank that -- we had two of them along the way,
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prefect they started me here being in charge of the east wing
dorm, so I was the one who was shutting off the lights and that,
making sure everybody was in bed, I was the one who turned on
the lights in the morning, making sure everybody was getting up
and doing their thing, I was at times inspecting people's
sections after breakfast, you know, we were -— if we were on a
-— if it was the weekend and people were horsing around in a -
in a way that was, you know, causing a disruption or something,
we might say, "Hey, try to do that"™. You had the authority to
say, you know, "Cut it out," you were prefect. So, we can say
that.

Especially speaking with [indiscernible] we were
at a banquet for things like that, you, you know, get an upper
respect thing, you might - you might tell them to smarten up
because, you know, treat people more respectfully or something
like that, you know, you were just sort of trying —-- you were
meant to lead by example, I think, that was always my impression
of it. And they set a tone for the whole school.

Q. And....

A. There were times —-- although, I will say
there were times, for example, when I was on discipline, there
was another prefect who would [indiscernible] who would be with
me, escort me thrbugh —— if I can remember, you know, I don't
know exactly -- but what I can remember, sitting in a classroom
studying with another prefect, one of my peers, but that was in
civilian clothes, I wasn't in my uniform, and, you know, it
wasn't - it wasn't dire, we were chatting away, and I was
telling her I was definitely meant to be separate and do my
studies away from study hall, on my own, like, in classroom I
was with - with another prefect.

Q. Okay....

A. 0ddly enough, I don't ever remember doing
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Q. And that behavioural expectation contributed
to the intensity of the experience, at least at times, is that
fair?

A. Yes, that's fair.

Q. And there was a code of conduct at Grenville,
consisting of both written and unwritten rules, I think you -
you describe the unwritten rules as expectations earlier? That
there were written rules, and then there were expectations.

That was all part of the Grenville code of conduct? Is that
fair?

A. I would say that's fair, yes. We - we knew
what was —-— I mean that fell under, as I said, respect everyone,
you know, do your best and all those things that lead to work
expectation, yes. Do your best, behaviourally and in the things
you were involved in.

Q. And, so, how were those —- and you sort of
touched on it with my friend earlier, but how were those
expectations, in particular, communicated to the students? How
did you know what was exbected of your behaviour as a — as a
student at Grenville. You gave an example of I guess yourself
getting in trouble and being offside with rules, and - and being
made an example of. So is it fair to say that students were
made exampleé for the benefit of other students in terms of
learning. the right behaviours and the wrong behaviours?

A. If I could understand your first question.

The way it was communicated, rules were communicated or

expectations were communicated. There were -- it was a
Christian school. So as I said, there were often —- after
breakfast we would -- Father Farnsworth or someone else would

get up and give a talk. Or early on in the year he did -- he
gave a reference on very specifically -- going kids that went on

to show certain things, funny - you know, funny ways of laying
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Q. Okay. Isn't it true also, Mr. Creighton,
that the initial discipline they wanted to impose on your for
that love letter or note letter, whatever it was to that girl,
they wanted to suspend you, isn't that right? And you thought
that that was outrageous, your parents were called?

A. Yes, that did happen once. I think that was
when we were sitting in the office and they wanted to suspend e
for it, and I did say that's ridiculous and that that was a
correct finding when I was a senior I [indiscernible] and they
ended up having a conversation with my parents, and I —— they
agreed that I would [indiscernible] discipline or internal
[indiscernible].

Q. Right. But you thought that even that
internal discipline was —— didn't fit the crime, was still a bit
much?

A. Yes, as I just said - as I just said, I did
at the time, yes.

Q. And you certainly would have thought the
suspension was outrageous?

A. Yes, and I expressed that wholeheartedly.

Q. Right. With respect, you mention you also
got in trouble for - for not showing leadership on the ski hill
on that trip. Did the ski patrol kick you off the hill?

A. DNo, we -- the young man warned us, but did
not kick us off the hill, no.

Q. So how bad was your behaviour then, on that
hill?

A. The kids were, you know, reckless, we were
all good skiers though, so we thoughf we were in total control,
and we were definitely scaring people as we — as we raced
through them down the hill. So, yeah I don't know — I don't

know about your question, but I mean we didn't - we didn't burn
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anything down, we were acting reckless on the hill, we got
warned and that was it. ]

Q. So who told about the warning, if it wasn't
the ski patrol that notified the school of your behaviour?

A. I don't remember exactly -- I don't think --
I think we were joking about it when we got back, and a staff
member -— I don't know if I remember exactly who told, it might

have been [indiscernible] like we were -— we were not —— it
wasn't a big secret that -- we didn't think it was a big
violation.

Q. You didn't think it was a big violation?

A. No, I mean we were probably 17 or 18 years
old and, you know, not the point at the time. '

Q. But you got two days of discipline, chipping
ice and doing some other things for that behaviour imposed by
Grenville, right?

A. Yes, when we got back, that is true, yes.

Q. And you didn't attend class when you were
doing those things, correct?

A, I don't - I don't remember. I mean, the one
member —-- the one memory I have of it is working from the chapel
a long sidewalk across the lawn with my friend Garth
[indiscernible] and not having a —-— actually great old time
while we were doing it, that's what I remember. We weren't
being supervised, we were just [indiscernible].

Q. But you were out of uniform?

A. Yeah, we were —-- yeah, we were in civilian
clothes.

Q. Right. And you were supposed to be silent
while you were doing these chores, right?

A. I don't - I don't remember whether we were

supposed to or - or not. I mean I can remember that we weren't.
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I don't think that at school at the time when they -- like if
you're - if you're talking about this specific incident, I don't
think they were —- they might have not advanced, "Hey this is a
—— well, not -- it's not a huge deal but we need to set an
example for a the rest of the people on this trip that we
comport themselves a certain way on a trip. And I understand —-
I understood that. I wasn't —— I didn't feel [indiscernible].

Q. I'm not asking you aboutiyour feelings, Mr.
Creighton, I'm asking about the features of that discipline.

A. Sure. \

Q. So, you were supposed to be silent because
generally when kids are put on discipline, they were supposed to
not engage with the rest of the student body, is that correct?

A. That's correct, yes.

Q. Okay, thank you.

A. Sure.

Q. So, given your example of the note writing to
the girl and - and what you said to my friends earlier, you said
there was no exclusive relationships permitted at Grenville,
that was actually an explicit rule at Grenville, correct?

A. Yes, I don't know if it was a written rule or
unspoken, but that was definitely the — the expectation, yes.

Q. And the expectation was, you said, they
wanted you to be social and not be exclusionary, that's how you
described it, right?

A. Yes, friends with everybody, yep.

Q. That would apply to friendships between the
sexes as well then, correct?

A. Between male and female?

Q. Yes.

A. Well, I think that was what it was referring

~ referring to, yes.
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A. I don't remember anything about the paddle,
literally.

Q. You were aware though, of a group of male
students who were required to get up early before breakfast
sometimes and run, is that correct?

A. Yes, I do remember that.

Q. And they were up early enough I guess to get
this running in before being ready for school in the usual - in
the usual course?

A. That's my recollection of that, yes.

Q. And you would know who the kids on discipline
around Grenville were, because they weren't in class, correct?

A. I think that's true, I mean we would know
because they were not in their uniform basically.

Q. And they weren't —— at least they weren't
supposed to be socializing with other students, that's fair,
right?

A. Yes, that's correct, yeah.

Q. And sometimes they didn't eat with the rest
of the students? They were somewhere other than the dining
room, 1is that right?

A. I think that could be true, the guest dining
room, I think they would have people on D in there, 1if I
remember, but yeah -— I mean yes. That's the recollection
[indiscernible] for sure. |

Q. Okay, thank you. You mentioned something to
my friend-earlier this morning about staff kids sort of being
held to a tougher standard and you kind of felt bad for them
sometimes., I just want to clarify though, there were no special
rules to your knowledge just for the staff kids, we're talking
about them breaking the same rules that applied to you and the

other students, right?
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Q. But he would yell at you?

A. Yeah, he definitely got up in my face at
various times, yes.

Q. Can you tell us a little bit more about that,
what do you mean got up in your face?

A. Well, just that he —— as a - as a leader I
can remember — I can remember standing outside at the top of the
stairs, this one instance in particular was —-— I was out on the
landing outside where the phone is, and I can remember him, you
know, sort of being a foot or two in front of me, and - and
using that word haughty and - and a bad attitude, and I don't
remember obviously the specific conversation, but I can remember
that moment feeling like, you know, he was - he was - you know,
he lied. .

Q. Was it intense?

A. Yeah, that was intense, yeah —— time for
sure. _

Q. You - you gestured with your finger, would he
also point at you and - and - and use his hands to kind of come
at you a bit when he was yelling at you?

A. I don't remember any physicality, in
particular, I don't have any recollection of feeling physically
threatened or anything like that. I definitely remember feeling

it was intense, and that he did not like me and I don't like

him.
Q. Okay.
A. At that moment.
Q. So in that situation —— but also thinking

about the times when you were publicly singled out, whether it
was haughty or whatever it was, do you agree with me that that
was embarrassing, if not humiliating, that  experience?

A. I'm trying to remember how I felt at the
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time, because you know when you haven't -- it doesn't - it
doesn't trigger anything for me, and it might -~ and I know it
does for some, and that's totally fair, for me I - I imagine it
was embarrassing, I don't remember ever feeling humiliated, I
don't remember, you know, that would be an intense moment, I
would put that as an adverb.

Q. Okay.

A. You want an example of an intense moment,
that would be a bad intense moment, yes.

Q. These sessions then, where students were
singled out in front of the whole student body, how - how long
would they last?

A. I don't — I don't specifically remember
length and time. Usually they happened between four ——- I
remember on occasion they happened between sort of
[indiscernible] so whatever period of time that is. To be
honest I can't accurately answer that question, I don't know how
long. |

Q. Did you ever recall a time when you didn't
make it to some of your morning classes because it went on and
ran inte the class time?

A, I don't - I don't specifically remember that,
but I -~ but I do —= I really think that there were probably
times where things came up and there was —— if that was felt to
be important, you know, having that session, then a schedule
could be moved, it could become later or something. I - I don't
remember that specifically, but I - I think that probably -- I'm
guessing that pfobably happened, yes, but I don't know.

Q. Okay.

A. I don't have a distinct memory of that.

Q. And you mentioned that these sessions would

be headed up by various people, but you do remember the Head
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today.

A. No worries.

Q. Now I take it, sir, it was an honour to be a
prefect for the students?

Yes.

Q: And there was a bit of a ceremony when they
got the pin?

A. Correct.

Q. And it was something they would be proud of?

A. Absolutely. _

Q. And in order to earn that pin, they would
have to be a student who followed the rules?

A. Most of the time.

Q Yes. They'd be expected to be a good leader?

A. Correct. .

Q And that would include both the written rules
as well as sort of the unwritten rules of the school, true?

A. True.

Q. And they had to continue to follow those
rules to stay a prefect, yes?

A. Yes.

Q. And if they didn't, they'd lose their prefect
pin, and that sometimes happened?

A. Correct.

Q And if it....

A And sometimes it was re-—awarded.

Q. They'd have to earn it back?

A Correct.

Q. All right. And then, we had these student
leaders, at least for a time, who were junior prefects working
their way up, yes?

A. Correct.
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for me.

Q. Okay. Thank you, that's helpful. And I take
it your father also didn't and at the time he retired in 1977 he
didn't enjoy the support that he had in the earlier days; is
that fair?

A. You know, it's hard to say. I don't know if
he really...

Q. Sorry, I meant 1997 I think I said '77.

A. Okay. In 1997 I don't know i1f he -— if he
knew that. We knew that.

Q. Right. But I'm just saying regardless of
what he knew, he did not enjoy the support that he had had in

the previous years; correct?

A. I don't think he had the support and I -- I
believe that to be true, but I -— I Jjust don't know how everyone
else felt. But I agree —- I agree with you. I don't disagree

with that.

Q. All right. 8ir, would it be fair to say as
an overall sort of way he was, that as far as your father was
concerned, it was generally his way or the highway; is that
fair?

A. That's a pretty strong statement. I think
that goes further than it really is.

Q. All right. Well, let me take you to a
specific example. I -- I'm suggesting to you, sir that your
father did what he wanted to do, regardless of what others said
and I'd like to take you specifically to the example of the AIDS
policy. You —— you'll remember, sir that in the 1980s Grenville
had a policy that all students should be tested for AIDS; right?

A. Yes. ,

Q. Okay. And we have that policy in the joint

exhibit book volume 2, for Your Honour's reference. 1I'm not
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going to take you to it. That policy was challenged legally;
correct, sir?

A. You know, it was there for probably a year or
two until anyone came and then there was a —— it all of a sudden
hit the media.

Q. Right.

A. I don't know if it was challenged legally.
There was the Department of Human Rights. Maybe it was going to
-— was going to address it, but I think there was a change in
leadership there, so it never -— it never made the courts.

Q. ©Oh no, I'm not saying it got to trial, but
there was a legal challenge to it, yes, with the Human Rights
Commission?

A. There was —— there was talk, but I don't know
if there was a legal challenge.

Q. All right. Well, you hired lawyers and got a
medical opinion about it; correct?

I — I -— I think so, yes.
All right. Well, let's...

L O

We wanted -- we wanted to get it right.

Q. Okay. Well let's -—- let's go to Exhibit 2 in
the joint exhibit book volume 2, Tab 76. And there there's a
letter for a bill in a —— a letter —-- a covered letter to an —-
a legal account February 27th, 1989, and then if you flip over
the page...
Sorry, what?
Sorry, Tab 75.
Yeah.

- O T 4

Q. Sorry 76, my apologies. There's a letter
there at the front, you know...
A. Mm—hmm.

0. ...from the law firm with the legal account
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on the back of it. And then if you turn over the page there's a
letter there from Cathleen F. Gibbon, M.D., Director of thé
Department of Clinical Laboratories, dated February 24th, 1989,
to your lawyer, who's Mr. Legge, who's the one who sent you the

bill or sent Father Farnsworth the bill. You see all that?

A, I'm...
Q. Okay.
A. ...I'm not sure which one I'm looking at.

What...
Q. All right. Let's go back...

A. ...September 27th?

Q. Let's —= we'll take it a bit slower. Let's
go to Tab 76.

A. Okay.

Q. And the first letter there is a letter dated
February 27th, 1989, from Bruce Legge to Father Farnsworth,
enclosing the bill for the work on the AIDS issue.

A. Yes.

Q. And on the backside of that page is the
actual bill.

A. Okay, yeah.

Q. Okay. Now, on the opposite page there,
there's a letter dated January 24th, 1989, to Mr. Legge your
father's lawyer from Cathleen F. Gibbon, who's a medical doctor
and the Director of the Department of Clinical Laboratories. Do
you see that letter?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. And in there, if you turn over the page, it

says:

Opinion on the efficacy of

mandatory human immune —-
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Oh god...
A. HIV.
Q. HIV. Thank you, because I -~ I am stumbling.

HIV antibody testing and the
prevention of the spread of AIDS
in a residential school

environment.

And then there's a -— there's an opinion, a

medical opinion there, yes? Goes on for some five pages with

references, you see that?

letter,

says:

A. Yeah.
Q. All right. And if we could, on page 5 of the

just before the references, read the conclusion. It

In conclusion, it is my
professional opinion that
mandatory testing of students
and staff at Grenville Christian
College is not an effective
means of preventing or
mitigating the spread of AIDS
within the College. The risk of
infection is so slight that it
cannot be quantified. A
negative test for HIV antibodies .
does not rule out the
possibility of infection in an

individual.
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So that's the medical opinion the school got;

correct?
Yes.

Q. All right.

A. One of —— one of the medical opinions, I'm
sure.

Q. Okay. Well, we don't have any others. Do
you?

A. No, but I know we talked to other doctors,
too.

Q. All right. Were you —— were you shopping for
a favourable opinion?

A. I think we wanted to know —-- we wanted to
know the truth, because it was such a politically charged
disease. 1In fact, it went -- we —-- we had the AIDS testing
included on a —— on a medical questionnaire that had a —- a
number of things to test for and we were an international
school. We had students coming from —- from all over the world.
Some of those places might be places where there was a higher
rate of infection. So, what do you do, do you test just those

that didn't seem right, so everyone would have received the

test. 8o, that's —— that's what I would say was there.
Q. All right.
A. And it was —-- it was —— it was after it had

been there a few years that it was actually challenged.

Q. Right. And -- and this legal opinion that
you paid for and you got from the doctor was there was no
medical basis for it?

A. Yeah.

Q. All right. So, I'd like you to flip over now

—— or turn back to Tab 68. And this is a document dated January
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3rd, 1989, called "notes Human Rights Commission v. GCC"

Wednesday, December 28th, 1988, lawyers meeting.

The head of the firm, Bruce
Legge is taking over the case.
Get the best medical opinion in
Canada. Dr. Bruce Salter, head
of Sick Kids, one of the most

famous doctors.

Anyway, it goes on, and on page —— yeah.

After research Dr. Salter's
report to us was that there was
no medical evidence to support
our cause and policy. He quoted
John Hopkins in the U.S.

I think that's where Simon Best works, isn't it?

A.
Q.

You
A.
Q.

Yes, it is.
Yeah.

And the Royal Society of
Surgeons. We are on shaky
medical grounds with most

physicians.

see that there, sir number three?
Yes. ‘
All right. And then if we go to number two,

it sets out the position of the Human Rights Commission.

They're determined.

They haven't lost a case, your lawyer says.
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We can tell the Human Rights
Commission that we will not
cooperate with an investigation

and take our medicine.

one.

They get an order for us to make
testing voluntary. Possible we
would appeal. Costly fines
imposed on us. Our lawyers to
confer with each other and get

back to us.

And then in item three it says:

Number one, Charles Farnsworth
and GCC keep doing what we are
doing and trust God.

And then:

Number three, it would be
cowardly for us to back up.
Principle cautious conviction.
Appeal to parents in the public.
Canada is not noted for

fighting.

Page 146 of 600
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3o, I would suggest to you, Dr. —— Mr. Farnsworth
reading this document as a whole, the natural and obvious
conclusion is that, even in the face of overwhelming medical
evidence, your father did not want to back down?

A. I think there's -— there's a lot more to
this. Like I say it was politically charged and to have them go
on the news and say this school is -—- is —-- I remember a
headmaster in -- in Vancouver are going on the news and saying
wow that's terrible, in his own words. It was politically
charged and to have everyone just come in and say stop this,
stop doing this, it was a policy. It was a policy and it was
just a medical test. It didn't make any difference to the
student at the time. It was Jjust that we were testing for
something. We never had it...

Q. Okay.

A. All right. We never had any -— we never had
anyone infected as we know and I don't think the government
should come in necessarily to a school that's separately funded
and say you can or .can't do this, unless they've got strong
evidence. Now, as evidence —— evid -- I'm sorry, I just get
distracted when...

Q. Sorry, I just looked at...

A. ...when you look around. As that evidence
came forward, you know, we spoke to some other doctors, doctors
that were not trying to force us to change, but were trying to
talk us into proper change. I remember one doctor she was ——
she actually worked in South Korea. I don't know if she was a
doctor but she did a lot of research on AIDS and she told us
that those tests are not conclusive. Meaning that there could
be a false sense of‘security by people coming and having

negative results. So, in effect you could...
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Q. Wouldn't that —-- wouldn't that be a reason
not to do it? I -~ I'm not...

A. Well, that's...

Q. ...following your argument here.

A. Well, if you listen to the end...

Q. Okay.

A. ...I think it will make good sense to you.

Q. Sorry.

A. That was an argument that I took to my father

and to others, saying you know what here we're getting these
tests and they're not conclusive. I think it's time we drop the
AIDS testing, because it doesn't make sense. If we think all of
our students are free from AIDS and they're not. So, we decided
to stop it at that point.

Q. Isn't that exactly what the first doctor

said?

A. I don't know if we really had the discussion
‘with the doctor. And you can see there's —-— there are a lot of
names listed at the bottom of that, including Boards —— members

of the Advisors and members of the Board of Patrons.

Q. But -- but -- but, sir if you look at Tab 76
the —— the letter enclosing the bill for legal services
rendered, after talking about the money and the tax receipts it
says "Enclosed is Dr. K. F. Gibbon's report." So, you had the
report, it was enclosed with the bill. |

A. Yeah.

Q. All right.

A. And it's an opinion, but as I'm saying if —-
if you look at that page you see Victor George, Pauline McGiven,
Trevor Eaton, Jean Watts, those people probably supported
keeping the testing policy. I don't know it, but their names

are on there obviously as references for people that would have
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been —— would have given advice on it.

Q. So..

A. So, he didn't make that Jjust unilaterally.
He may have had the unilateral decision in -- in a sense, but he
would have checked with those people pretty carefully, knowing
my father.

Q. Okay. So -- so, he's going to lay people
politically connected, you know, Trevor Eaton and Colleen
Gibbon...

A. Not politically connected, those were
people...‘

Q. High profile people.

A. They're not all high profile -- they're
people that were really good friends and supporters of Grenville
Christian College.

Q. ©Okay. And -—— and he's —-- he's taking their
opinion over the doctor's opinion?

A. I think they would have been included in the
doctor's opinion.

Q. All right.

A. And -- and, you know, ma'am, the parents also
supported the decision to keep it there. 1In fact, dealing with
the Human Rights Commission was something that was orchestrated
by a parent, those parents who hadn't been involved in
high-profile positions. We —-—- we followed his advice, mostly.

Q. Okay. So, you took the advice of the parent
over your lawyer and the medical opinion?

A. He wasn't our lawyer. He was a lawyer we
consulted.

MS. MERRITT: I see. All right. I notice it's

11:30, Your Honour, now might be an appropriate

time, I'm about to move on to other stuff.
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young, and then when we started going down to the Community on a
—— at least twice a year, we would live-in at the Community of
Jesus and -—- for a week at a time, and we would —-- the ways that
we would see this in action, you would be at a, basically a
light session at every meal. I —-- so I experienced that from a
very young age, and then I also experienced actually firsthand
seeing the Mothers preaching to us at —- when they would come to
Grenville for retreats, and even as a teenager I went down to
the Community for retreats, as young as, I remember —-- my first
one I think I was 14.

Q. And can you give us an example of that —- of
that first retreat or one of the -- the times that you were
visiting the Community, your experiences there?

A. There are so many, but one that sticks out to
me, when I was 14, I went down for a mother—daughter retreat
with, sé obviously I went with my mother. And it was a -—- a
frightening time for me because I had never —— I think it was
the first time I actually witnessed a retreat in action and it
was like a grand light session that we had at Grenville, but
extended for three long days.

You never knew who was going to be stood up and
chastised, or publicly humiliated and sure enough, my mother and
I were —- were singled.out and it seemed like forever we were
humiliated and yelled at, and then the Mothers said we were so
full of sin and so full of haughtiness that we needed to be I
guess re-educated if you will. And we needed to stay at the
Community for that purpose, and I was terrified of that. It's a
—— and so for that whole night, it was a Saturday, that whole
night I -- I was scared to death that they were going to keep us
at the Community and —-- and this was not an uncommon thing.

This had happened to other staff that I -—- it was not something

that I'd never heard of, so I was very afraid.
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A. There were a lot of similarities. 1In fact, I
-— a lot come to mind. So, there was a preaching of the
doctrine that the Mother Cay —- Mother Cay and Mother Judy,
their doctrine was also communicated to us with tapes that we
had to listen to all through my childhoocd. And then Father
Farnsworth would take those doctrine —- those premises if you
will, those teachings, and he would continually indoctrinate the
students at -— at Grenville. So, he'd be sitting either at his
table in the dining room preaching those —- those teachings or
he would teach them at his official sermons, or he would bring
them to light sessions with the whole student. And to further
that, the focus on the doctrine was focussing on your sin,
focussing on needing to change, focussing on —- on how
inherently bad you were. So that —-- that message was brought to
the students continually.

On top of that, people were always required to
confess. So, and not only that, you had to —— the -- the —— the
Mothers were always making us write confession notes. So, we
had to do that as staff and staff kids to the Farnsworths. But
students were required to confess their sins and then your
confessions would be used against you. Sometimes you'd confess
something in private and then it would come up in a public
setting, or you would be disciplined because you confessed
something.

Other things like that were people were spying on

each other all the time. You were supposed to —— if you —— if

.you wanted to become a prefect or somebody that was in good

standing with the administration, you had to turn people in for

their sins or misdeeds. And at light sessions, it was basically
a spy reporting on each other. It —- even if you had nothing to
go by, you had to kind of come up with something that was sinful

about the person across the table and try to attack them, so you



10

15

20

25

30

Page 175 of 600

614.

M. Granger - in—Ch.
(Ms. Lombardi)

to keep the list of the groups and make sure that every time I
saw somebody, they were with the appropriate group or they could
get.in a great deal of trouble.

Q. And when you say, "a great deal of trouble,"
can you just give us an example of what that might mean?

A. Well, they were told that if they were not —-
they had to —— I can't remember how it was worded, but basically
when you're off campus, you have to be -- you uphold every rule
from Grenville or you'll get in even more trouble than if you
were back at’Grenville.

And I should add that as a staff supervisor, we
were under a lot of pressure to -- to notice any and all
infractions, to the point where —-- there was an incident where
some cigarettes were found in the girls' dorm Jjust before break,
and there was a huge light session assembly where they tried to
find out all the people involved in this infraction, plus many
people were stood up for various other alleged crimes. I don't
remempber all of it, but I remember the cigarettes. And then
once all of the —— oh, and —— if this ever got -—- if this ever
happened before break, the people who got in trouble did not get
to go home. They were kept back on break on discipline. So,
there were often these kinds of searches, dorm searches, before
breaks, and assemblies and light sessions before breaks.

But what happened to me was that I had paid
several thousand dollars to go as a supervisor on the Europe
trip the next day. It was a March break, and Judy James kept us
—— us —— us staff members back, us dorm supervisors back after
the whole assembly, and we were in so much trouble, she was so
angry with us that we didn't knbw about the cigarettes, that we
were in the spirit and God hadn't told us about them what have
you, that she threatened to not let me go on this trip to
Europe, and I spent that whole night not knowing if I was going



10

15

20

25

30

Page 176 of 600

615.

M. Granger - in-Ch.
(Ms. Tombardi)

to get to go. I did -- I actually get to go but it was -- I was
terrified that that would occur.

Q. And so you mentioned "negative speak" and
"rebellious speak." Can you just give us some examples of what
that might constitute?

A, Well, I mean, that was a huge infraction.

You couldn't -- you couldn't speak ill of any staff or
especially Farnsworth without having hell to pay. And anyone
who thought ill of any of the rules or any of the - the kinds of
policies that were happening or even if they thought it was
crazy what was going on, they -- they better not speak it out
loud because a staff member like in my position was supposed to
report that to the deans.

Q. Okay. And so how did you feel carrying out
this kind of supervision on the students?

A. I felt really uncomfortable, especially since
I knew what it was like to be a student, and I wanted our
students to actually like Grenville. So, I mean it was my
living. I wanted enrollment to not drop off, so I - I did
not —-- on the other -- ckay so I was uncomfortable. I did not
like seeing kids getting in too —-- into trouble, and I didn't
like having to impose these kinds of rules that were really
intense.

Q. So how did you come to have the various
positions you did at Grenville? Did you apply for each of these
positions?

A. No, the positions at Grenville were entirely
decided by Father Farnsworth and by extension, Mother Betty or
the Mothers Cay and Judy. In fact, growing up, I knew I was
going to be a staff member, but I really wanted to be a teacher.
My parents were teachers, I was a good student. It was the only

thing that I thought I would enjoy, and I'll never forget
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had intercepted the letter, censored it and read it to me, got
in all kinds of trouble. So, I knew to keep my feelings for him
very secret. The following December he gave me a —— a gold ring
with a heart in gold, and I was thrilled but didn't want to tell
anyone. We, by the way, had never even kissed. I hugged him
when he gave me the ring and that was the extent of ever getting
close to him.

So eventually I just couldn't help myself and I
told a good, I - I thought a good friend who was a staff girl,

who also had a crush on a boy, so I thought I could trust her.

She actually married a boy that she had a crush on so —— I

really thought I could trust her but she eventually turned me in

by January and told the deans -- I don't know who she told —--
but I found myself into a —— one of the worst light sessions I
can remember, being stripped apart and —-- by Judy James, and I

think, there was another man there but I don't remember who he
was. And just absolutely shamed and accused of every possible
lustful seductive act that I could possibly have done to -- to
this boy, to reel him in with my lustful ways. I don't remember
everything she said. I was mortified and scared out of my mind.
She made me get the ring and took it. TI've never seen it since,
and then I was immediately put on discipline. I was in so much
trouble that I stayed on discipline for 29 days.

During that time, I was so mortified and so
ashamed and so afraid of going to hell because I kept being
given light sessions by Father Farnsworth, Joan Childs, Judy
James, and they —- not only was I obviously in trouble for
having feelings for this guy, but they wanted to know every sin
I'd ever had thought of, or every sin I'd committed.

They —-- they pressured me so much I felt like I
was a —— being interrogated by the SS, and I finally came up
with the courage to tell them that I had tried shoplifting. I
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A. Diet, discipline and discipleship. So
basically, you were on a diet while you were examining your sin
and attending light groups that were all focused on diets ——
light sessions, light groups, that's the same thing. So, also
while I was there, I —— I —— I got to -- "I got to" -- I had to
sit through endless light sessions.

Q. If we can just go back to before you ended up
at the Community, you spoke of a 29-day discipline. Can you
tell us what that discipline consisted of at Grenville?

A. Yes. I was not allowed to wear the uniform.
I was —— and so I felt ashamed because every single student got
to see that I was in trouble. And being a staff kid, that was
even more kind of curious because we were supposed to be the
best examples in the school. I didn't go to school or classes.
I was taken out of all extra-curricular activities.

I worked primarily in the kitcheh doing very hard
labour. For example, cleaning out grease traps in the -— the —-
the kitchen floor, the dish room floor, or doing pots and pans,
or cleaning out the ovens, or cleaning out the cooler or the
freezer, which you could walk into. I even had to clean the
dumpsters and remove all —-—- to do that I had to remove all the
garbage bags that were in the big industrial dumpsters, throw
them over the side. There was a dead crow —— freaked me out.
And then tried to scrub the crud off the inside of the dumpsters
for a day.

Q. And you said this lasted 29 days?

A. 29 days, until I was shipped off to the
States.

Q. And to your observation, was this type of
discipline the same as other students, or was this special for
staff kids?

A. It was the same, only that I felt worse
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because I ~— I don't know. I -- I saw many -— many students on
discipline for long periods of time. In fact, at the time that
I was in trouble, many students were also being —- getting in
trouble, specifically for relationships. It was kind of like a
big crackdown that year, and anybody who was known to have a
crush on somebody was in -— was disciplined along with me.

There were a lot of us on discipline. I just had to spend, I
think extra time because I was a staff kid and I -— I had higher
expectations on my behaviour.

Q. And so how did you go about making up the
class time that you missed over those 29 days?

A. I never did, because I didn't get to go back
to class. But if I had been on discipline, I just would've had
to —— I mean, I was on discipline other times and you just had
to kind of try to catch up.

Q. I think before we were —— we got into this
discipline, we were talking about extra-curricular activities,
and you mentioned being on a number of sports teams, trying out
for, getting the role in the Gilbert and Sullivan production.
Were there any other extra-curricular activities that you

participated in?

A. There were a few minor ones that I -- I had
opportunities because I was good at certain —— I was good at
certain public speaking events, well, not events. We -- we had

these challenges every year where people in English class had to
present a poem and present a speech, and then teachers would —-
would pick the -— a couple of representatives from each of their
classes to go compete in the school. So, I —— I can remember
being -— competing primarily with poetry recitation, and on a
couple of occasions, I was picked in Grade 12 and 13 to go
represent the school at some public speaking competitions.

Q. And where was that?
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nothing of the sort happened. And I remember, I couldn't -— I
couldn't just say, "No, this didn't happen.” She grilled me and
made me feel incredibly ashamed and dirty even though nothing
had happened. It was -- I don't remember the words she used
again, 'cause she scared me so much, I —— I basically have
blocked her words out.

Q. Okay, thank you. You've spoken a lot about
sins and -- and some rules. You mentioned a dorm search for
cigarettes, for example. What were some of the rules at
Grenville?

A. Some of -- some of the rules?

Q. Mm—hmmn.

A. Well, there was a student handbook which
outlined, very clearly, rules that you needed to follow if you
wanted to stay out of trouble. The obvious would be don't -- no
possession of alcohol or drugs or cigarettes or music or, yeah,
no cheating on tests, no stealing, and no -- and then they had
all the rules about relationships. You were not allowed to have
an exclusive relationship with, a girl-boy relationship, and
there were a lot of -— a lot more than that but that's off the
top of my head, were the written rules.

Q. Okay. And [indiscernible] them, the written
rules were what you had to live by?

A. Oh no, not at -— no, not at Grenville. So,
there were the written rules which they presented during a [sic]
initiation sort of assembly at the beginning of the year. But
there were a lot of unwritten rules that students had to
acclimatize themselves and become aware of. They ranged
anywhere from special clothing restrictions or expectations that
weren't written, to attitudes that you -- you know, you could
get in trouble for having a bad attitude, you could get in

trouble for being rebellious, as it was seen by the -- the
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leaders.
Q. Can you give us an example you said, the

special clothing expectations that were not written?

A. Okay.

Q What's an example of that?

A. Yes.

0 Okay.

A Wow. Well, given that girls were made to

feel ashamed of their bodies, there were a lot of clothing rules
that weren't necessarily in the —- in the student handbook. For
example, bathing suits. It got more and more strict as the 80's
Went on, and by 1987, I believe it was, if you looked in the
handbook, what is in the handbook is not what waé actually
enforced. So, we were expected to wear a bathing suit that was
very supportive, i.e., foam cups, not tco high cut. And then on
top of that, you had to wear a T-shirt and shorts to swim, even
when you were just with the girls. Tﬁey often had "girls only"
swimming. You still had to wear all of those components.

And I -- that reminds me of a light session that
took place at that time. I had never worn a -- a regular
bathing suit because prior to that we had always had to wear
skirt bathing suits, and when they instituted that rule, I was
-~ we were told we had to get a regular bathing suit so it could
go on underneath the t-shirt and shorts. So I was sent on a
clothing —— a bathing suit shopping trip with a junior staff --
or a —— a staff member, Donna Bellasado (ph), and she helped me
find a bathing suit that would support my girls, and that wasn't
easy. And I had never actually tried on a bathing suit in front
of anyone, and I was really ashamed of my body for obvious
reasons, because well, I'll get to that.

/ Anyway, we finally found a bathing suit that it

seemed to work and when I got home, Donna was asked to show the
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bathing suit to Judy James. And they hung ——‘they looked at it
on the hanger and decided it was not appropriate. So I was
pulled into a light session with Judy James, Susan Steinbach,
Donna Bellasado and Joan Childs, where they tore a strip off me
for being rebellious enough to buy a high-cut bathing suit, and
a low-cut bathing suit, and what was I trying to do with my
lustful demon flesh.

And I sit there -- stood there feeling terrified,
and then they made me go put the bathing suit on in the nearby

-bathroom and march back in with nothing but the bathing suit on.

And by the way, I had been brought up to never show more than
shorts and a t-shirt or -- or a skirt bathing suit, so this was
very humiliating. And then they made me bend over, touch my
toes facing them, to see if they could see cleavage, and then
they made me turn around, touch my toes to see how much of my
butt would show. This is all for a bathing suit that I would be
wearing under shorts and under a tank top.

Q. And were those bathing suit restrictions only
applicable to staff children like yourself?

A. No, this was for the students, the regular
students. They hadlto wear —— the girls. And then the boys
also had to wear, that year they had to wear t-shirts. They
were not allowed to wear just trunks, or shorts, bathing suit
shorts, whatever.

Q. You mentioned when we were talking about the
unwritten rules, you said "bad attitudes" was also something
that was part of the rules. So how -— how would those bad
attitudes be determined, by whom, and then how would they be
communicated to students? A

A. I saw more students get in trouble for their
attitudes than I did for actual breaking rules, in my time there

from when, as the elementary student all the way up. It was —-



10

15

20

25

30

Page 183 of 600

643.

M. Granger — in—Ch.
(Ms. Lombardi)

it —— it was like the deans and Farnsworth were kind of sniffing
out anyone who would have even like —— I don't know how they did
it, I mean it was so random and they -- they would target

students and just decide that they had a bad attitude. ‘

It -— it got so bad that there was a time in —
when I was in high -- Grade 12 and I think -- I think it
happened two years but it's unclear. I remember very much in
Grade 12, they —- they instituted a special discipline for those
people who had "collective bad attitudes.” And‘what I mean by
that is, well, first of all, they gave it a special name, called
"Cold Grits." Farnsworth was from the South and he thought that
grits were best served hot and if they were cold, they were
distasteful. And he made these -- these students —-- he —-- they
decided that all these students on Cold Grits and I think it was
about 10 to 15 girls, and when I say "girls," it wasn't just
girls, it was girls and boys, but we were not - we were —- we
had assemblies separately.

And the girls in Cold Grits what I recall, were
chosen because they —— and this is what they said in the

assembly, "They're not breaking the rules, but they're sinning

in their mind. And we know this." And then they would give
examples of how they thought that they were sinning in their
mind, and they stood each one up —-— of them up in the front of
us -— at chapel and yelled at each one in turn.

And then they instituted a discipline that was
specific for this Cold Grits group, and the discipline lasted
for a long time. It was weeks, if not months where they had to
get up early in the morning and do a boot camp kind of
exercising, running the track for the boys, and running inside,
I think, for the girls. They had —-- they had —-- they were not
allowed to go to anywhere in the school without their prefect

who was assigned to each one of them, and they couldn't even go
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between classes without being escorted. They had extra work
jobs to do whenever they were not in class, and they were on
silence discipline. They weren't supposed to be talking to
anyone in the entire time they were on discipline.

And I remember it being so confusing because,
well, by then I was used to all kinds of people being on
discipline, but I just thought in this case, what did they
actually do, you know? It was very —— it was really scary to
watch.

Q. Thank you. So, you mentioned that‘this
happened at a -~ a girls' assembly?

A. The girls that were put on Cold Grits were
publicly shamed and humiliated in front of the girl —-- all the
girls in the school, and the boys had a similar assembly that I
didn't witness.

Q. Were boy—girl assemblies a normal thing that
happened at Grenville?

A. Usually they were mixed, yes, co—ed.

Q0. And were the co—-ed assemblies different than
what you just described as happening at the girl assembly?

A. No, they were —-— it was the same format. You
were brought into usually the -- the chapel, sometimes it
happened in the dining room, and whoever the deans or Farnsworth
wanted to make an example of, or deal with publicly, they would
announce that student, make them stand up, come to the front of
the —-- the church or chapel, or the front of the dining room,
and stand up and then they would yell at the student and —- and
publicly shame them for whatever sins or infractions or both.
And they would often then open it up to the rest of the students
to -— to see if anyone else would like to join in. If you
joined in with the staff who were publicly shaming someone, you

kind of got brownie points with the leaders, and so therefore,
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people learned to —— to join in.

Q. How long would those assemblies usually last?

A. Oh, they were hours and hours. It was —- if
it was a -— a —-— the big full school assemblies would often last
all day. If -- and I remember a few of them lasting more than a

day. And between, let's say if it wasn't finished and we had to
go off to dinner, they would just automatically say, "Everyone's

on silence, there's no talking," and you're on silence until the

" next morning, until it would resume with the next session.

Q. And sorry, that was everyone attending the

assembly?

A. Yes.

Q. How did you feel during these assemblies?

A. They were terrifying. I -- you —-- you did
not want to be called and you did not want to —-- they were
terrifying. It was just -- it was scary, intimidating, and

confusing, but mostly terrifying.

Q. And to your observation, how did other
students respond to these assemblies?

A. People would cry. I could see people looking
with big eyes to each other, trying not to be noticed, trying to
slump in their seats. It —- it was really scary.

Q. How often in any given year would these
assembles occur?

A. They were random, you never knew when they
would happen. I don't think they happened any more than five
times a year, or less than two. I mean, there were always some,
like one in each half of the year type thing. It's kind of how
Farnsworth seemed to establish his authority on the students,
and make sure, and the deans too, and it was kind of like
instill the fear of God in everyone, type thing.

Q0. And when the —-- and when these assemblies
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lasted all day, what would happen to the class time?

A. There would be no class. It would just —--
they'd have to -- teachers would have to catch up the time in
some way.

Q. And you indicated that if the assemblies
carried on past a mealtime, or into another day, everyone would
be put on silence?

A. Yes. I remember many times when the whole
student body was put on silence, and it wasn't just in following

these assemblies, but almost always after these assemblies, -

" there would be a long period of silence, and when I say "long,"

it would be at least a day, maybe more. But I remember
Farnsworth often preaching just from his perch in the dining
room, and he would start in on a topic and have some doctrine
that he wanted everyone to pay attention to, and then he would
say,

"This is so important, I want everyone to be on
silence for at least today and I'll let you know tomorrow."

That kind of thing, like it was -- it was a
regular occurrence, more so than the mass light sessions.

Q. We've talked about prefects and student
leaders a little bit. Can you -- can you tell us how a prefect
or student leader was chosen? '

A. That was tricky, because as a staff kid, it
was one of my goals to become a prefect by Grade 11. I was
hoping, because we were expected to be examples for the students
of excellent behaviour and all of that. But I actually never
managed to get a prefect pin till I was almost graduated, a
month before I graduated.

' But the reason why I mention that is, you could
be following all the rules and still not be chosen as a prefect.

It seemed to me that you had to get on the —— a good side of —-
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crazy.

Q. And so let's talk about, you said your --
your bulimia then. So, how was your bulimia treated side from
these —— I guess these diets and being force fed? Were -- did
you receive any other treatment or care while you were at
Grenville to deal with your bulimia?

A. The only thing I remember is when I was 14 I
—— I was severally anorexic and I had a check-up with Dr. Best
after I'd lost my period for a year, and she just advised me to
start eating more. Other than that everything that I received
as treatments was in the form of a light session accusing me of
sin, whether it be gluttony, or wvanity.

Q. Thank you. Moving onto some of the teachings
that you have received at Grenville as a student, what teachings
did you receive with regard to sexuality?

' A. Oh, that's a lot.

MR. BOGHOSIAN: I didn't hear that word, the last

word in the question.

MS. LOMBARDI: Your question?

THE COURT: I think the answer was that's a lot.

Oh, the last part of the question?

MS. LOMBARDI: The question was, sorry, what were

the —— what teachings did you receive about
sexuality...

MR. BOGHOSIAN: Thank you. That's the word. ..
MS. LOMBARDI: ...at Grenville?

MR. BOGHOSIAN: ...I had missed.

MARGARET GRANGER: Okay. If I can explain it
from the perspective of a teenager. I was taught
that sex was a sin. That to be -— to have
sexuality was a sin. That we were to remain

abstinent until marriage. And anything about our
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bodies was to be —-—- were to be ashamed of our
bodies, because they were —-- if they were sexy in
any way we were to be covering up and doing

anything we could to not provoke lust in a boy.

So, for example, we've talked about the —-- the
dress codes, but there were unwritten rules that
weren't in the —-- the handbook. Where you would
be subjected to —-- what's the word? Inspections,
well especially when we weren't in uniform, we
would have to bend over and touch our toes to
ensure that you couldn't see cleavage, you know"
on our way to —-— out the door on our weekend,
especially prom dresses. The girls had to have
their dresses approved and to bend over, make
sure there was nothing -- no way to see cleavage,
even when you're touching your toes. I even had
to ~— I had a -—- a sew -- a sewing machine, so I
had to alter many dresses for girls, adding in
material on the bodices, or material over the

shoulders.

Girls were shamed for the way they walked. One

of my best friends when we were in light session
she would be pointed out for her seductive walk.
So, you -- you were just made to feel ashamed of

your body, ashamed of sex.

And it got worse, because we were given the
explicit teaching from Father Farnsworth in the
blue lounge dormitory, where at least once, maybe

twice a year he would gather all the girls in the
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Q. And at the sessions that only the staff and
the staff kids were in attendance at, you'd be forced to watch
your parents be berated and humiliated in -- in front of the
entire gathering of staff members?

A. Yes.

Q. And that was a very traumatic experience for
you to watch; wasn't it?

A. Yes.

Q. And you were subjected to staff -- these so
called light sessions at practically every meeting of staff
kids?

A. Can you repeat the question?

Q. You —- there would be meetings once or twice
a week of staff kids only?

A. Yes.

Q. And those meetings would frequently turn into
light sessions for the staff kids?

A. They were light sessions for the staff kids.

Q. All right. And that was for the staff kids
only?

. A. Yes.

Q. And these staff kid meetings that invariably
in turned into light sessions occurred even more over the summer
holidays and Christmas, and spring break?

A. Yés.

' Q. And there was one staff kid only light
session following a staff kid trip to Canada's Wonderland?

A. Yes.

Q. Where you were all —— or a number of-you were
balled out for making a rock and roll video?

A. Yes, we -— we —— you can make those videos at

Canada's Wonderland and two groups of us made a —— try to make a
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music video. Mine was You've Lost That Loving Feeling and the
other one was Beach Boys song. And we thought we would -- it
would fun to record ourselves singing these. We didn't even
know the words, and we got in a terrible light session back at
4Grenville, because we were —— I remember distinctly being told
-that because I was moving my hips to the music beat, that I was
looking like a seductress and a temptress and lustful woman.
And this was all in front of at least 20 kids —-- staff kids,
plus the A-Team and it was extremely humiliating.

Q. All right. And I'm suggesting that that was
only staff kids on that trip?

’ A. Yes.

Q. And there were only staff kids in the ten
minutes of the light session that followed it for making that
rock video; correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And as a staff kid you were exposed to easily
two to three times the number of light sessions that the
non—staff kids were exposed to; is that fair?

A. I would say so, yes.

Q. And you in particular got it even worse than
the other staff kids, because you were deemed to have a bad
attitude or be rebelliocus; true?

A. Yes, I got a lot more targeting and I've come
to understand it wasn't Jjust my attitude, but I was —— I was
targeted because I had natural talent in music and in academics,
and I was definitely the brunt of a lot of —— of light sessions
because of my haughtiness and my desire to do well.

Q. And -—- and you don't think it had anything to
do with breaking a clear rule about no romantic relationships
between the sexes? You don't think it had aﬁything to do with
that?
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that...

In this one...
...didn't happen?

...I don't recall that.
That didn't happen?

Not on this occasion.

P o p o

_ Q. And you weren't that embarrassed about this
single public light session that you recall being through to,
were you?

A. Compared to the other —— other times that I
was in trouble, this one wasn't as embarrassing to me.

Q. It wasn't particularly -- a particularly
devastating episode, was it? |

A. Well, I was used to being in trouble, so if T
got in trouble for looking like I had been disrespectful in
Chuck Farnsworth class, it —— it wasn't as bad as being shamed
and humiliated for my —— my rebellion and when I was just ——
when I couldn't pinpoint why I was being in trouble, or getting
in trouble for -- like I found when I was on discipline for
having a rebellious attitude, or being haughty, I found that to
be more shameful, because I didn't actually break rules, like
when I was put on discipline in grade 6. The only reason I was
told was because I was haughty and had a rebellious attitude and
I found that to be extremely shameful and embarrassing, but in
this case no, I didn't feel as...

Q. You felt it was deserved?

A. I didn't feel it was deserved, but I felt not
quite so devastated by it. '

Q. All right. And you'll agree with me that if
it happened, mocking a teacher and pulling pranks in his class,
to the point that the entire learning environment is disrupted,

is a pretty mean thing to do to the teacher; isn't it?
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Q. And -- and a light session could be as simple
as a talking to, a warning don't do that again; right?

A. No, that would not be a light session.

Q. All right. Am I correct, Ms. Granger that
there was a decided difference between the Haig years and the
Farnsworth years at Grenville?

A. I thought there was, and I'm pretty sure that
I ~—- I have attested to that, because when Father —— let me ——
things were not great under Haig, believe me, but things got
more intense and more bizarre as Farnsworth took the reins and
moved through the years from the early eighties to the late
nineties. Things progressed for the worst -- for the worse.

Q. Well, have you not testified before that the
environment was so much more destructive at the end of the
eighties and into the earlier nineties than in any other period?

A. I think that's what I was just saying.

Q. All right. And you -- you adopt that?

A. Yes.

Q Discipline was far more degrading in the

Farns -- in the =~- that period of time?

o

. From what I observed, yes.

Yet, when you were a staff member for those
nine years, I'm suggesting that you were never told or
instructed to rat out students that you perceived to be sinning
or breaking school rules. You were never explicitly told that?

A. That was part of my job.

Q. You were never explicitly directed or
instructed by those above you to do that, to rat out students
who you perceived to be sinning or breaking school rules?

A. Breaking school rules was one of the —— the

supervisor's job to figure out what was happening all around us
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and as far as sinning goes. I observed a lot of dorm
supervisors correcting girls for their...

Q. But you were never...

A. ...their infractions and so yeah, I
understood that to be pait of my job. I also tried not to do
it, but I -— I understood it to be what I was expected to do.

Q. I —-- you -- you may have had that expectation
or belief, but you were never explicitly instructed or told to
rat out students who you perceived to be sinning or breaking
school rules; correct?

A. I -- I don't agree with that.

Q. And you were always left to your own Jjudgment
regarding what breaches of rules on the part of students you
would report up the chain?

A. Lefé to my own judgment?

Q. Yes. .

A. Well, I don't think that was told to me. If
that -— if I actually used my own judgment, whether or not I was
going to say something, but I don't think we were told it's up
to your judgment. -

Q. All right. And you were never instructed by
Father Farnsworth or any other administrator while you were a
staff member from 1990 to 1998 to humiliate or shame students;
were you?

A. I had just lived for 20 years at the
Grenville Christian College campus, so it was ﬁery clear to me
that shaming students for their perceived wrong doings was
something that was a regular occurrence and that staff were

expected to do.
Q. And I'm suggesting to you that Farnsworth

never instructed you or others in a staff meeting that you were

present at to humiliate or shame students; is that fair?
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Q. And about what time in the day is this in

terms of going to bed?

A, It was late at night. I don't exactly

remember exactly what the hour was offhand.

Q. Okay.
MR. ADAIR:

Sir, I didn't hear the last part of

that answer.
MS. LOMBARDI:

remenmber.
MR. ADAIR:
THE COURT:

He said he doesn't exactly

What?

Can you repeat your answer, please?

ANDREW HALE-BYRNE: Sure. I don't exactly

remember the -- how -- when compline ended we

would —-- when we exactly to bed. I do have all
schedules in files, but I don't have them with

ne.

MS LOMBARDI:
I just want to talk a little bit more now about the

extracurricular activities,

Yes.

No.

| @R © i

choir?

Q. Okay, fair enough. Thank you.

so you said you sang in the choir?

Did you enjoy singing in the choir?

And why didn't you enjoy singing.in the

A. Because it was a regular light session by

Mrs. Cheryl Farnsworth and other members of the staff.
Q. And can you describe what would happen?

A. I'd be yelled at, screamed at for my bad

attitude, not smiling properly. I was told that although my

singing may have sounded good to me, and others, that it was

actually angels in the air that made the singing good and that I

actually perform badly.

SO’

I wasn't even allowed to take
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credit when I performed well. Haughty, arrogant, and it would
—— it could spiral out of control, as you defended yourself. I
learnt that was the way it spiraled. They wanted you to simply
admit that they were right, but certainly when I was new I would
defend myself, and then iﬁ would just get I'm demonic, this is a
—— they would say this a —— a integral ministry of the school.
We sang in the chapel. And so we had to be, you know, good
Christians and I was told I was not. I was told I was demonic,
that I absolutely was not a Christian, even though I told them I
was. And it got very ugly and using hateful names.

Q. And so can you describe for us just a little
bit who is yelling at you in these choir sessions?

A, It was let in the choir -- it was led by
Cheryl Farnsworth, but Charles Farnsworth would often sit in on
these, as did other members of his A-team staff, Daniel
Ordolani. Bunny Ordolani sang in the choir with us, in a
student uniform, as did Mr. MacNeil. And Judy James also wore a
uniform and sang in the choir with us. So, you had staff in the
choir interspersed with the students.

Q. 8o, how did you feel when these sessions

would happen?

A. All the attention ié —-— is on me and I felt
shamed and humiliated. '

Q. Did you stay with the choir to the end of
your time at Grenville or did you quit?

A, I tried to quit, on a number of occasions,
but when I tried to quit, my attitude was, I —— I tried to
explain to Mrs. Farnsworth if you don't want me in your choir,
then I'1ll just leave and I can have —— do something else. But
she said that I was being rebellious and -- and also they had --
it would ~- the choir I think was more popular, logistically,

with —- with the girls, and they just had, I think, a difficult
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breakfast theater at times, that was our dinner theater, it was
our lunch theater.
- Q. And how would he go about denigrating them at
these sessions in the dining room?

A. I mean, there were so habitual and systemic
that they -- at times they all blurred into one, but I remember
one that specifically sticks out in my mind and haunts me to
this day. There was a very nice girl -— pretty girl by the name
of Suzanne Reid, who we had congratulated for going to a
competition outside the school with other schools. She was in
track and field, and I think she did shotput, discus and javelin
throw, and she was proud, she was happy. And we used to have a
massive brunch after chapel.

It was quite a warm day, she was weariné a white
dress and she looked pretty and she was beaming. She —-- she had
these little awards and accolades, and she was happy and Charles
Farnsworth, duriﬁg the brunch after Mass, called her name out
and asked her to stand up, and said you think you're —-— he -says
you're —-— you think you're very proud and haughty and -- and
you've got a big head, and it's not ladylike that you -- you're
such a good athlete. This is what boys are supposed to do.
You'd make a much better man than a woman. And it got out of
hand again and he would just -- he would escalate it and then
say you're ugly and disgusting and -- and she would —-- she

cried. And I was Jjust sitting there at breakfast, looking

around waiting, thinking -- I was Jjust traumatized by it. I was
just —— it -- it was —- it was -— it was deeply upsetting for me
and I can only imagine how upsetting it was -- was for her.

Q. Thank you.
A. And then afterwards, I saw her —— there was a
track behind the boy's dormitory like and then she was —- later

on on discipline, and she was running around with a large bag of
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rocks on her back, whilst she -- whilst staff members screamed
at her, like Judy James, and -- and -- and —-— and it was just
traumatizing to watch.

Q. So, you said there were different types of
light sessions, and this was an example of something that might
happen in the dining room and be...

A. An impromptu light session in the dining
room. And then anocther example would be, what I call, en mass
light sessions that happened in the dining room or the chapel,
where we would be called specifically to the chapel for a en
mass light session and that was —— they were again habitual,
systemic practices. I think maybe a couple times a semester, so
maybe four or four —-- four or five times a year.

Q. And so what were the topics of these
sessions?

A. Well, some had —— usually it was about the
spirit of the school. I mean, there were rules, like don't
steal or —— or the big rules really that they emphasize
(indecipherable) about sex. I mean, sex seemed to be the thing
that Charles Farnsworth was most interested in, but those were
the big ones ~- big taboos, sex. But then there were these ——
what I call, moving targets and I could never sort of pin down,
like attitudinal sins, attitude problems. They would say they
could tell what we were thinking; sinning in our mind, thought
crimes was another word that was used by Charles and his A-Team.
And T didn't really understand those. So, there was a lot of
light sessions that —- that just -- I didn't quite get what ——
what seminal thing triggered it, but there's -- I think the one
that I just —— that stands at my mind the most was there was
actually one, which actually was triggered by actual human
behaviour, someone had actually done something. And that was

when a student by the name of Sarah Jones went into the boy's
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dormitory, which is obviously breaking the rule, and she met her
boyfriend, Dan Shea, and the staff said that they had engaged in
sexual relations.

And so I remember Charles being away for some
time and all of a sudden we were called to the chapel, and I
remember this one, because it was specifically -- it was way
over the top, and he got worse in my second year, so this was in
my -- this second year, in the second half of the year and we
were all called in and we were singing hymns, and Joan Charles
and Gordon Mintz are running up the center aisle making sure
everything's appropriate and everythihg's in place, and this
went on for a while until -- Charles had been away, came in from
the back of the chapel, read out a Bible verse, and then
proceeded to go to the front of the -- the chapel and he
announced very loudly that we had been in the constipation, and
that we were now in the diarrhea. And I had not heard him say
that before and it definitely sticks in my mind.

And there was a girl by the name of Lisa Neshack
(ph) who asked Father Farnsworth what he meant and she was new,
and I remember thinking oh, just be quiet, you're going to get
in trouble. And he said ask Nurse Rossen, and Nurse Rossen said
it's a loosening of the bowels and the staff laughed at her.
And Charles then explained that all the sin of the school would
be released like diarrhea for all to see. And he proceeded to
tell us that Sarah Jones' visits to the boy's dormitory could
have -- he explained that boys could not help themselves with
women, and that women were in charge and responsible for men's
lust, and that there was no such thing as rape, as we know it,
because a\woman just had to look at what she was wearing, and
how she had enticed men. And he said we wouldn't be able to
help ourselves and that this incident could have enveloped into

group sex with boys taking turns on her. And he screamed out
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this could have become a gang rape and he ranted and raved and
screamed and yelled and then we were told the following day that
we would —— we were —— we were now on silence, and the following
day we would be back in the chapel for this session again.

And so we went to bed and then the following
morning we got up, we went to breakfast in silence, and then we
went back to the -— to the chapel, where students -- some
students had been suddenly expelled, like obviously Sarah Jones
and Dan Shea. Other people who knew about it and didn't tell on
them were expelled as well, and other people were stood up in
the chapel in civilian clothes, plain clothes, not their student
uniform and he proceeded to explain how horrible this was. He
laid into the students that were there.

I remember one of them was Brad Mersom. He also
explained that Sarah Jones' roommate in the girl's dormitory,
who knew that she had been —— Jennifer Man was her name, and she
knew that Sarah Jones had been going to the boy's dormitory and
that she held the same scar. That she had fornicated with Dan
Shea, as well, even though she wasn't present because she knew
about it, and did not tell on them. So, she —- she'd committed
that sin, as well and that she was a slut and a whore; just like
Sarah Jones, and those words were used to describe the women not
the men.

And then they laid into Brad Mersom. I remember
he was crying and this went on for a long time. And then we had
a bathroom break, and then we all came back in and we —— he came
-— we obviously had lunch in silence and this carried on, and
then he -- Charles eventually opened it up to the rank and file
students to stand up and to lay into the students who were
already stood up and destroyed by the staff, who had done this.
And I remember people like Meredith Darling, who didn't like

Brad and —— and had an axe to grind -- she stood up and said:
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"Brad Mersom, you think you're an artist, but you're nothing but
a con artist. I think you're disgusting." And people stood up
and say you're disgusting.‘ And it got really, really ugly and I
think a lot of people —— a lot of people actually then stood up
and joined in, because if you didn't, you could potentially be
the next person on the hot seat, so it was to your advantage to
join in, or others like myself who would just sort of sink out,
you know, try to sink down in the chair and duck, and try not to
get noticed and fly under the radar screen.

Someone sitting next to me, Eric Strideman,
reached into his pockets and started chomping on codeine and
self-medicating with that. And it -- it was -—- it was
traumatic. And then other people felt they just had to say
something, so even if they didn't say something attacking the
people standing up, they were just confess things, real or
imagined, and say "Oh, if it wasn't for Grenville, I'd be on the
streets", and it just got absurd. And one girl étood up and
said "My mother almost attempted suicide" and started talking
about that. Like -- it was just —— it —-- it —— it had nothing
to do with what Sarah Jones and Dan Shea had allegedly done.

And -- and then —-— it just -- it developed into this sort of
vortex of, you know, insanity and —— and then we just -- it —-—
it —-— and then the love bomb dropped at the end. The staff
started —— did a total role reversal and tell us how much they
loved us and this had cleansed the school.

And all of a sudden people started hugging each
other, and they had one of the students -~ prefects from the
year book started taking photographs of this. And at the end of
the year there was a photograph montage and there were pictures
of students at the end of this light session hugging each other.
Cindy Charles was —— was in that Light —-- that montage, hugging

another student. And there were no pictures of students being
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just the most important -- important rules of all.
Q. Thank you. You —- you mentioned having to
cut the grass with scissors and rocks —— and pick up rocks.
A. Mm~hmm.

Q. Can you describe for us how it came about
that you were given those disciplines?

A. In a light session, when you're -- you defend
yourself you potentially might not get discipline at the end, if
you simply agree with them. And I did learn to do that, as time
went on, just to —— not have the -— even though I knew it was
untrue. I would just -— and eventually, after being there for a
while I just agreed with them that I was garbage, £f£ilth, trash,
down to hell and that was all I deserved.

But I remember when I first arrived, my very
first discipline that took place, because I didn't know the
school and I how this was supposed to be, and so I —— I had — a
friend of mine was wearing a t-shirt, as my parents had
purchased for me and it was an Iron Maiden rock t—-shirt and the
Bales brothers saw him wearing it in the dormitory. They lived
in the room right next to mine, and they came and said what on
earth are you wearing? And he was getting into trouble.

And so I said —-- actually, I Jjumped forward and
said that's -- that's my t-shirt, so then all of a sudden -- all
of a sudden that transferred onto me and so they took me to the
-— they took me to the boy's locker room of the gym and I was
seated on a bench whilst Bob Bails and Bill Bails proceeded to
light session me. And they were about a foot away from me and
eventually, as this went on, they brought in Don Farnsworth and
eventually Charles Farnsworth and I made the mistake of
defending myself and saying it's not that bad, my parents
purchased this for me. They said my parents were immoral

people, not Christian, evil Liberals, and that I wasn't to be
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like them.

And it just —— as I defended myself —-- sorry,
I've got the cord around my leg —-- Jjust as I -— as I kept
defending myself, it got worse and worse. 1It's a -— they would
attack my appearance —-- they'd say look at the way you're —-—
look at the way you're —- you're -- you're -- you're -— you're
holding yourself. You're holding yourself like a queer. And —-
and -- and I'd say just like my father, you know, I'd invoke my
—— he said and your father loocks like a queer as well. And you
look like a faggot. And it got uglier and uglier and I was just
in a state of shock. My knee jerk reaction was just to say no,
no, this is all wrong. How Christian is this? And -- and it ——
it got way out of hand, and they said —-- I said, look my mother
packed the —-- the -- the shirt in my luggage for me. Your
father, you know should never have allowed her to do that, if he
was a real man, your mother —-— she's —- she's a prostitute. And
it just got absurd, as it went on, as I defended myself. And
you think you're special, they would say, but you're not
special. You're ugly. You';e, you know, you're —— you're
nothing but a pig, and it got totally offensive, and —-- and
these names were used.

And then of course I was then -- then put on
discipline, where I was sent out. This was about a Saturday
morning of the weekend. I think when it first happened, so I'd
already been in civilian clothes and so I was sent out to the
field behind the school and I was made to dig rocks out of the
ground with my bare hands. And they would say we want the rocks
to be this big, not this big, or this big, and so it was a
particular size, which was incredibly aggravating and irritating
and I had to fill up these buckets. And to me it served no
purpose, but it -- so I was doing that, digging rocks out of the

ground with my bare hands.
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And then, bbviously, they would have -- staff
would take turns, you know, as I was doing this, maybe bring me
back in for a light session, stand over me and yell at me. When
they needed a break, they'd bring a prefect or staff appointed
prefect or student leader in this process to work alongside them
in this process and actively participate. And then I would —— I
remember during these —— this weekend, I had to clean out an
infested dumpster behind the school with a toothbrush.

And -- and —— and then of course at night, I had
to sleep in Hotel D, D for discipline, in this room next to the
gym and with one of the —— a staff member or a prefect or a
student leader in the bed opposite —— sometimes they would sit
in the chair. And whilst I was trying to sleep at night, they
would periodically wake me up and ask me to read something, or
vell at me, ask me to read the BCP...

Q. Sorry, what's that?

A. So, sorry the Anglican Book of Common Pfayer
or their student handbook, and then go back to bed and sleep and
—— and then they'd wake me again. And this sort of was how I
was supposed to sleep at night, with these interruptions. And
then the —— I remember during —-- whilst these —-- these light
sessions, I would defend myself saying look, what I have done is
not that bad, this is totally, you know, it's just not that bad.
Other students, I invoked other students to try to deflect the

tension from me...

Q. Yeah.

A. ...have done far worse. And I said Michael
Rellie has a —-— a rock t;shirt with a sacrilegious picture on
it. And I -- I said that -~ at —-— at the time I didn't give his

name, I just said a student has that.' And then I said —— I just
made something up —— I said —— this was actually fabricated. I

said, another student has a box of condoms, because of course
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MS. LOMBARDI: Q. At the beginning of the day,
Mr. Hale-Byrne, you indicated that while you were at Ridge
Field, you were attending special education classes there, with
respect to dyslexia. So my question for you is what -- what
were your grades like at Grenville?

A. They were very poor, horrible.

Q. Okay. And did you seek out any help to
improve your grades?

A. Yes, but also I had extra time and
accommodation, which my parents assured me I would receive for
my learning difficulty. And instead of that I was told that my
dyslexia was the product of unconfessed sin, which invited Satan
into my life to cause that dyslexia. Indeed, I suffered
exorcisms at the hands of Charles Farnsworth to rid me of that
and other such demons. I was also on discipline a lot, and when
I'd be on discipline I would be out of class and then have a
very difficult time trying to catch up when I returned to class.

Q.A Okay, thank you. What teachings or
instructions about sexuality did you receive at GCC, if any?

MR. ADAIR: Could you speak up a little, please?

MS. LOMBARDI: Q. What teachings on sexuality
did you receive at GCC, if any?

A. Charles Farnsworth would wake us up in the
middle of the night, the lights would be turned on, we'd have to
congregate in the boy's common room of the dormitory and he'd
told us that boys had to be very careful, because we -- our lust
was controlled by the females. He said women held an evil power
over men, which came from Eve and the Garden, as a scar of Eve,
the Temptress and that all women were temptresses and that we
were not responsible for anything we did with them of a sexual
nature, and that there was no such thing as rape. He said when

a girl comes to me and tells me such things, I just tell her to
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Q. Well....
A. ...the severity of winter without gloves.
Q. Sir...

THE COURT: Please listen to the question and

answer the question.

A. Sorry.

MR. ADAIR: Q. You were asked about the rock
digging and you .said, the actual incident of digging the rocks.
You never said a word on this occasion about multiple rocks,
digging episodes, did you?-

A. I don't have the full transcript in front of
me, so I don't know exactly what was said in the full
transcript.

Q. All right. ©Now, you agree with me on another
topic in your draft of your book that I placed before you....

A. TIf I can respond - sorry to interrupt. TIf I
can respond to the other one? As I recall in 2008, you were
asking me about my first light session and when I had to dig
rocks the first time, and that was in the autumn and that was
the specific event I was talking about, because it wasn't winter
because it was my first discipline and light session when I did
— when I dug rocks.

Q. Your third light session. One rock digging
is all you every mentioned.

A. There were others.

Q. All right. Now, another thing you did was
you said on your discovery transcript - discovery, that Betty
Farnsworth was a falling doWn drunk, right?

A. I said that's what students called her.

Q. Well, no, sir. You said you saw....

THE COURT: Can we put the actual...

MR. ADAIR: Yeah.
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one, that was the only one we got that was
produced was that very draft which we have here
today.

THE COURT: So, you have the draft and I heard
evidence that there's a book. Do you have a book
as well?

MR. ADAIR: ©No. Well, there's a - apparently
some sort of soft cover book.

THE COURT: So, that - there's a published book
and then there's this which is an unpublished
document by this witness.

MR. ADAIR: Exactly.

THE COURT: All right. All right, thank you.
MR. ADAIR: Okay. Those are all the questions I
have, thank you.

THE COURT: Thank you. Is - is there any
re—examination based on that?

MS. LOMBARDI: No, Your Honour.

THE COURT: I have one question, Mr. Hale-Byrne.
Yesterday you talked - you used the word,
"exorcism."

THE WITNESS: Yes.

THE COURT: I don't know what that means in the
context that you used it. Can you tell me what
you meant by exorcism?

THE WITNESS: Charles Farnsworth would take
students individually and collectively to a small
chapel on the - near his office, it's not the
main chapel. And he would perform an exorcism
for the casting out of demons that were
inhabiting people bodies. And in my case, it was

he was casting out demons which were in my body
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because of unconfessed sin, which invited the
demons into my body to cause the dyslexia. But
they also had group exorcisms with the choir as
well.

THE COURT: And can you explain to me what
happens in order to cast out the demons?

THE WITNESS: He would speak to the demon that
was inside of me not me directly and he would
throw holy water around. He would jump around
the room. He would speak in tongues. It - he
was very emotional. He was yelling at and
screaming at what was inside of me. If he threw
holy water on me and I jumped that would be a
negative reaction to holy water. It was - it was
a lot of drama.

THE COURT: Thank you for clarifying. Are there
any questions arising from my gquestion?

MR. ADAIR: No, Your Honour.

THE COURT: All right. Mr. Hale-Byrne, thank you
very much. You're free to go. And we'll hand
back the various volumes that have not been made
exhibits for references.

MR. ADAIR: Well, they're - they're - Your -
they're clearly not to be filed as exhibits or
anything, but I'm - I'm wondering it may be - may
well be that they'll be referenced to various
things in final argument and I'm wondering if the
Court should...

THE COURT: Oh, all right. Then perhaps we'll
just keep them for reference.

MR. ADAIR: Yeah - yeah.

THE COURT: Madam Registrar will assist me.
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issues?

A. I would just try to help settle people down
and be as nice and encouraging as I could to get to sleep.

Q. Did you report behavioural issues to staff?

A. I had no behavioural issues to report, so no.

Q. So, let's turn the page to start talking
about discipline at Grenville.

A.- Yes.

Q. Let's start with this, were —-- were you ever
disciplined when you were at Grenville?

A. Yes, I was. |

Q. Can you tell us about that, what were you
disciplined for?

A. A few things. I was a teenager. One of the
rules at Grenville would -—- was you weren't allowed to bring
music and of course my first week there I tried to sneak in my
Walkman and listen to my music, but that was not allowed and I
was disciplined for that.

Q. Okay. What was the discipline you received
for that incident?

A. I was given various chores, just like you
regularly would, but in this instance you're not allowed to wear
your uniform, because you're not representing your school,
you're being disciplined. So, I was in regular street clothes.
I would have various chores, sometimes cleaning staff
apartments, various —- vacuuming, cleaning washrooms, that sort
of thing.

Q. And based on our experience was that a
regular form of discipline at Grenville?

A. Yeah —- yeah.

Q. So, on this instance what happened, did you

attend class while you were on discipline?
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morning break.
RECESS
UPON RESUMTING:

MS. MERRITT: Q. Ms. Lowe, I think you were
mentioning earlier there was a fairly strict dress code at
Grenville?

A. Yes.

Q. All right. And particularly for girls rules
were nothing too tight or revealing?

A. Correct.

Q. And was your understanding of the reason for
that was to not be too provocative or inappropriate I think
might be the word you used?

A. That would be my guess.

Q. All right. ©Nothing too casual or modern
either?

A. I don't know about that. No, we were casual.

Q. All right. 1In terms of punishment, am I
right that suspension was a more severe punishment than being
put on discipline at the school?

A. Yes, I believe so.

Q. All right. And there are also rules about no
music. I think you told us you were disciplined...

A. Yes.

0. ...for that. Do you recall Father Farnsworth
saying rock music was the devil's music?

A. He didn't say that to me.

Q. Okay. Do you recall any of the rules being

described as sinful, lying for example?
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A. Well, we weren't supposed to lie. I mean
it's..

Q. And you had to get permission to use the
phone or the phone slips?

A. Yes -— yes,

Q. All right. And I think you told us as well
there were rules about no boy girl relationships; yes?

Yes, correct.

Q. No going steady?

A. Right.

Q. No kissing for sure. You got disciplined for
that.

A. Yes.

Q. Girls were not even allowed to text boys or
vice versa; right?

A. Correct.

Q. There was a six inch rule that required you
to stay about six inches away from boys at all times?

A. That sounds familiar, ves.

Q. All right. So, no holding hands or
anything...

A. Yes.

Q. ...displays of physical affection were
allowed; correct?

A. That's correct, ves.

Q. And you also recall that there was no pairing
off allowed, like one on one, boy and a girl go off alone
together?

A. Not alone, no.

Q. All right. Do you recall that in groups you
were supposed to have uneven numbers, like you know three boys

and two girls if you wanted to be in a group?
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A. No, I don't recall that, no.

Q. Okay. But you do recall that you weren't
allowed to form special relationships, particularly with boys?

A. As far as boyfriend girlfriend, no. We all
had our friend obviously, but boyfriend girlfriend, no.

Q. All right. And you were not even allowed to
use the same stairs as boys; isn't that correct?

A. That's correct, during the school the boys
used one stairwell and the girls used the other stairwell.

Q. Do you remember Mark Bergeron's mother coming
to the school to give you some instructions on sexual matters?

A. I don't recall that, no.

Q. Were you not there when Ms. Bergeron spoke to

the students?

A. I don't recall her speaking to the students.

Q. Okay.

A. So, if I was there I don't recall it.

Q. All right. Okay. That's all right he's
coming next I'1ll...

A. Okay.

Q. ...I'11 ask him that. You told us you were

put on discipline for kissing a boy; right?

A. Correct.

Q. And was that Mark Tele —-- Telemack?

A. Yes, it is.

Q. Okay. And so obviously people found out
about it; right?

A. Obviously, yes.

Q. Yeah. Do you know how?

A. No, I do not know how.

Q. So =-- sgorry Jjust give me a second here.

Would it be fair to say that at Grenville you were required to
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not only follow the rules, but I think you said as prefect to
set an example for others to follow the rules; yes?

A. Yes, correct.

Q. And there was -— if I understand it an honour
code at Grenville that meant that you saw someone do something
wrong and particularly so as a prefect you should speak to them
and tell them to report themselves and if they didn't do that
you were supposed to report on them?

A. I would expect that that would be a role of a
prefect if -—- yes as a leadership, yes.

Q. All right. So, maybe -- did you -— do you
know if somebody saw you or did you tell somebody you kissed the
boy?

A. As I say I don't know how it came out.

Q. Were you stripped of your prefect pin for
kissing the boy?

A. Yes, I would have been if I was a prefect at
that time.

Q. Do you know when it happened, the kissing
incident?

A. I don't know exactly when it happened. It
was 35 years ago, so no I don't know...

Q. Can you give me an approximate...

A ...what time of day or...

Q. ...like what -— how old you might have been?

A I would have been 17. Between 17 and 18. I
would say 17.

Q. All right. And -- and you were suspended and
sent home I think you told us?

A. Yes, I was.

Q. And -- and Mark, do you know what happened to

him?
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A. I doubt he was sent home, he's from Bermuda.
I would expect he was put on detention. I wasn't there I had
gone home.

Q. I see. And when you say put on detention was

it also referred to as being put on discipline or on "D"?

A. Yes.
Q. All right. So, that's the same thing?
A. Yes.
Q. So, that would mean you don't wear the

uniform?

Correct.

If it's a school day you don't go to class?
Correct. v

You do work duties instead of class?
Correct.

And you're watched over by a prefect or staff

SN T I © I T @ B -

member; correct?

A. Most of the time.

Q. All right. And other students are not to be
socializing with you?

A. That's correct.

Q. All right. And my understanding is some of
the evidence we've heard so far, is this -- was usually between
three and five days; is that fair?

I would say that's fair.

All right.

Between two and five I would say, yes.
Two to five, okay.

I would say so, yeah.

ORI oI 2 o)

All right. And now you mentioned in your
testimony you'd never heard of Hotel D. Were you aware that

some students who were put on discipline were required to sleep
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Father Farnsworth talked to you about sin?

A. I would say that's fair, vyes.

Q. All right. And that would happen sometimes
in chapel?

A. Yes, in chapel.

Q. And do you ever recall some of the sessions
going on long enough that you —-- you'd miss the first class of
school?

A. I don't recall that. I'm sure we'd all be
happy if it was, but I don't recall that, sorry.

Q. All right. What kind of sins did Father
Farnsworth talk about?

A. I would say he spoke of sins being lying or
cheating, or breaking any rules at -- these would be sins.

Q. What about being haughty, H-A-U-G-H-T-Y?
Yes.

And rebellious?
Yes.

And having a bad attitude?

DﬁlO?’OID

Yes.

Q. Just a moment, please. Do you recall that
there was a code of honour at Grenville that required kids to
tell on other kids who broke rules?

A. I don't recall a code of honour.

Q. Okay. I'm just going to read something to
you. This is from one of the documents that we've already
marked as an exhibit. There's two things actually. Firstly in
—— in -- Your Honour this is in Exhibit 1, Tab 7, page 3. Oh I
don't need her to read it, it's okay I'm just going to read it

to her. The document says:

Students at Grenville live by an

Page 216 of 600
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honour code, which requires them
to stand up for what is right in
their own lives and to protect
the overall environment in which
they live, by being willing to
require others to meet the same
standards and maintain the

school's spirit.

Yes, that would be fair.
All right. Thank you. And then we have as

Page 217 of 600

well, this is a tape recording‘that Father Farnsworth made after

this lawsuit was commenced and I'm now Your Honour at Exhibit

Book 2, Tab 131,

page 10. Father Farnsworth says:

The code of honour was, if we
had done something wrong we
should go in and report
ourselves. If someone else knew
that somebody had done something
wrong, they would go to the
person and say you know you've
done wrong, it hurt the spirit
of the school, or it could be
dangerous, or hurt somebody
else's property, or something.
We would tell that person to go
report themselves to the dean or
the head master, or someone. If

they did not do that that second
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person would go back to them and
say, I will go with you and we
will report this, and if they
did not it -- just like we would
do in any family with a brother.
If my brother had stolen money
from my mother or father, I
would tell him to go and put it
back and confess. If not I
would go with him to confess.

If not -- sorry, if not that
then I would have to go tell on
him in order to keep the pay —-—

keep order in the place.

things were at

A. That's alls fair. That's just like my own

Q. All right.

A. ...that sounds fair.

MS. MERRITT: Thank you. Those are all my

questions.

THE COURT: Re-—examination?

MR. READ-ELLIS: No, Your Honour.

SWORN

EXAMINATION IN-CHIEF BY MR. BOGHOSIAN:

Q. Marc what is your age?

A. I'm 47.

Q. All right. And what's your date of birth?

Page 218 of 600
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specifically, that rock music is the product of Satan. And so
we were not allowed to have music playing devices, such as
Walkman, which was the fashion in the day. Records, CDs, all
that —— this was forbidden. You weren't allowed to have a
record case.

You weren't allowed to have a cassette and I'll
talk to that later because I was severely punished for the fact
that I accidently brought cassettes to school one —— one time
but that's one of the rules, no music. No speaking of a foreign
language, ever. Not even in the dormitory. And I remember for
the Hong Kong students, we had a lot of students from Hong Kong,
it was so devastating because I mean it took them a long time to
master English. I was lucky I had had a little bit of a base in
Quebec public school so I picked it up pretty quickly. I would
say by October I was —— navigating quite well on my own.

But these students from Hong Kong, some from
Mexico, they were —-- they were quite lost and they would find
every opportunity to congregate in the staff -— in the dorm
rooms and I remember the prefects going "English only. English
only", and they would either separate them or reprimand them.
And the staff did that too. Like "No -- no Chinese. No
Chinese". I remember family night. This was -— this was
enforced even at family night because one year I happened to
have a lot of students from Hong Kong in my family and again,
you know they were just talking to one another and they were
told not to do that.

Let's continue along the rules. You had to wear
your uniform on the bus or train heading out, when you had a
break. You weren't allowed to remove it until you got té your
house. And this is a rule that was broken often and it was
disciplined for often. People would get on the train and then

get out of those clothes. And they ——- you know, there was a
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huge system of rewarding for tattling so whenever these students
did that they were tattled and then got in trouble when they got
back. ©No drinking on breaks. So, you know, like the rules
applied at home. No dating on breaks. And I am saying this
because I remember a couple of students that in, I think it was
Jim Graves and Vanessa Dewaile (ph), I may be wrong, had gotten
together on -—- on a break in Ottawa, I belieye, and —- oh, that
was the scandal of the week when we got back from the break,
that they were put on discipline because they had dated each
other.

Okay, continuing with the rules. Going to the
mall we had to wear our uniform and we were assigned groups. We
were usually in groups of four which usually, if they could,
would include a student leader or a prefect and we weren't
allowed to break out of our groups and we weren't allowed to go
to the book store. Can I make a tangent on the topic of bock
store? Would that be okay? Sorry, I'm like frazzled.

Q. Okay, what would you like to tell us about
book stores?

A. I remember one of the assigned reading for a
senior English was one of the classics by Plato maybe and it had
the statue of David on the cover and the staff had glued black
cardboard and they had glued it on all of the covers of the
books to hide the statue of David before giving the kids the
book for their English, and I remember that was so odd. And I
do remember inside some books, some black marker because the
books —- we had to purchase our books but they purchased the
books for us so they were given to us when they wanted to.
Sorry, that's my tangent on books because I'm going to forget
about it if I don't say it now. More rules.

Q. Were all these rules that you just went over,

were they all sort of written down and known by the students,
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these were the rules of this school?

A. I remember a student handbook. It was blue.
It was stapled on the side. It must have contained thirtyish
pages but I don't have mine anymore. So I couldn't reliably
tell you where these rules were but as a teacher I can tell you,
I'm sure rules were written somewhere but I think some of these
rules were kind of like implicit.

For example, the more girls than boys walking
rule, I don't think that was written anywhere. That was Jjust
kind of like a -- it was passed down from the older generation.
So you know, the seniors would kind of let the younger kids
know, "Don't, don't, don't. You've got two more —— you've got
more boys than girls, you guys. You can't do that", and the
students would enforce the rule among themselves to prevent from
getting in trouble.

Q. You mentioned when you were talking about the
dining room bible sessions...

A. Yes.

Q. ...things like bad behaviours would be talked
about. So was that another way that the expectations were
related to the students?

A. You mean were -- were students who broke some
of those implicit rules penalized during the dining room?

Q. Yes.

A. Yeah, that was a perfect example of that.

For example, Father Farnsworth found out that there was a group
of, you know, four boys and two girls, "You girls are sluts.
This is what you want? Bitches in heat?" He used that
expression frequently. Sorry for the harsh language. You know,
I mean part of his spiel is that girls are temptresses and boys
are too weak to resist girls and that's why that rule existed.

So he would make a —-- he would stand him up. "So that's what
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student leader pin or a prefect pin. And that's the order in
which they were awarded and the prefects had almost staff like
authority over the students. You could see the progression
during the course of a year of certain students working closely
with the staff. You know, being goody two shoes, if you want.
And you could know that they had tattled on a particular student
for whatever crime they had committed. And over time you saw
that those were the students that got rewarded. I, myself,
became a leader at one point and so I did experience briefly,
thank you, that we were asked, you know, who's misbehaving?
What's going on? Let's us know what's going on, we're here to
support you. We want to help you. Let's us know if there's a
problem in your room. If somebody is having a bad attitude you
let us know, we'll take care of it.

So —- and you had to do that if you wanted to
move from leader to prefect because you could lose your student
leader pin, which happened to me, if you didn't continue to
deepen your hole, is I guess What I would call it, by kind of
ostracizing yourself from the rest of the students, but we were
such a small student body that you had no choice but to interact
constantly with student leaders and prefects and students that
were working hard to be on their way to become a student
leader/prefect or vice versa, students who were walking away
from that.

Q. So how did you lose your leader pin?

A. Okay. So in my third year, in 1989/1990, I
—— at the start of the year was made room leader of a grade
eight room. So grade seven and eight were kind of a -- a
special group at the school. They were treated a little bit
differently because they were younger, so they had their own
dorm. Not their own dorm, they had their own room. They

weren't scattered, so you had one older student with five grade
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sevens or grade eights. And maybe they were mixed, I don't
remember. So I, actually, found‘that I loved being a room
leader cause these boys were silly and I'm silly and we, you
know, I found that I just kind of had a bit of a natural
leadership ability that instead of being Napoleonic in making
them clean and behave, I was joking around with them all the
time and I'd be like, "Okay, you know what guys, that's enough.
It's time to go to bed. Let's just turn off the lights", and
they respected me for that so I had one of the best rooms.

We were always the cleanest room and we were very
silly but when it was time to —-— to be quiet -- so that's how I
got my student leader pin. So there was a —-—- a group of us,
this happened frequently —-- well, this happened at least twice a
term, let's say, that in the dining room or in a chapel, Father
Farnsworth would call some students forward and he would give
little spiel about each student and say, "These are your new
student leaders", and applause, applause, applause, applause,
applause and then -- so that's how I got my student leader pin.

And as I said, you know, we had meetings of
leaders and prefects and we —-- we had our own light sessions I
guess you would call them, like sometimes prefects themselves
would get picked on by prefects and some staff and you know
you're not revealing your sin. You're not going to the root of
your sin and you're not confessing and you're not being
truthful, but again I digress on this. So we were, in those
meetings, also told about you know this is coming up.

In October this is coming, we're going to need
your help with cleaning. You're going to take these groups to
the mall and you're going to do this and as I said we were
encouraged, you know, if something's going on you tell us. We
want to know. You don't decide if we should know. You tell us.

We decide that we should know. So I started doing that. I was
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telling on some students, you know, in class I was like, "Guys,
be quiet", and I couldn't —-- I just changed. I went from the
silly boy that I am, that I was, into like -- T just -—- I lost
my focus. Like it's as if I became hypnotized by my leader pin.
It became important to me that people behave. I was —-— I had
like a radar for misbehaviour. I was looking for it. I was
looking for it in my dorm room. I was looking for it elsewhere
in the dorm. And I was looking for it in the dining room.

And then two of my close friends, Meredith
Darling and Katherine Noonan took me outside one day and they
staged what I would describe as an intervention and they said,
"What is wrong with you? You're becoming one of them". And I
remember being very defensive, "No, I'm not, no, I'm not, I'm
still me. I'm still me. It's just you know I like having
responsibility. I like having leadership. I think I'm good at
leadership", and they just brought out examples of me
ostracizing myself from other students by Jjust doing the staff's
job, is one way to describe it.

And I remember this conversation lasting a long
time and then I broke down. They, actually, got to me and I
kind of —-- I realized, like my God, the path I'm on is the path
to become a prefect. I'm going to be that guy that yells at the
kids and that tells them, "You have a repented sin. You're
evil. You're trash. You're going to become homeless. You need
to turn your life to Jesus. You're a faggot. You're disabled".
All the things that prefects did. And the way I was treated too
by the prefects. And so I remember crying. I was very, very
upset. So I -- I told Catherine, who was a closer friend to me,
I told Catherine, "I want you to watch me at supper because I'm
going to do something”.

And at supper I walked up to Father Farnsworth
table and I asked to sit down, and I sat down. I took off my
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pin and I put my pin on the table and I said, "I don't want to
wear this anymore". And I —- like it was very important for me
that Catherine and Meredith see that I'm removing my pin. I'm
—-— I've seen the light. But then as soon as I did that I
realized like holy cow, what have I just done? Like how am I
going to explain this? You know I hadn't thought beyond the
fact that I'm just removing it, I'm going to show my friends I'm
removing it.

So Father Farnsworth was like, "What are you
doing? Why are you taking this off?" I had never seen anybody
giving up a student leader pin. They were too precious, they
gave you privileges. They give you power. And I had to like —-
I don't know if that's an English expression, bets snay (sic), I
had to kind of back skate and kind of like, come up with the
idea that I have too many impure thoughts. I'm too evil. I'm
-— I'm a fake. I don't deserve this pin. I shouldn't be
wearing it. And Father Farnsworth said, "You're not taking off
this pin. You're going to put it on right now and you're going
to pray". And he didn't let me take it off.

But about two weeks later, there was a huge
scandal where a girl had been -- had sex in one —- I don't know
—— the boiler room or the ironing room on the side of the boy's
dorm. Sarah something and I believe the boy was Dan Shay. And
huge scandal. There was a bunch of other students who knew
about it and they were expelled also and we were brought into
the chapel and these kids were already in their D outfit, which

means not allowed to wear the uniform, so just like scrubbing

clothes and they were up on the balcony and —- and Father
Farnsworth —-—- this was like -- it lasted the whole day. It
lasted the whole day. It may even have continued next morning.

Like I just remember this was like forever and ever.

This was like the biggest light session I
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remember because they went through all those students and they
light sessioned them. And then they stripped —-- they toock all
of us and brought us to the front and they stripped all of us of
our pins. Every student leader and every prefect was stripped
cf their pins. He said, you know there's been an evil spirit in
the school. There's been a bad attitude, no one deserves this
and everybody was scrubbed clean. And then, of course, the next
week he started reassigning student leader pins and prefect pins
but only to those that deserved it. And, fortunately, I was
never one of those that was reassigned because I worked at it.

Q. You —-- you said in that example of the whole
day, you called it light sessioned?

A. Yeah.

Q. And you said that they went to the kids
wearing the D clothes and they light sessioned them. Can you —-
can you describe what you mean by light sessioned them?

A. Okay. Okay. I hate the word light sessioned
first of all because I never understood it. Ambushed is a
better word but -—- I mean if the intention was to purify, I
could see why it was called a light session but to actually
answer your question, it was the singling out of a group or a
individual and, basically, breaking them down by just shot,
after shot, after shot, after shot, after shot of things being
said to them and confessions being required of them without
giving a chance to -~ to ponder and to reflect and so this could
take many forms.

Sometimes it was like just literally a staff and
prefect picking on one student. Sometimes it was a group of
staff picking on a group. Or sometimes, as in the example we're
referring to, it was the whole school present and we were
encouraged, "You know, we're doing this for them. We're saving

them. So if you got something to say about you know Dan —— or
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no, Dan had been expelled at this point -- William -— William
Rattleton, 1f you've got something to say about William speak
up. Save your friend. Save your friend. You've got to say.
What's going on? We want to know and William you've got Satan
in your heart, you're evil. You're acting like trash. You're
being defiant. You're being secretive. You're holding back
from turning your life to Jesus. You're refusing Jesus in your
heart", and -- and it would just go on, and on, and on. It
would just break you down completely.

Q. So let's talk a little bit then about -- we
were talking about rules and you talked about these light
sessions so clearly they're students if they're breaking the
rules, they're being brought before the whole school. What were
the other ways that individuals were disciplined? What did you

—- you said wearing D clothes. What were the other aspects...

A. Oh.
Q. ...to discipline?
A. Well, in order of —— from the worse to the

least worst, expulsion was the worst. Then suspension. But the
most frequent and the next one in that spectrum would have been
the process of discipline, being on discipline, is the way the
word was used as a noun. Well, it is a noun. Where you were no
longer allowed to wear the school uniform. You were not allowed
to be spoken to. You were not allowed to speak. You were not
allowed to attend school. You were not allowed to sleep in your
bed. And to replace this whole time you were -- you just did
chores.

You just did chores and you weren't allowed to
speak. The only people that would speak to you were people
assigning you jobs and those staff members, usually in the
kitchen, but not always, they —-- they had a method for assigning

work. Like they were mean about it. They knew. You were on
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discipline, I mean clearly you weren't wearing a uniform because
we wore the uniform from sun up until 10 o'clock at night. So
they —_— they would drop things on purpose. They would give you
a tooth brush to clean a huge pan. They would give you a tooth
brush to sweep the floor. They would give you like something
that looked like a little knife to scrape —-- to scrub the grease
off —- like a huge -- like lasagna, I'm talking a huge pan.

Like they made the work unpleasant. They were monitoring you.
They didn't want you to look at people. They wanted to see if
you were like sharing -- if you dare to share a little smile
with a friend that was somewhere else in the kitchen, oh, that's
it, boom, you got yelled at again.

It could turn into a light session or it would
just be a reprimand. You could have a day added and you never
knew how long you were on discipline for so that was the kind of
a mystery, which added to the discomfort, the terror, I will
say, actually, because the shame of it was huge. I think the
worst part of discipline was the shame because they made sure
you were in plain sight of the other students. Like I said, if
it was in the kitchen they would have you coming out, coming in,
coming out, coming in and the wearing of civilian clothes during
the week when everybody else is in their uniform was like the
Scarlet Letter, if you've read the book. It was —— it was
absolutely the attire of shame.

And you knew you were the talk of the town
because, as I said before, the Grenville Christian College media
was the students gossiping about the students. So -—- and -- and
also, your teachers saw you. It was so humiliating because at
Grenville there were some really mean staff members but a lot of
the teacher teachers tended to be a little on the kinder side.
And those are the ones -- I will speak for myself at least, I

tended to want my teachers to respect me and I worked hard, I
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studied and I tried to, you know, participate in the classes
'cause we had small classes, so if you had a class of three
people that don't speak it was very hard on the teacher so I --
I tried to animate so I really —— it was -- the respect of my
classroom teaches was very important to me. And so to be on
discipline and walking around with the scarlet letter and seeing
them see you was devastating because you knew you'd have to come
back to class and they probably wouldn't ask you about it which
was probably worse than if they did ask you about it and - ah,
just so embarrassing.

Q. So you're alluding to the fact that you
experienced this discipline yourself. Can you give us an
example of one of the times that you were disciplined?

A. I was disciplined three times. Okay, first
time. Well, I don't know 1f you want me to say all the times
but anyway here's the first time. So this is during my first
yvear, sometime in the spring. It was liver for dinner and it
was while I'm at Grenville like it happened once a month let's
say, it was liver and onions. Everybody hated liver and onions,
myself included. It was green on the inside. And I refused to
eat the liver.

And the head of my table, I think it was Mr.
Henderson, insisted you have to eat your liver and I dared to
say no, I'm not going to eat it. I'm not even going to take a
bite out of it. 1I've tasted it before and here it is again, and
I will gladly eat the vegetables, I'll have the potatoes but ——
I'1l have the dessert but I'm not going to eat the liver, it
makes it me want to throw up. So he went to get Jim MacNeil,
who was like one of the supervisors of the boy's dorm, like not
the dean but the like -- there were three men usually per year
that were assistant deans.

S0, Jim MacNeil came and got me and was very
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aggressive about it and brought me to the room that was adjacent

to the —- to the dining room and in came Don Farnswort